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Fortnox in brief
Fortnox is a business enterprise platform that connects people, 

businesses and organisations. We help businesses start, grow 

and develop. With smart technology products and services, as 

well as the ability to connect them with hundreds of external 

partners, Fortnox is a business enterprise hub in Sweden.

Founded in 2001, Fortnox has its headquarters in Växjö and

offices in Malmö, Linköping and Stockholm. Fortnox shares have 

been listed on NGM Nordic SME since 14 May 2007.

Highlights 2021

January
Fortnox applies for a digital business mailbox from the 

Swedish Agency for Digital Government (DIGG).

February
Fortnox acquires Offerta Group AB that becomes a 

separate business area within Fortnox.

March
Fortnox signs a co-operation agreement with AgoyIT and 

simultaneously acquires 30% thereof.

April
Fortnox acquires Grundbulten Lagerbolag AB that 

becomes Fortnox Lagerbolag AB. This means that 

prospective entrepreneurs can easily start companies 

in an automated flow integrated with Fortnox’s other 

products and services.

June
Fortnox automates the path to 'Reorientation Support' 

during the pandemic and helps thousands of businesses. 

Fortnox implements a reporting channel for whistle-

blowers.

August 
Fortnox reaches over 400,000 customers.  

September
Fortnox launches the product suite Accounts closing & 

Tax (Bokslut & Skatt) that creates the prerequisites for a 

seamless flow within accounting leading to changes in the 

accounting industry.

October
Fortnox releases more product innovations with Invoicing 

Mini (Fakturering Mini), Payroll Mini (Lön Mini) as well as 

external apps in Fortnox App Market.

November
Fortnox receives the “Karriärföretag 2022” award, as one of 

one hundred Swedish companies that offer the best career 

and development opportunities for young professionals, 

for the second consecutive year.

December
Fortnox acquires 79% of the fintech company, Capcito 

Finance AB.

2021
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2021 - an incredible journey!

Major steps for a bigger Fortnox
2021 has been a year in which Fortnox invests for the future. 

With major investments in the business behind us and the 

incredible efforts of our fantastic coworkers, we look forward 

to the next  financial year. The steps we have taken over the 

course of the year provide the preconditions that will enable 

Fortnox to really become the platform that makes companies 

even more successful. Never before have there been so many 

new coworkers seeking to join Fortnox. I am very optimistic 

about the future when I see so many people wanting to work 

with us.

Despite all the major investments we have made, we have 

posted a strong result and reached a milestone – over 425,000 

customers. All this thanks to the nearly 600 coworkers who 

now work at Fortnox. Working with them has been one of the 

great privileges as CEO for Fortnox these past two years.

The products that build the future
In 2021, we continued the journey we set out on in 2020. With 

innovative products and solutions and competent coworkers, 

we can help even more entrepreneurs around Sweden become 

even more successful.

Lagerbolag was launched in conjunction with Fortnox’s 

acquisition of the ready-made company business activities 

of Bolagspartner AB in April. With Lagerbolag prospective 

entrepreneurs can easily start a business by purchasing a 

company in an automated  flow integrated with Fortnox’s 

other products and services. A company can be started up 

within the space of two hours, in contrast to the manual 

process that could take several weeks. To date, more than 

4,500 new companies have been created thanks to our service.

During the spring, Fortnox Payment Services (Betalservice) 

was also launched, with which we took an important step 

further into the fintech arena. Payment Services, Fortnox’s 

own payment service, enables the customer to process 

payments directly within the platform which are then 

registered automatically.

An important launch during the autumn was Invoicing 

Mini (Fakturering Mini), a scaled-down version of Fortnox 

Invoicing (Fakturering) in our app. The entrepreneur sends 

the invoice directly in the app via Fortnox Invoice Distribution 

(Fakturaservice) and thereby avoids having to deal with the 

receipt, checking or registering of the payment. This is done at 

the same time as the money is deposited into the own account.

Payroll Mini (Lön Mini) has been extended with a function to 

manage salary payments to several people in the company. 

This means that even entrepreneurs with payrolls can pay 

salaries directly with their mobile phones via the app. With 

Payroll Mini (Lön Mini), the customer only needs to specify the 

amount to be paid, before or after tax, and the day the salary 

should be in the specified account, while technology  fixes the 

rest.

Fortnox has made a real difference for many entrepreneurs. 

'Reorientation Support' was a necessary aid measure during 

the pandemic, but it was diffcult to know and understand if one 

was entitled to it. Our insight changed that. The new service 

Insight Reorientation Support (Insikt Omställningsstöd) has 

been able to provide companies with automated assistance to 

apply for the support grants. In total, there are almost 3,000 

companies that have benefited from the measure and received 

a share of the support totalling over SEK 1 billion.

One of the year’s biggest launches was the product suite 

Accounts closing & Tax (Bokslut & Skatt) which alters the 

preconditions for the accounting industry. Weaving together 

the current accounts with the  financial statements by way of 

an integrated reconciliation, it manages the processing and 

data interpretation of, amongst other things, the tax account.

During the year, we have also undertaken important projects 

for the products’ infrastructure. I am thinking, in particular, of 

the change in IT infrastructure, the switch to a new customer 

and billing system, and to our new platform for payment and

financial services. These are important investments for future 

growth.

CEO comment
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The acquisitions that change Fortnox  
These acquisitions are a natural part of the path that Fortnox

has embarked on, and every company that is now part of 

us contributes something unique. The companies we have 

acquired contribute with new coworkers, products and ideas 

while naturally fitting into the Fortnox Ecosystem.

When we acquired the ready-made company business 

activities from Bp Bolagspartner in Lund, we knew there was 

tremendous potential in offering entrepreneurs ready-made 

companies. Instead of wasting time on time-consuming 

bureaucracy, we offer anyone who wants to start a company 

the opportunity to do so at the click of a button. Fortnox has 

successfully found a way around the problems and inertia 

associated with the processing and handling of such issues 

by the Swedish Companies Registration Office (Bolagsverket). 

Thanks to our ready-made company operation, it is easier 

than ever to start a business today. To date, entrepreneurs 

around the country have created more than 4,500 ready made 

companies.

With Offerta, we have a unique but natural opportunity to 

generate and conduct business directly, thereby offering 

even greater value to both the customer and the consumer. 

By acquiring a large part of the shares in Agoy, we realised 

a comprehensive  financial statements service for our 

customers.

Towards the end of the year, we acquired Capcito as part of 

Fortnox’s growing  fintech investment. Capcito provides us 

with the prerequisites to give more companies access to both 

better credits and more stable cash  flows. The acquisition 

means that we, with the help of the Monto platform and other 

ERP and bank partners, can create a hub for credit rating and 

onboarding of financial services.

Tommy Eklund, CEO

In view of the fact that we are growing at such a fast pace, we 

have also expanded outside Växjö. At the time of writing, we 

have offices from Stockholm to Malmö with Linköping and 

Växjö in between.

Without coworkers, no Fortnox
It is with anticipation, hope and confidence that we look 

forward to next year. But to make that journey that we have 

already taken, we would never have made it without the 

people at Fortnox. Without all the amazing coworkers, we 

could never have accomplished any of this.

The coworkers are the prerequisite for our continued growth. 

Every day, they strive for our ability to offer more customers 

opportunities to be successful entrepreneurs, which in the 

long run also benefits society.

That more people than ever are turning to Fortnox is highly 

creditable while also making greater demands of us. During 

the year, as one of one hundred Swedish companies offering 

the best career and development opportunities for young 

professionals, Fortnox received the award “Karriärföretag 

2022”, for the second consecutive year. Highlighted in the 

justification are Fortnox’s employer branding work, our 

investment in well-being with Wellness Floor, but also 

our company culture that creates commitment among our 

coworkers. The fact that we received the award for the 

second year in a row is proof that the important work we have 

done is generating results.

2021 has been a decisive year in Fortnox’s history that we will 

look back on with pride. Now we look forward to an exciting 

2022!

CEO comment
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A successful future for Fortnox

The story of Fortnox is the story of 

Sweden
2021 has been a fantastic year, despite all the challenges it has 

brought. When I look in the rear-view mirror, it is difficult to be 

other than impressed by Fortnox coworkers and the efforts 

they have made despite restrictions and teleworking.

We have taken the step from accounting software to business 

platform and we have become a natural part of Swedish 

entrepreneurship. It is extremely gratifying to see how that 

position continues to be strengthened.

The acquisitions we made have characterised Fortnox, and 

each company we have acquired has a natural role in our 

growing ecosystem of products and services.

We should be proud of this. After all, the modern Swedish 

success story is about aspirational entrepreneurs and the 

incredible society they build with innovations, jobs and 

prosperity at its core. Many of the entrepreneurs we help 

are involved in shaping the emerging society. And if the 

entrepreneurs are involved in writing future Swedish history, 

then Fortnox is a part of that history!

My vision for Fortnox
Fintech is becoming increasingly important and with our

offering we will be able to take on a bigger role and become 

even more relevant in the sector. The acquisition of Capcito 

was a clear step in that direction.

We know that cash  flow and liquidity are big challenges 

for entrepreneurs and we want to give more visionaries 

the opportunity to succeed. In the future, transparency and 

traceability will be assumed as a matter of course, and at 

Fortnox, financial transactions and processes will be accessible 

and traceable within the same platform. The fact that products 

and services are so intertwined within our business platform will 

benefit both customers and society in general.

Our company portfolio will grow and exactly where the 

boundaries of that ecosystem lie is impossible to foretell. 

The companies we acquire in the future will continue to 

have a natural role in our ecosystem and should be a natural 

development of what we have previously accomplished and be a 

link in the chain for the entrepreneur as a customer.

Sustainability is becoming increasingly important for Fortnox 

and we will continue to work to make our customers more 

sustainable and climate-smart towards their customers. 

Sustainable development benefits everyone and in our 

Sustainability report, we give an even clearer view of what we 

do in this area.

Hopefully the boundaries for Fortnox are somewhere beyond 

Sweden’s national borders.

Strong foundation in difficult times  
Fortnox’s foundation is strong, despite an increasingly

unpredictable world and economy. In 2021, we saw the return 

of inflation. It may be temporary, as well as a change of trend. 

Zero interest rates, or indeed negative interest rates, are 

unlikely to be the normal monetary policy position. Interest 

rates are likely to rise to manage indebtedness.

Chairman's comment
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But it isn’t only the economy that is increasingly volatile. The 

geopolitical situation is becoming increasingly unpredictable 

and the circumstances in Europe are changing every day. 

Whatever happens, we, like others, are affected by the 

security situation on the continent and in the wider world.

Fortnox is well prepared. Our revenues over time safeguard 

us against higher prices and volatile monetary value. The 

pandemic was a litmus test for our economic strength. We 

made it out of that storm and we’re going to make it through 

any other economic surprises that lie ahead of us.

Olof Hallrup, Chairman of the Board

See you again in 2022!
2021 wasn’t without challenges but I am extremely 

impressed with how Fortnox coworkers and customers have 

fared through a trying time. Business travel won’t return 

to what it was before the pandemic, but we will continue 

to have vibrant offices  filled with energetic, exuberant 

coworkers in the future!

In the coming year, I will look forward to informal meetings 

next to the coffee machine that make for creative ideas and 

good cheer.

It is impossible to overestimate the importance of 

spontaneous physical encounters. I include myself among 

many who eagerly anticipate them. See you at the office in 

2022!

Chairman's comment
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Vision, business idea and business model

Vision 
Fortnox’s vision is to enable a prosperous society, shaped 

by thriving businesses.

Business idea
Fortnox is the hub for business enterprise in Sweden and 

we enable businesses to start, grow and develop. Fortnox’s 

technology and platform help businesses and organisations 

achieve their goals.

Fortnox offers products, apps, packages or solutions to create 

smoother flows in areas such as accounting, invoicing,

financing and payrolls.

With smart technical solutions, breadth and depth of 

competence within entrepreneurship and specific industry 

knowledge, Fortnox provides enterprises in all branches with 

better opportunities to conduct their business.

Business model
Fortnox sells its products in two ways: indirect sales via 

accounting  firms and direct sales via fortnox.se. Most of the

sales are digital but some, for example some financial services 

and Offerta, are manual.

With the help of its software platform, Fortnox can offer 

products tailored to customer needs. The customers can 

subscribe to individual products, packages of products or 

solutions. Packages are combinations of different products 

that meet an overall customer demand. Solutions are products 

and services that have been combined to meet a specific 

industry requirement.

Fortnox customers pay for services either via subscription 

or based on usage, so-called transaction-based or lending-

based models. Subscriptions are linked to products and users 

so the customers pay per product and per user. In addition to 

subscription and transaction-based models, Fortnox also

offers a leverage model whereby the customers receive help 

with their cash  flows through factoring, invoice financing and 

corporate lending.

Customers also have the opportunity to integrate or purchase 

software from other suppliers, so-called apps, via the Fortnox 

business platform. Today, Fortnox has around 400 partners 

who offer their applications on the App market.

A switch to a new 
position
During 2021, Fortnox has laid new foundations for its 

strategic branding and also commenced with an update of the 

company’s visual identity.

With this brand strategy, we are establishing a new image 

of Fortnox as the foremost business platform – a hub for 

business enterprise. The switch opens the door to new 

collaborations and makes us more relevant to more people. 

This new stance is evidence that Fortnox is motivated 

by and assumes greater responsibility in enabling more 

entrepreneurs to succeed in their business.

About Fortnox
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Fortnox business platform

Fortnox is a business platform that connects people, enterprises and organisations. With smart technical products and solutions, 

and the opportunity to connect these with hundreds of external parties, Fortnox is a hub for business enterprise in Sweden.

The Fortnox business platform and the ecosystem around 

it, with partners such as accounting  firms, integrators, 

banks and authorities, give Sweden’s entrepreneurs better 

preconditions to conduct their business. The products 

automate many steps in entrepreneurs’ everyday lives 

and empower them with real time control of their business 

activities with data-based insights.

Fortnox products in combination with our open API and 

collaborations with system suppliers, banks and authorities 

enable entrepreneurs to build their own specific solutions. In 

addition to a wide and expandable product offering, Fortnox 

also helps on a daily basis to connect companies with one 

of all the accounting consultants who use Fortnox. With the 

Fortnox business platform, the accounting consultant and the 

entrepreneur can collaborate and share the work between 

themselves.

Based on the entrepreneur’s needs and requirements, we 

have also developed  financial services. Enterprises can thus 

grow at the pace they want - with full control of their liquidity. 

The development of the Fortnox product offering has been 

ongoing since the start in 2001. Today, we have almost 400 

integration partners who within Fortnox’s various offerings 

create industry-specific solutions for different needs, and 

assume ever more responsibility, resulting in ever more 

burgeoning businesses.

Fortnox products can be purchased individually or as an 

appropriate selection including product support. The products 

are divided into different product areas. Within our solution 

areas Företagande and Byrån we also offer packages and 

solutions to our customers.

About Fortnox
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The Product Areas
Fortnox products can be purchased individually or as an appropriate selection including product support. The products are 

divided into different product areas: Accounting (Redovisning), Billing (Ta Betalt), People (Medarbetare), Insights (Insikter), 

Financing (Finansiering), Connect (Integrera), Enable (Verktyg), Offerta and Infrastructure (Infrastruktur).

About Fortnox
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Accounting 
(Redovisning) 
When accounting is done in real time, entrepreneurs and 

accounting consultants have smoother everyday lives with 

better overview and greater control. Connections to other 

systems, authorities and banks provide them with a business 

platform customised to their specific needs.

In 2021, within the area of bank connections, we launched 

a contribution in the form of another bank automatically 

integrated with Fortnox: Länsförsäkringar Bank. This means 

that Fortnox is now connected with the six largest banks in 

Sweden.

Josef Elvby  
Product Area Manager, 
Accounting

To integrate with other pre- or post-systems, authorities and 

banks – and, of course, accounting  firms - is something that 

has long been the focus for Fortnox. While the fact that we 

are now Sweden’s most integrated accounting program is

Billing (Ta betalt) 
Billing for the goods and services sold by a business is crucial 

for the survival of an enterprise. Our task is to help them with 

just that. We want to make it simple to bill. So simple that it’s 

fun.

Over the course of the year, we have developed solutions that 

makes it easier to invoice. We have promoted the possibility 

of invoicing ROT (home repairs, conversion, extension) and 

RUT (home cleaning, maintenance and laundry) tax deductions 

in the mobile app, as well as a function for simplifying 

and accelerating electronic invoicing collaborations with 

customers that has been added to the web version.

Victor Svangård  
Product Area Manager, 
Billing

One of the year’s most important launches was Invoicing Mini (Fakturering Mini), a scaled-down version of Fortnox Invoicing 

(Fakturering) accessible in the Fortnox App. The entrepreneur sends the invoice in the app via Fortnox Invoice Distribution 

(Fakturaservice) which distributes the invoice and also receives, checks and registers the payment. This is done automatically 

at the same time as the money is deposited into the own account. In the event of non-payment, we can smoothly remind the 

enterprise’s customers. The product has no fixed cost, the customer pays per invoice sent.

In 2022, we will focus on making it even easier for the entrepreneur to bill!

something we can be proud of, and it is something we work 

hard to develop further. 

When transactions from the bank come in to Fortnox, they 

must be registered and matched with the accounting records 

they relate to. As a system, we have great opportunities 

to help our customers to execute this automatically. An 

automatic bank connection combined with our function 

Accounting based on Bank Statements (Bokföring från 

kontoutdrag) lays the foundation for administering this 

automation - in real time. We have been working on this 

function for a long while with pilot customers, and it is 

really amazing to see what the technology can accomplish 

as it is gradually made available to an increasing number 

of enterprises whilst, at the same time, we are constantly 

working to further develop both the automation and user 

experience.

During 2021, we reached more than 10 million invoice 

data captures with our new digital data interpretation 

product for supplier invoices. We already had a product 

for invoice data interpretation in the past, but via a third 

party. Gradually during the course of the year, this in-house 

developed product has been released to the entire Fortnox 

customer base, with the result that data interpretation is 

now instantaneous. Hence, another important step is taken 

towards the real-time accounting we work so hard for and 

will give entrepreneurs and accounting consultants insights 

into making the right decisions – a key to success.

About Fortnox
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People 
(Medarbetare) 
Getting paid is fun, but many people  find that payroll 

administration is quite complicated. At the same time, 

everyone - from employer to employee and accounting  firm–

wants it not only to work, but to be right from the start.

Malin Sköld  
Product Area Manager, 
People

We want to help as many enterprises as possible to manage 

all people-related administration smoothly and efficiently. The 

more that can be solved with smart technology and automation, 

the smoother for the entrepreneur. During the course of the 

year, we have launched several new product innovations in 

that direction.

Our new product, Fortnox Travel & Expense  (Kvitto & Utlägg), 

facilitates the presentation of receipts and allows the 

employee to present the receipt smoothly and simply with 

the Fortnox App. The receipt data is registered and captured, 

and if the money is to be paid to the employee, it is dealt 

with automatically via Fortnox Payroll (Lön), or the receipt is 

registered automatically in Fortnox Accounting (Bokföring).

If employees are due travel and mileage allowances, these are 

also managed smoothly in the Fortnox App via Fortnox Travel 

(Resa) that has been launched during the year. Compensation 

for the travel/mileage expenditure is then paid automatically 

via Fortnox Payroll (Lön) to the employee.

Financing 
(Finansiering)
We help customers with one of the biggest challenges 

businesses face - to secure financing to help overcome 

volatile liquidity as well as for growth. With the help of 

Fortnox, enterprises can grow and develop at the pace they 

want. The financing offering is fully integrated with other 

Fortnox programs. In the autumn of 2021, a majority in Capcito 

was acquired as a part of Fortnox’s growing ambition to offer 

entrepreneurs stable cash flows and growing power.

David Dahlgren  
Product Area Manager, 
Financing

In association with the completion of the acquisition, 

we launched a new business loan. This is offered to our 

customers in the app and supports them both during 

expansion and transition. The customer determines the 

amount to be loaned in the application and can adjust the 

maturity while it borrows. The loan offer does not entail 

any administration as the accounting occurs automatically. 

A better offer is made possible with the use of credit data 

created in real time.

With Capcito, we also offer factoring and invoice 

purchasing that contribute to stable, safe cash  flows 

for entrepreneurs. We also offer our Invoice Distribution 

service whereby Fortnox distributes the invoice, reminds 

the debtor and helps to receive payment, while registering 

all transactions automatically. That’s how we make daily 

life with and around financial flows easier!

Fortnox Payroll Mini (Lön Mini) is a product aimed at the small 

enterprise with simple payrolls and was launched in 2020. 

With Fortnox Payroll Mini (Lön Mini), an entrepreneur can 

now manage payrolls in the same simple and convenient way 

directly in the Fortnox app.  

 

Today, the majority of our customers administer their 

company payrolls in Fortnox Payroll (Lön). During the 

year, we continued to work on improving and simplifying 

payroll management. The program has also gained more 

functionality in the form of ByggLÖSEN and automatic 

allocation of outstanding holiday entitlement. ByggLÖSEN 

is a reporting tool for businesses in the building trade that 

is easily managed from the program. By allocating concise 

outstanding holiday entitlement every month directly from 

Fortnox Payroll (Lön), entrepreneurs can rest assured they 

are in control of their enterprises’ personnel costs.

About Fortnox
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Insights (Insikter) 
We help the users keep a watchful eye on their businesses. 

We transform their collected data into valuable insights and 

present them in an accessible format. With our help, users 

do not have to look for tasks to do. Instead, we gather and 

present them in one place as a ‘ToDo list'. At the same time, 

they get a full view of what is happening in their enterprises 

in the form of graphs and key figures in the Lobby.

Per Jacobsson Martin 
Product Area Manager, 
Insights

Many businesses have been seriously affected by the Corona pandemic, experiencing a sharp drop in revenues as a result thereof. 

To support enterprises that have been particularly hard hit, the Swedish State set up a special Reorientation Support scheme. 

During 2021, Fortnox promoted a function that automatically locates businesses that are likely to be eligible for the support 

and draws up the documentation required for the application. The function is called Insight Reorientation Support (Insikt om 

omställningsstöd), and has helped thousands of enterprises to apply for the aid.

The function is a new step in being able to help enterprises with concrete insights and advice on how to run and develop their 

business. Insight Reorientation Support has been particularly necessary as the rules governing the aid have been complicated, 

resulting in fewer applicants than expected. There are many new article reports of accounting  firm customers testifying how

difficult it is to know whether enterprises are eligible to apply for the Reorientation Support or not.

By drawing on our insights, our customers have received over SEK 1 billion in Reorientation Support!

Connect 
(Integrera) 
Openness and co-operation have always been 

important for us. Via Fortnox Marketplace 

(Marknadsplats), entrepreneurs can complement 

their Fortnox products with more than 400 apps and 

build customised solutions for their businesses. At 

Marketplace, one can find anything from simple data 

exporters to full integrations to cash solutions and 

industry systems.

Mikael Lavrell  
Acting Product Area Manager,
Connect

In the autumn, 2021, we launched the new Fortnox Lobby, where the user lands after logging in. This is where information 

gathered about how the business is going is presented in simple, visually appealing graphs together with selected editorial 

content providing tips on how Fortnox can be used to simplify operations and simultaneously inspire more successful 

entrepreneurship. In the Lobby, a 'ToDo list' that provides users with information about what to do next in their daily work is also 

presented, making it unnecessary for them to search for tasks in the relevant programs.

About Fortnox
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Enable (Verktyg) 
The largest addition to the product area during 2021 has been 

that we can now offer ready-made companies, following the 

acquisition of the ready-made company business activities 

from Bp Bolagspartner. Instead of  floundering in unnecessary 

and time-consuming bureaucracy, anyone who wants to 

start a company can do so in a smooth digital  flow and with 

full support from us. Ready-made companies are completely 

unused companies that already exist and held in stock. Instead 

of registering a new company that needs to be processed 

and handled by the Swedish Companies Registration Office 

(Bolagsverket), one can buy a new company via Fortnox. Since the 

launch, we have helped thousands of entrepreneurs set up joint-

stock companies every quarter.

Svante Erwing  
Product Area Manager, 
Enable

Infrastructure (Infrastruktur) 
The product area Infrastructure (Infrastruktur) enables Fortnox

business operations by taking responsibility for the company’s

support systems and platform products. We give other business

areas the space and opportunity to focus on their assignments

while we stand behind them and support common interests in

efficient, effective and cost-optimised ways. The business area is

the guarantor for Fortnox’s continued growth.

During 2021, Infrastructure invested in, amongst others, the development of a new platform managing Fortnox dealers, that 

further ensures the quality and streamlines the business area appreciably. Work with a new public website has proceeded 

vigorously with the launch planned for Q1 2022. We have also launched a major initiative aimed at co-ordinating the Group’s 

design capabilities. A common design system, platform and support system for all product designers within the company is the 

goal. Projects to strengthen the Group’s capacity to work with business intelligence and data-driven approach as a result of the 

introduction of a central data warehouse have also begun.

Finally, it should be mentioned that the migration to a new platform for subscription management has gone well with the result 

that now only a few customers with special agreements still remain. This opens up completely new ways for Fortnox to offer 

new and existing customers more powerful offers.

Robert Karlsson 
Product Area Manager, 
Infrastructure
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Offerta 
Today, Offerta is Sweden’s foremost marketplace for services 

with a focus on removal, construction and cleaning work 

assignments. 2021 has been a tremendously eventful year 

for Offerta after it became a fully-owned part of Fortnox in 

March. A considerable amount of our time has been devoted to 

integrating with Fortnox in order to scale up the synergistic

effects of the acquisition.

Mikael Lavrell  
Acting Product Area 
Manager,
Offerta

The year has been partly characterised by the pandemic as 

consumers have focused on and invested in their homes. The 

service companies have had a lot to do and had difficulty 

responding to the increased demand for their services. 

During the year we set a new record posting a 13% year-on-

year increase in consumer enquiries. The most popular work 

assignments are  final cleaning, home cleaning, bathroom 

renovation and removal services.
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Solution Areas
Within our solutions areas, Företagande and Byrån, we also offer packages and solutions to our customers. A package 

consists of several products combined in one package with a special price offer including product support, whereas our 

solutions are a combination of products and support for the complete solution, for a specific industry.

Företagande 
During the year, the Fortnox business area Företagande 

developed a new and simpler interface in the Company 

Manager (Bolagshanteraren). ‘ToDo lists' for both 

customer and supplier invoices in the Company Manager 

(Bolagshanteraren) have also helped entrepreneurs in many 

ways. With straightforward lists of which specific invoices 

need to be dealt with, the entrepreneur gets a good overview.

Edvin Liden  
Solutions Area Manager, 
Företagande

The focus for 2021 has also been on developing a solution specifically aimed at craftsmen. Today, Fortnox has almost a 

third of all Sweden’s craftsmen as customers, but many of these have not taken the step to work digitally. With Fortnox’s 

new tailor-made solution, it becomes easier and smoother to manage companies within construction and craft industries.

With our functions and products, it becomes easier and smoother to run a business, no matter which industry you work in.

About Fortnox
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Byrån 
We don’t have the privilege of launching a new product every 

year, but 2021 was such a year. The business area Byrån 

launched Accounts closing & Tax (Bokslut & Skatt) and can at last 

tell customers that we now have everything you need for your 

agency. Since its launch, we have talked a lot about how we are 

fundamentally changing accounting – and that is a matter of fact:

To be able to gather everything within the same platform has 

long been a dream of many. Now it is a reality. Within Accounts 

closing & Tax (Bokslut & Skatt) is the market’s smartest solution 

for reconciliation and reporting – so enabling consultants to take 

their advice to a new level. And the software in Accounts closing 

& Tax (Bokslut & Skatt) is constantly evolving because everyone 

who uses it gets to be involved in influencing the functionality of 

the future. So when we say that our latest innovation is created 

by the industry for the industry, we mean it.

And speaking of involving customers in the development process 

– this is the way we have always worked. That the customers are 

satisfied with the functionality, user-friendliness and interface is 

important for us. By listening to and taking their ideas further, we 

develop our business platform together.

Kristian Elmefall 
Solutions Area Manager, 
Byrån
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Business areas

The Fortnox organisation is divided into six business areas: Firman, Entreprenören, Pengar, Offerta, Företagande and Byrån. 

These business areas constitute the uppermost units within the Fortnox organisation. They have their own departments for 

the functions product, support, development and sales & marketing.
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Firman – Safe, supportive and scalable

"Our role is to be the Group’s cohesive link where our aim is to enable and 
support all the business areas in their expansive business plans."

Johan Lundgren

Firman works group-wide within the areas 

Communication, Legal, HR, Workplace, Economy, 

IT and Operations, Business Planning & Control, 

as well as the product area Infrastructure and, by 

way thereof, supports the business areas in their 

business plans and contributes to making them 

possible. Firman is represented at the Fortnox 

offices in Malmö, Växjö, Linköping and Stockholm.

Firman works group-wide and contributes with specialist 

competence within the areas: Communication, Legal, HR, 

Workplace, Economy, IT and Operations, Business Planning 

& Control, as well as development in the product area 

Infrastructure. Our role is to be the cohesive link where our 

aim is to enable and support all the business areas in their 

expansive business plans. We also assist in the integration 

of any acquisitions. We guide, support and challenge the 

organisation to achieve overall business objectives. When 

necessary, we assess and control to meet legal obligations 

and group-wide principles.

We are experts in what we do and enjoy challenging truths 

to assist the business with a forward-looking competence. 

Firman’s is objective and priorities what is best in the larger 

perspective. Value creation in relation to cost is important, and 

we contribute with good scalability by working with efficient 

teams and smart tools.

During the year, the provision of skills has been a challenge, as 

we have grown by leaps and bounds. This was a big test for HR 

that passed with flying colours!

Looking ahead, we will continue to strengthen our brand 

further to continue to attract the very best 'tech talents', while 

ensuring that the experience for our coworkers is world-class. 

Proof that we are doing this was Fortnox receiving the award 

“Karriärföretag 2022” - for the second consecutive year.

We have made major investments in IT & Operations as well 

as our product area Infrastructure. Operations have been 

successfully transferred to a new platform which provides 

benefits such as good operational stability and safety for our 

customers as well as simplified release management for all 

our development teams. Within Infrastructure - where we, 

amongst other things, handle all subscriptions, onboarding, 

data and analysis, self-help – we have migrated virtually 

all our subscriptions to a new platform that gives us good 

prerequisites for the future. One of the benefits the platform 

gives Fortnox is good  exibility for our offering in the form 

of campaign management, discounts, packages and more 

besides. It also enables more efficient management of acquired 

companies where we, amongst other things, will integrate 

Offerta into the platform to realise scale benefits in the form 

of a shared customer base and lower development costs 

linked to new initiatives.

Today, we have over 100 coworkers in Firman, and we look 

forward to the challenges that come with our growth and 

ambitious business plan. We will continue to invest to ensure 

Firman is the safe and supportive competence platform it is 

supposed to be in our journey to new heights.

Johan Lundgren 
Business Area Manager,  
Firman
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Entreprenören - The next generation's products

Entreprenören develops, supports and conducts digital up-selling within six of the Fortnox product areas. The 

focus is on using automation and digitisation to the benefit of entrepreneurs. Working within the business 

area are everything from developers and testers to product owners, product designers and support personnel. 

Enteprenören is represented at all of the Fortnox offices with focus on Växjö.

Entreprenören is responsible for product development, 

support and digital up-selling for six of the Fortnox product 

areas. We are 200 coworkers who have, during the year, 

strengthened the product, development, and support 

organisations with 50 new coworkers.

Over the course of the year, we have implemented four product 

launches where we have introduced new and improved 

products and functions across all product areas.

Our next generation product suite with Payroll Mini (Lön

Mini), Invoicing Mini (Fakturering Mini), Accounting based on 

Bank Statements (Bokföring från kontoutdrag), Resa (Travel), 

and Travel & Expense (Kvitto & Utlägg) have been launched. 

The suite has the same strong and competent Fortnox engine 

under the hood but is characterised by a simple and easy-to-

use interface in the mobile app and on the website.

We have replaced an external provider of supplier invoice 

data interpretation services with our own in-house developed 

alternative. Together with going from a lead time of up to 24 

hours to a couple of seconds for invoice data to be captured, 

we can also provide the user with an AI-based accounting 

proposal. As a result of the changes, our customers show 

an increased efficiency and interest automated accounting 

and, internally at Entreprenören, it is reflected in the form of 

increased scalability in the business due to a reduced share of 

purchased services.

"In total, we are talking about 
nearly 3,000 companies that 
have benefited and received 
a share of over SEK 1 billion in 
support grants. Our insights have 
made a real difference for many 
entrepreneurs!"

Jesper Svensson

Jesper Svensson 
Business Area Manager,
Enteprenören

We give app developers the opportunity to not only publish 

their apps on the App market, but also sell them inside Fortnox. 

We take care of order management and invoicing, while the app 

developers focus on building smart solutions for the future in 

the Fortnox ecosystem.

Our insight team delivered important insights into state 

Reorientation Support to Fortnox customers which resulted in 

outpayments to companies totalling over SEK 1 billion. This is 

an incredibly good example of how we can help our customers 

using their own data!

In total, nearly 3,000 companies have benefited from over one 

billion Swedish crowns in support grants. The Fortnox function 

has made a real difference for many entrepreneurs!

We have also developed a number of new products that we 

plan to launch in 2022, so it is with a great deal of energy and a 

proud result that we enter the new year!
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Pengar - We arrange money for business enterprises

The business area, Pengar, focuses on developing  financial services for Sweden’s entrepreneurs. Fortnox 

wants to be the solution for businesses’  financing in the years to come. One of the biggest challenges today 

for entrepreneurs is to optimise cash flows and secure financing for growth. Also within the business area 

is Capcito, 79% of which Fortnox acquired in 2021 and is a part of Fortnox’s growing investment in Financial 

Technology ( fintech). Pengar has a credit department and is represented at the Fortnox offices in Malmö, Växjö, 

Linköping and Stockholm.

Business area Pengar is responsible for product development, 

support and digital up-selling of the product area Financing 

(Finansiering). We also have an important credit department 

that works with our products Factoring (Fakturaköp), 

Invoice financing (Fakturabelåning) and Corporate Lending 

(Företagslån). At the time of writing, we are 110 coworkers 

and are represented at the Fortnox offices in Malmö, Växjö, 

Linköping and Stockholm. For us it has been an eventful year. 

The switch to a new  financial system has been the focus. 

The new platform provides completely new opportunities 

for  flexibility and choice for the customer, and is scalable 

and future-proof. Our Payment Services (Betalservice) 

was launched at the start of 2021, giving customers the 

opportunity to pay supplier invoices directly in the Fortnox 

App. 

There has been high pressure on our product Factoring 

(Fakturaköp) during the course of the year and many more 

Fortnox customers have discovered the possibility of smooth 

and simple business financing via Fortnox.

“As CEO of Capcito and, since the 
end of the year, Business Area 
Manager of Pengar, I see Capcito’s 
company culture and vision of 
helping entrepreneurs align well 
with Fortnox’s vision of a society 
shaped by thriving businesses.”

Michael Hansen

Michael Hansen 
Business Area Manager, 
Pengar

The year ended with the acquisition of Capcito, that is an 

important part of Fortnox’s growing investment in fintech. 

The acquisition means that Fortnox together with the 

platform Monto and other ERP and bank partners, can create 

a hub for credit rating and onboarding of financial services. 

This gives more companies across Sweden access to better 

credit and cash flows!

As CEO of Capcito and, since the end of the year, Business 

Area Manager of Pengar, I see Capcito’s company culture and 

vision of helping entrepreneurs align well with Fortnox’s 

vision of a society shaped by thriving businesses. In 2022, we 

look forward to reaping the rewards of the acquisition that 

fundamentally changes Fortnox’s  financial offering.
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Företagande - Giving business enterprises the opportunities

The business area Företagande is responsible for the sales and marketing of Entreprenören’s and Pengar’s 

offerings to businesses which are not accounting  firms or clients thereof. Företagande is responsible for the 

relationship with their customers and focuses on tailoring solutions to all small and medium-sized enterprises 

in Sweden. Within Företagande, industry-specific solutions are developed for defined customer groups. 

Företagande is represented at the Fortnox offices in Växjö and Malmö.

The year has continued to be characterised by the pandemic 

and its effects. For this reason, during the course of the year, 

we placed particular focus on start-ups by, amongst other 

things, offering them one of our packages for free for the

first six months. The offer has been successful and we can 

see a significant increase in start-ups as customers.

Last year’s fine traffic statistics continued during 2021 and 

we were once again named as winners of the SEO award in 

our category. In other words, the strategic work of creating 

a platform for Sweden’s entrepreneurs to gather know-how 

and inspiration continues to bear fruit.

During the year, we also launched a completely new welcome  

flow for our new customers with the aim of getting them to 

better understand what the entire Fortnox business platform 

can offer. We have also started a number of completely new 

MA  flows for our existing customers, so that they get the 

relevant information about and the opportunity to test more 

of our products.

At the end of the year, we launched our  first solution aimed 

at craftsmen. Solutions for specific industries are something 

we want to do more of as we see that it is something our 

customers increasingly demand.

"Based on accessible customer 
insights, we chose to revise all 
three packages. Not a lot of time 
has passed since then, but from 
what we can see so far, customers 
have taken to the new packages 
well."

Ola Bergqvist

Ola Bergqvist 
Business Area Manager, 
Företagande

The craftsmen solution includes the product Personal Support 

which means that a customer is assigned its own support 

coworker who can be contacted whenever the customer 

wishes. Customers who have already chosen to try the product 

are more than satisfied!

We have worked in a structured way to better understand why 

a customer chooses to leave us and also commenced with 

retention initiatives based on that data.

A major innovation was that we changed our packages during 

Q4 2021. Based on the accessible customer insights, we chose 

to revise all three packages. Not a lot of time has passed since 

then, but from what we can see so far, customers have taken to 

the new packages well.

The development team have worked hard to constantly 

improve our checkout and as a part of that we went live with a 

new version where it is now possible to add more products in 

the checkout.
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Byrån - We continue to fundamentally change accounting

Byrån is the business area responsible for the sales and marketing of Entreprenören’s and Pengar’s offerings 

to accounting firms and their clients. We are responsible for the relationship with accounting firms and their 

customers and creating the preconditions for successful agencies and enterprises through, amongst other 

things, industry-specific solutions for accounting firms that are developed within the business area. Byrån is 

represented at the Fortnox offices in Växjö and Malmö.

The year’s major agency innovation is undoubtedly Fortnox 

Accounts closing & Tax (Bokslut & Skatt). At last, agencies 

can manage everything in Fortnox. From current accounts, 

reconciliation,  financial statements and monthly letters to 

annual accounts and tax.

It is also the market’s smartest solution for reconciliation 

and reporting, created by consultants who understand how 

the industry works. For the country’s agencies this means 

that they can now, together with many of the other exciting 

acquisitions we made during the year, take collaboration with 

their customers to the next level.

Another new innovation during the year is Fortnox Digital 

PT – where dedicated experts help agencies trim and and 

automate key work processes aimed at improving their 

consultation. A digital kickstart that all of our customers have 

the opportunity to make use of.

“The best thing about 2021 
was that we were  finally able 
to complete our offering to 
our agencies and, during the 
autumn, could meet our fantastic 
customers again.”

Camilla Skoog

Camilla Skoog  
Business Area Manager, 
Byrån

During 2021, the pandemic had a daily impact. Both we 

and our customers are now used to switching to digital 

alternatives. Our digital events and training have had many 

participants and received great reviews. We are happy about 

that.

When things  finally lifted during the autumn, it was fantastic 

to  finally get to meet “for real”. We also enjoyed meeting so 

many inspiring agencies and consultants at the ’Ekonomi & 

Företag’ fair. It was there we launched another new major 

industry innovation – Fortnox Masterclass, a collaboration 

with Shane Lukas and British business development 

company, AVN.
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Offerta – The leadning marketplace for services

Offerta develops, manages, supports and sells service intermediation services and products. Within the 

business area, products and solutions are developed that simplify the meeting between service companies 

and consumers. Offerta is responsible for two of the company’s product areas, Offerta and Connect (Integrera). 

Offerta is represented at the Fortnox offices in Växjö and Stockholm.

Today, Offerta is Sweden’s leading marketplace for services 

with a focus on removal, construction and cleaning work 

assignments. It has been a tremendously eventful year for 

Offerta after it became a fully-owned part of Fortnox in 

March. A considerable amount of our time has been devoted 

to integrating with Fortnox in order to scale up the synergistic 

effects of the acquisition.

The year has been partly characterised by the pandemic as 

consumers have focused on and invested in their homes. 

Service companies have had a lot to do and had diffculty 

responding to the increased demand for their services. During 

the year we set a new record in consumer enquiries recording 

a 13% increase on the previous year. The most popular work 

assignments are  final cleaning, home cleaning, bathroom 

renovation and removal services.

"Service companies, having 
had a lot to do, had difficulty 
responding to the increased 
demand for their services. During 
the year we set a new record in 
consumer enquiries recording 
a 13% increase on the previous 
year."

Anna Bergius

Anna Bergius  
Business Area Manager,
Offerta 

We have also had an eventful year at Offerta’s development 

department where we commenced integration with Fortnox 

and came a long way in terms of systems and tools that we 

use throughout the whole Group. There have also been major 

changes for Offerta’s products. Most notable are the new 

sales system/CRM system and the decommissioning of its 

predecessor.

This will give us better opportunities in the future and we can 

now focus more of our time on our users and customers. With 

hopeful anticipation, we look forward to 2022!
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Focus groups – creating a holistic approach
The focus groups hold the work of Fortnox together. They bring together all the functions that exist within our business areas: 

Product & Solution, Development, Support, Sales & Marketing and Business Support. In this way, we create a holistic approach 

and make joint decisions. While each business area can work independently, we constantly keep the company together, via our 

focus groups, in one Fortnox.

Focus group Product & Solution
In the focus group Product & Solution we bring together product area managers 

from across the whole organisation in a group to gain good insight and consensus 

in all product investments that are made. In this way, we can ensure that we are 

always doing the right things, now and with our next steps on the journey of 

growth.

The focus group works with determining the processes we use with regard 

to product development and how we set the objectives and metrics for them. 

Amongst other things, this means how we work together throughout the whole 

company to develop a product from idea to realisation.

The focus group also defines the roles that work with our products and solutions 

to ensure they meet the needs of the market. Looking forward, we plan to work 

more with co-ordinated product launches – always with the customer benefit in 

focus.

Svante Erwing  

Product Area Manager  

Enable (Verktyg),  

Entreprentören

Focus group Development
In the focus group Development, we work together as heads of the development 

departments to attain Fortnox’s goals and vision. To enable Fortnox to grow as 

much as we plan in the coming years, focus group Development has worked 

on issues related to roles, working methods and processes. This is about how 

we should be organised within the development departments, how we should 

build teams and how we should recruit to succeed. We work with the strategic 

perspective in development which means, for example, that we set up strategies 

for which technical platforms we should have, so that they do not become 

outdated, and which skills we will need in the future

We identify the areas where development needs to improve and how we 

achieve it. We discuss what tools we need and how we work with competence 

development. Our coworkers are extremely important to us. If you feel good, you 

do a good job. Looking ahead, we will focus a lot on understanding our users to 

increase their use of our products. We will become even better at gaining insights 

about the use of our products, to know that we devote our time to the right things 

for our users and customers.

Magdalena Hallbrandt 

Head of Development

                     Firman

About Fortnox

26
The report is a translation of the original Swedish report. In the event of a discrepancy between this translation and the Swedish original, the Swedish reports take precedence. 



Focus group Sales & Marketing
Within the focus group Sales & Marketing we head up the sales and marketing 

departments at Fortnox. We work together to make joint decisions about processes, 

goals and activities. We analyse the market to constantly talk to the relevant target 

groups and we package and price our offerings. We keep an ear to ground to know how 

existing and prospective customers perceive our communication about the products and 

how they embrace the information. Of course, we also want to know if there are things 

that customers are not satisfied with and why.

What is so much fun about this forum is that we need to reason our way to our common 

understanding of what is right for the company and the customers. This creates a sense 

of belonging that characterises both results and ourselves as individuals. Everyone 

contributes with long experience and different perspectives and often we do not agree 

from the beginning. We won’t be satisfied until the discussion is over. This is why our 

decisions and work are so good! There’s so much we can give each other between the

different departments.

We are involved in the company’s various business cases, and ensure that the sales and 

marketing perspective is taken into account from the start. Through the focus group, we 

can ensure that the central thread is included from the conception of a new product or 

solution to a satisfactory outcome for the customer.

Focus group Business Support
Within the focus group Business Support, coworkers work with defining and 

developing cross-functional processes and metrics between business areas linked to 

coworkers, work environment, IT,  finance, communication, law, safety, measurements, 

improvements, compliance and reporting.

Sofia Holmqvist  

     Head of Sales & Marketing            

Focus group Support
In the focus group Support, we lead the work within our support departments. In 

each business area, the relevant support department works with a different focus: 

everythingfrom subscription and contractual issues to direct support and education 

within ourvarious programs and products. Via our self-service system, users can find 

answers to their questions in pictures, text and instructional films. If they wish, they can 

alternatively get help from one of our live agents and relay their questions by phone, 

chat or email. If they need more instructive assistance, for example to get started with a 

specific program function, our consultants are available to help.

The focus group’s responsibility is to co-ordinate all support resources at Fortnox and 

ensure that our users receive the best possible service. We ensure that all support staff 

follow the same work procedures and work towards the same goals. We work with the 

monitoring and strategic development of the support operations.

The main task for everyone who works with support is to support the user to optimise 

the work in the program. We want them to be able to work as smartly as possible and 

thereby help them to be more successful!

Anna Eriksson

                Head of Support 

          Byrån
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Building for new needs is important for 
Max Martin Construction

Martin Sjöberg and his colleagues started their business 

with renovations at Max Martin Construction in 2014. 

They chose to use Fortnox from the outset - a very good 

program that could be built on gradually as and when new 

needs arose. It is important for Martin that it is possible to 

integrate with other systems.

Martin started Max Martin Construction AB in 2014 together 

with his friend and colleague, Max. The company helps 

private individuals with major renovations such as kitchens, 

bathrooms and total renovations of apartments. There is a lot 

of focus on project management and control, and they require 

modern, integrated systems that are accessible, reliable 

and easy to use. For example, they use Bygglet as a project 

management system. Great that it’s integrated with Fortnox!

Offerta enables proactivity
During the course of the journey, Martin and his colleague 

saw the need to be able to be more active in their pursuit 

of customers. Even if a reputation is built up over time that 

generates enquiries, the in ow of work can be uneven. They 

started using Offerta to get the opportunity to be both 

proactive and to put out more quotations to new customers to 

improve control of the inflow. It is an important complement 

for the company’s inflow of jobs:

- We keep track of our hit rate in Offerta and know that if we 

send so many quotes it will result in so many jobs – that’s 

good. Then we’re in control, says Martin.

Entrepreneurs want to tailor to their 

own needs
In 2021, entrepreneurs wanted the opportunity to tailor the 

combination of systems and solutions they need, believes 

Martin:

- There are so many functions today that you need, not least 

for us in the construction industry. This means that we require 

systems that can offer various additional services and be built 

on with modules, such as Fortnox Payroll (Lön), for example. 

It’s good that everything isn’t included, but that you can 

choose modules to adapt the systems you have and be able to 

integrate with different systems.

As the number of practical integrations continues to grow, 

so too does the entrepreneurs’ ability to make their own 

adaptations.

Our primary customer groups are small and middle-sized enterprises, as well as accounting firms. Our 
customers can be found in almost all of Sweden’s industries and sectors. Meet some of our Fortnox 
customers.
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More automation adds value for 
Fyrklövern

The efficient digital flow with Fortnox Payroll (Lön) and

the connection to accounting are major advantages for

Sofie Hassona at Fyrklövern. New functions are 

continuously being developed to provide a complete 

package solution – and they, as an agency, have the 

opportunity to play a part in influencing the development.

Sofie Hassona is Office Manager at Fyrklövern’s branch 

in Västerås and works with payroll and HR. An important 

advantage of Fortnox Payroll (Lön), believes Sofie, is the 

connection to accounting and the completely digital  flow

they can offer the customer. Being able to collaborate with 

both customers and colleagues is important for the efficient

flow. And it can be adapted to the customer’s needs regardless 

of whether they want to manage more parts themselves, or 

require Sofie’s help.

Sofie likes that Fortnox is constantly developing its offering 

to be able to provide complete solutions, and that those who 

work as agencies can be involved and in uence development.

- It’s great that new functions are being released on a regular 

basis!

Automation adds value to the agency’s 

commissions
One such instance is the automatic  filing of the employer 

declaration that came last year. It reduces the handling of

manual  files and both streamlines and reduces the risk of 

manual errors. Today, customers increasingly want efficient 

processes for their entire accounting, and Sofie believes that 

the demand will increase in terms of automated functions:

- Customers will want to connect Fortnox with several

different systems, and integration solutions lie ahead in the 

future. Everything that can be automated with quality and 

safety will be demanded and that brings added value to our 

mission of being able to offer it to customers. It gives us more 

time for consultation and being able to be a partner in business 

decisions.
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Together we are advancing development-
and getting more satisfied customers

Real-time accounting for increased 

customer satisfaction
Aspia was early out in wanting a cloud-based software 

solution for its accounting business activities. They wanted 

to be able to share their work with their customers. So it 

made sense choosing Fortnox early on. But development in 

the  field moves fast, and the technology offers so many more 

opportunities today. Then you need partners who can take 

advantage of the new opportunities and turn them into good 

products. Responsive, and with the customer’s needs in focus. 

Ola Gunnarsson  finds the possibilities that come with the 

higher degree of automation exciting: 

— This gives us the opportunity for real-time accounting 

that supports us in being able to give our customers the 

right insights at the right time to make the right decisions. 

By helping us at Aspia with insights, Fortnox gives us the 

opportunity to be more proactive. This way, we become 

a sounding board and have a closer relationship with our 

customers. And that gives increased customer satisfaction!

Close co-operation in the development of products and 

services is one of the main reasons for Aspia’s long-term 

partnership with Fortnox. The strength of coming from two 

directions becomes an advantage for both parties.

Aspia has been a partner of Fortnox for many years, since 2008. 

A successful partnership built on dialogue and collaboration. This 

involves Aspia conveying the wishes, expertise and experience 

of their 1,200 employees with profound knowledge of laws and 

regulations within accounting. Fortnox has the competence and 

the will to continuously develop the programs.

Together we can get products 

that meet both the customer’s 

and Aspia’s needs and that 

comply with the laws and 

regulations that need to be 

met.
Ola Gunnarsson, CEO Aspia.
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Key figures

Climate 

100%
Fortnox will reduce the climate 

footprint through increased 

circularity, phasing out of fossil 

fuels and increased digitisation. 

Today, we have 100% renewable 

energy in our office premises* and 

server halls**.

Equality 

39%
Fortnox strives for an even 

distribution of the proportion of 

women and men working in the 

company as a whole, as well as in 

senior positions. The whole Group 

including managers year 2021: 61% 

men and 39% women.

Anti-corruption

99%
Number of coworkers who 

have read and signed the 

anti corruption policy. Fortnox 

does not tolerate any form of 

corruption. With education, the 

risk of infringements can be 

prevented and reduced.

 

Sustainability at every stage

Since the start in 2001, Fortnox has delivered value to 

entrepreneurs and accounting  firms in Sweden. Increased 

digitisation generates clear values in terms of safety,

efficiency, security and reduced climate impact. 

We facilitate business enterprise and entrepreneurship in 

Sweden by way of the Fortnox business platform, but also want 

to inspire increased and sustainable business enterprise in 

society by actively choosing collaboration, promoting initiatives 

and entering into partnerships.

Our sustainability work in figures
Climate Equality Anti-corruption 

100 % 39 % 99 %

Fortnox will reduce the climate footprint

through increased circularity, phasing out of fossil fuels

and increased digitisation. Today, we have 100%  

renewable energy in our office premises* and server

halls**.

Fortnox strives for an even distribution of the proportion 

of women and men working in the company as a whole, as 

well as in management positions. The whole Group including 

managers year 2021: 61% men and 39% women.

The number of coworkers who have read and signed 

the anti-corruption policy. Fortnox does not tolerate 

any form of corruption. With education, the risk of 

infringements can be prevented and reduced.
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Sustainable 
strategy
Fortnox is the hub for business enterprise in Sweden, and we 

enable businesses to start, grow and develop. By combining 

technical expertise and business insight, we develop 

innovative, safe and sustainable products, services and 

solutions. In this way, Fortnox helps customers capture the 

opportunities of digitisation while simultaneously creating 

a prosperous society and successful entrepreneurship. 

Increased digitisation generates clear values in terms of 

safety, efficiency, security and reduced climate impact. 

Fortnox’s desire is for customers to become more sustainable 

and together with the company contribute to a sustainable 

transition.

With the essential areas of sustainability, Fortnox wants to 

lead the way for sustainable business enterprise via increased 

digitisation. We also want this to be done while showing 

consideration for climate, diversity, inclusion and equality, and 

that the company’s business is sustainable, safe, secure and 

legal.

Sustainable 
management
Fortnox sustainability management is based upon the 

company’s vision of creating a prosperous society shaped by 

successful companies as well as our values and policies. The 

Group’s framework for sustainability consists of Sustainability 

Policy, Environment Policy, Code of Conduct, Supplier 

Code, Ethics Policy, Finance Policy, Anti-corruption Policy, 

Whistleblower Policy and Internal Governance and Control 

Policy. The company’s policies are approved annually by the 

Board of Directors. Fortnox has issued sustainability reports 

since 2019 and, since 2021, includes GRI , which guides the 

company to do the right things in the right way. 

Fortnox has supported UN Global Compact since 2021, the 

principles of which are integrated in Fortnox policies.

 GRI - Global Reporting Initiative.

1

1
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"We are the  first generation that 
can end poverty, the last that can 
end climate change"

Former UN Secretary-General, Ban Ki-moon

Global goals
Sustainability is nothing new, it is something that has 
been around for decades. A generally accepted definition 
of sustainability was set out 1987 in the United Nations 
Brundtland Commission report:  
 

"Sustainable development is a development that meets the 

needs of the present without compromising the ability of 

future generations to meet their own needs."  

 

Three dimensions, environmental, social and economic 

sustainability, must interact and support each other in order to 

achieve sustainable development. 

The next major milestone in the area of sustainability was 

2015 when the world’s nations decided on 17 global targets 

for economic, social and sustainable development and at the 

same time to work towards achieving them by 2030. The same 

year, a global climate agreement was reached in Paris, where 

world leaders decided to work for limiting global warming well 

below 2°C and to strive to limit it to 1.5°C.

During 2021, Fortnox has held internal workshops on the company’s sustainability strategy and ambitions within 

sustainability that contribute to the UN’s global goals. Fortnox has mapped out how the company can contribute to the UN’s 

17 global goals and chosen to focus on 8 of those we are most able to contribute to the sustainability strategy. In 2022, we 

will continue this work through the development of methods to gain a clearer picture of how Fortnox projects can further 

contribute to the company’s ambitions and, in turn, the UN’s global goals which will be important guiding principles in 

Fortnox’s future work.

This will be a platform on which Fortnox, together with co-operation partners, will be able to contribute to more sustainable 

development.

We live in a fast-changing world. Changes present both opportunities and challenges. Fortnox constantly strives to live up 

to society’s new demands and expectations. Fortnox looks at the possibility of being able to make a societal bene t in terms 

of business. Within the framework of sustainable development, Fortnox works for a disruptive future and contributes to an 

exponential transformation that lasts for generations through the products and services the company offers the customer.

Sustainability
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Need -> Information -> Digital platform -> Evaluation

Description
of activities
in the
Fortnox 
value chain

<- Resources (good technology and equipment, etc.) ->

Value chain Supplier - <approx. 1,000 Fortnox - approx. 600 Customer - approx. 400,000 Customer's customer

Climate 
changes

Planetary 
boundary

Scope 3 – 98.2% of the 
climate footprint occurs when 
purchasing electronics. Here 
Fortnox has a direct impact. 
Scope 2 – 1.3% of the climate 
footprint comes from the 
indirect emissions from, 
for example, the energy the 
business buys and
consumes.

Impact (-): Fortnox has 
a negative impact on 
the climate through the 
electronics used in its 
operations.

Fortnox has a negative impact 
in its use of energy, but keeps 
the impact down
as energy consumed has a 
renewable origin

Scope 1 – 0.5% of the climate 
footprint occurs within the 
company’s own operations 
and can be directly influenced. 
Energy for storing the data 
for the customer is included. 
Fortnox rents all premises.

Impact (-): Fortnox has 
some negative impact in its 
activities, but keeps the climate 
impact down by mostly using 
renewables where data is 
stored.

Impact (+): The products and services Fortnox 
delivers to the customer are cloud-based. 
They streamline and simplify for the

customer and reduce paper usage and 

transport. In this way, what is done for the 

customer in terms of stability can be seen as
a positive impact on the climate. 

Fortnox follows up the digitally distributed 
share of customer invoices, supplier invoices 
and payroll specifications of Fortnox 
customers, via Fortnox digital services.

Impact (+): The products and services Fortnox 
delivers to the customer are cloud-based.
They streamline and simplify for the customer 
and reduce paper usage and transport. 
This supports customers in becoming more 
sustainable and in turn supports their 
customers on the same journey. 

Impact even further out in the value chain is 
important and will be a measure of how well 
Fortnox reaches out with the services.

Biodiversity 
and use of 
land

Planetary 
boundaries

Impact (-): The electronics 
used have an impact at their 
source on biodiversity and
the use of natural resources 
such as water and raw 
materials.

Work 
environment, 
human rights 
and
business 
ethics

Impact (-): Fortnox has an 
impact
on the work environment and 
human rights in the supply 
chain. Without control there
is a risk that deficiencies can 
occur and that the business
is unethical.

Responsibility and impact in the value 
chain
Fortnox works actively to minimise the negative impact and maximise the positive impact in terms of sustainability along the 

value chain. To support and promote the necessary changes in the area of sustainability, there is close collaboration with 

partners, suppliers and other stakeholders. The value chain below illustrates the positive and negative impact in terms of 

environmental, social and economic sustainability. The table describes the activities’ value chain as a simple  flow. We have 

chosen to review our in uence based on the planetary boundaries climate and biodiversity, as well as the work environment, 

human rights and business ethics.

Sustainability

To meet the customer’sneeds, 
Fortnox ensures that the 
offer meets expectations and 
that the necessary, legal and 
qualitative development takes 
place in balance with the 
outside world.

The customer obtains 
data about the offering 
in several different ways 
in the Fortnoxplatform, 
via recommendations, 
campaignsin various 
channels, at trade events or 
other.

Our cloud-based offering is presented to the 
customer.

A delivered value to the customer benefits the 
customer’s customer which, together withother 
stakeholder surveys, provide a picture of 
whether the need has been fulfilled.

Impact (-): The waste from our 
activities has a negative impact 
if it is not handled correctly.

Impact (-): The energy use in 
the operations has an impact 
at its origin. Renewables are 
used in Fortnox operations 
but, depending on the type of 
renewable energy, it has a minor 
impact on use of land.

Impact (+): The products and services Fortnox 
delivers to the customer are cloud-based. 
Themore digital the customer becomes, the 
less impact on biodiversity and use of land.

Impact (+): The products and services 
Fortnox delivers to the customer are 
cloud-based. The more digital the customer 
becomes, the lessimpact on biodiversity and 
use of land.

Impact (+): Fortnox’s work 
with the Code of Conduct is 
important. Observance ensures 
that consideration is given 
to the environment, work 
environment, economy, ethics, 
safety and legal compliance. 

Impact (-): Without systematic 
work and education there is a 
risk that deficiencies can occur.

Impact (+): Fortnox shall set equivalent 
requirements for its customers as well as for 
its own operations regarding environment, 
work environment, economy, ethics, safety and 
legal compliance.
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Stakeholders

Fortnox works to constantly create development in the 

right direction and to offer affordable and useful products 

and services. To succeed requires a sensitivity and 

responsiveness to what the customer is asking for, and 

one way to acquire this is to have customer dialogues in 

different forums. 

The company’s stakeholders are customers, suppliers, 

partners, owners and investors, coworkers and society, but 

also a number of other important stakeholders. It is these 

stakeholders that influence Fortnox’s business most and 

simultaneously the ones that affect us the most. Fortnox 

communicates daily with the stakeholders via different 

channels. During the course of the year, several of our 

stakeholder dialogues have become even more digital due to 

circumstances surrounding the pandemic.

Coworker dialogue
The perception that it is important for coworkers to work 

sustainably is confirmed by a recent sustainability survey. 

Coworkers at Fortnox think that the company takes 

responsibility and acts sustainably, but that it is possible 

to take further steps. Areas such as societal benefits, 

environment and supporting Fortnox customers in becoming 

even more sustainable are seen as important initiatives.

Customer dialogue
One of the most recent customer surveys shows that there 

is a willingness to become more sustainable and to play a 

part in achieving this. Many also see the customer benefit 

of becoming more sustainable. At the same time, the survey 

shows that “what is difficult about sustainability is the

difficulty of influencing others – from supplier to customer. 

This, among other things, depends on: whether others decide, 

it is expensive, complex and extensive work”.   Overall, there

seems to be an imbalance between those who want to go 

down the sustainable path and those who do not, and those 

who do not know how to act sustainably. This imbalance 

contributes to a slower transition. See below for more 

customer responses to the two of the points raised.

What is important for you as an entrepreneur 
when it comes to sustainability?

That everyone must play their part in order for us to 

succeed in achieving the sustainability goals.

To recycle, use less paper and streamline logistics.

To have a policy in the company that we can stand for and 

everyone works according to so that it becomes a natural 

way of working.

That all parts of sustainability are equally important: 

environment, economy and social sustainability.

That our suppliers work sustainably.

That we draw inspiration from other people’s 

environmental work, especially from other SaaS 

(Software as a Service) companies.

To minimise waste. To maximise recycling and utilisation 

rates.

That we act within the planetary boundaries.

What is difficult about working sustainably for 
you as an entrepreneur?

To be able to influence things we cannot decide for 

ourselves.

To plan logistics to customers and influence invoicing to 

private customers.

That it may be a little slow sometimes and getting 

everyone working the same way.

That sustainability is regarded as major and extensive 

for a small business enterprise to work with. And it is 

perceived as unclear who SaaS (Software as a Service) 

companies can work with in technical sustainability.

To gain an understanding of increased value from those 

who pay for more sustainability.

That it takes a lot of know-how to work with 

sustainability.

That it is not sufficiently clear that the products and 

services offered are sustainable.

That an unsustainable market has long been established 

and that the sustainable alternatives are often so 

expensive that they cannot be introduced.

Fortnox takes continuous NPS -measurements every month of 

all customer groups. It provides insights on how the company 

can create a better experience for customers and users. The 

“Closing the loop” process provides concrete feedback that 

leads to the company being able to improve its offering.

2
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Stakeholder engagement
Fortnox works daily to contribute to sustainable development. By engaging with stakeholders and having joint projects, the 

impact and synergies of the actions are increased. The different interfaces are also important for raising the level of knowledge 

and for networking. This helps us to  find the best innovative solutions for the future. Below is a summary of stakeholder 

engagement during normal years. Some dialogues have been converted during the pandemic.

Stakeholders Core issues - sustainability Communication and collaboration

Customers Sustainable products and services
Digitisation 
Information security, data protection
Responsibility for the environment and working conditions 
Economic viability

Annual surveys, via web and social media, customer meetings, collaborations, special 
surveys linked to sustainability

Suppliers Supplier Code (environment, human rights and good working
conditions, compliance)
Active work for more sustainable development 
Good technology and systems
Information security, data protection

Supplier evaluations, collaborative projects

Partners Product safety, information security, quality 
Responsibility for the environment and working conditions 
Good technology and systems

Annual surveys, via web and social media, partner meetings, collaborations

Owners & 
investors

Long-term sustainable economic value development (growth and 
profitability), business ethics
Laws, regulations and standards

AR/HBR, web, investor meetings, interim reports and annual general meeting

Coworkers Good working conditions and responsibility for the climate
Diversity, inclusion and equality
Information security, data protection
Innovation and product development
Health and safety
Sustainable products and services

Daily meetings, coworker interviews acc. annual cycle, NMI, regular coworker surveys, 
special surveys linked to sustainability

Society Responsibility for the environment and working conditions 
Laws, regulations and standards
Fortnox contributes positively to social development and civic 
engagement 
Increased digitisation, emerging player and important employer

Participation in networks, annual audits, civic engagement

Sustainability
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Essential for Fortnox and the world at 
large
Fortnox conducts an annual revision of the materiality analysis based on the results of analysis of the value chain, stakeholders, 

world at large and the situation at the current moment. In the course of the 2021 materiality analysis, a number of prioritised 

sustainability aspects were identified and together these are the crucial areas we choose to focus on:

Crucial area SDG KPI Goals Sub-goals SDG

13.1, 13.3,  7.3

Diversity, 
inclusion and 
equality

5.1, 5.5, 5.B, 10.1, 
10.2

Sustainable 
business

16.4, 16.5, 16.7, 
10.1

Financial stability 8.2, 8.3, 8.4, 
8.5, 8.8

Responsible 
supply chain

9.3, 10.1, 12.2,
12.4, 12.5, 12.6, 
12.8

Attractive 
employer

3.4, 3.6, 3.9, 
4.3, 4.4

Civic engagement 11.5, 11.6, 17.1, 17.16

Digitisation 9.2, 9.3, 9.5

Fortnox started its structured sustainability work in the autumn, 2019. This was when the  first materiality analysis was created and 

has been worked on further in 2020 and 2021. Since then, annual stakeholder analysis, value chain analysis and external analysis 

have been made. The analysis includes risks, challenges, opportunities, and the company’s sustainability policy. The analysis has 

taken into account the law regarding mandatory sustainability reporting. Prioritisation of the key sustainability issues is based on this 

process and during 2021, the global goals for sustainable development as well as GRI have been included. Dialogue has taken place 

with stakeholders to validate signi cant sustainability issues.

Sustainability

39

By 2025 reduce Fortnox climatefootprint 
by: 

Phasing out fossil fuels for   
business trips by car
 
Halve the share of physical letters 
to customer
 
100% renewable electricity usein 
server halls and offices

Coworkers feel that they have the same opportunities asman/
woman 

Men/women in senior positions, Board of Directors and 
managementthroughout the entire company

50/50 – equality 
 

50/50

Share of coworkers who have read and signed the anti-
corruptionpolicy
 
Share of coworkers who have received training in our Code of 
Conduct

100% 
 

100%

Profitability
Growth

For further information see crucialarea 
Financial stability

Share of reused and recycled electronics 
(decommissionedelectronics)
 
Climate footprint from electronics

Striving for a circular economy 
byrecovering as much as possible
 
Setting up a strategy to reduce 
theclimate footprint of electronics 
by 2025

Continuous follow-up of coworkers within:
 
Satisfied employer index
Leadership Index NMI
Attendance rates
Perceived health

Goal 4.2 of 5.0
Goal 4.0 of 5.0
Goal 97% of 100%
Goal 4.0 of 5.0

Civic engagement that makes a difference
Climate compensation for our climate footprint

For further info see crucial area Civic 
engagement

Digitally distributed share of customer invoices, supplier invoices 
and paychecks of Fortnox customers, via Fortnox digital services

The company intends to increase the 
distributed share to 100%

Total climate footprint 
 Climate footprint business travel

Share of physical letters to customer

Share of renewable electricity use in 
server halls and offices

Climate impact
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The most important questions for us

Sustainability
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Environment
• Sustainable products and services
• Use of energy
• Commuting

Social
• Diversity and equality
• Inclusion
• Attract and retain competence
• Community involvement
• Employeeship
• Leadership

Economy
• Growth
• Customer satisfaction
• Profitability
• Resource and cost efficiency
• Innovation and product development
• Compliance
• Value chain partnerships
• Purchase requirements
   and partnerships

Climate impact

FOCUS AREAS

THE MOST ESSENTIAL ISSUES TO US

FUNDAMENTALS

Responsible
supply chain

Attractive
employer

Financial
stability

Community 
involvement

Digitisation

Sustainable
business

Diversity, 
inclusion and 
equality
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Climate impact

Climate change is central to the future for all of us. 

Therefore, it is a matter of course for Fortnox to make 

conscious choices to reduce the climate impact of its 

operations. Moreover, Fortnox works with sustainable 

initiatives for coworkers and develops products and 

services that give customers the opportunity to reduce 

their climate footprints.

Using climate calculations throughout the value chain gives 

a good picture of where Fortnox has the greatest positive 

impact. Through changes in day-to-day operations and in 

collaboration with others, climate impact can be reduced. 

Fortnox wants to take responsibility for the climate and 

contribute to a sustainable development. In 2020, the 

company’s  first climate calculation was completed. It was 

made for the business year 2019 in accordance with the GHG 

protocol . Since then, two more climate calculations have 

been carried out. Fortnox has chosen to collaborate with an 

external party whose climate analysts ascertain Fortnox’s 

climate footprint calculated in accordance with the GHG 

protocol. The Fortnox climate calculation 2021 can be found

on www.fortnox.se.

In the  financial year 2020, Fortnox was a climate-neutral 

company according to the standard PAS 2060:2014. The 

review of climate neutrality, so called Other Party Validation 

process, was conducted by KPMG. At the same time, a 

reduction plan was adopted and the company chose to 

climate compensate in three different projects. Read more 

about the projects in the crucial area Civic engagement. The 

intention was to clearly demonstrate the will to make a

difference as climate neutrality includes a clear mitigation 

strategy and climate financing to accelerate the climate 

transition.

3

According to PAS 2060:2014, a climate-neutral  business 

needs to reduce its climate impact between the years in order 

to maintain its climate neutrality. However, Fortnox increased 

its climate impact in 2021 compared with 2020. The increase 

was mainly due to the company’s growth during 2021 and 

a larger amount of electronics was purchased as a result. A 

strong contributing factor was also that coworkers returned 

to the workplace after working from home, which increased 

climate impact from coworker commuting

significantly. Therefore, Fortnox cannot claim climate 

neutrality for 2021, but will of course continue to work to 

reduce the climate footprint. However, reductions in other 

areas, such as climate impact from logistics and the climate 

impact from business premises have been achieved. Going 

forward, Fortnox intends to continue to work with its 

reduction targets.

Fortnox climate footprint
Scope 1 Scope 2 Scope 3 Total

2020 3 tonnes CO2e 70 tonnes CO2e 601 tonnes CO2e 674 tonnes CO2e

In % 0.4% 10.4% 89.2% 100%

2021 5  tonnes CO2e 14  tonnes CO2e 1064  tonnes CO2e 1083 tonnes CO2e

In % 0.5% 1.3% 98.2% 100%

Within scope 3, other indirect emissions, is where the largest 

footprint occurs. In 2020, purchased goods accounted for 317 

tonnes CO2e compared with 2021 for 652 tonnes CO2e.

2020 2021 Percentage
change 

1.84 tonnes CO2e 
per customer

2.71 tonnes CO2e 
per customer

19%

Fortnox climate impact 
per turnover

0.82 tonnes CO2e 
per MSEK

1.20 tonnes CO2e 
per MSEK

32%

Fortnox climate impact 
per employee

1.56 tonnes CO2e 
per FTE 

1.92 tonnes CO2e 
per FTE 

32%

4
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Fortnox climate impact 
per turnover
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Reduction strategy
Fortnox works to reduce the climate footprint, create circular

flow and reduce impact on the environment by 2025 through:

Striving for a circular economy by recycling and 

recovering as much as possible.

Setting up a strategy to reduce the carbon footprint of 

electronics by 2025.

Phasing out fossil fuels for business trips by car.

Halving the share of physical letters to the customer 

(2021 around 2.4% of our mailings were physical). 100% 

renewable electricity use in server halls and offices.

We are cautious
We strive to use the best possible technology for the best 

possible preconditions for the customer. This requires good 

technical equipment and storage of data in the cloud. This 

should be done with care and not endanger human health or 

the environment. We are already taking measures to prevent, 

combat and counteract this. During 2021, we commenced with 

a routine for handling decommissioned electronics in each 

office. We work with external co-operation partners to ensure 

that as much as possible of our decommissioned electronics 

is reused and the remainder recycled. In 2021, 91% of our

decommissioned electronics was reused. The company also 

informs internally to provide tips on how proper use and 

caution can prolong the lives of electronics. The ambition is 

to make conscious choices and achieve sustainable resource 

management.

More sustainable choices for the 

environment and the future
It is fast becoming a matter of urgency to have a chance of 

limiting the global temperature rise to 1.5°C by 2030. Therefore 

Fortnox has several areas where demands are made in pursuit 

of sustainable development. For example, Fortnox develops 

opportunities to travel more sustainably to and from work. 

Trains are selected before cars and planes. In the company’s 

environmental policy, you can read more about other 

environmental aspects Fortnox focuses on. Fortnox wants to 

proceed faster in the climate transition and do it in the right 

way. Fortnox is therefore reviewing the possibility of signing 

the SBTi, Scienced Based Target, commitment or equivalent 

and enable the use of scientific methods to set a reduction 

strategy by 2030.

 GHG - Green House Protocol. The GHG protocol was developed by the World 
Resources Institute (WRI) and World Business Council on Sustainable Development 
(WBCSD) as a global standard for measurement, management and reporting of 
greenhouse gas emissions. The protocol covers the six greenhouse gases as defined 
in the Kyoto protocol. These are converted to and reported as carbon dioxide 
equivalents (CO2e).

 Climate neutral- In the calculation, Fortnox followed the requirements set out in the 
two standards that define clime neutrality: PAS 2060 and ISO 14021. The climate
calculation is made in accordance with the GHG protocol and complemented with 
goals and reduction strategy, as well as climate compensation in certified projects. 
The Other Party Validation review was conducted by KPMG.

3
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Diversity, inclusion and equality

Close to 600 coworkers and consultants of many different 

nationalities, backgrounds and expertise work at Fortnox. 

This is a great asset and increases the chance of success as 

diversity and inclusion lead to more innovation, creativity 

and a better working environment. Here, education is a 

success factor and an important component in recruitment 

and advancement of leadership.

Equal opportunities and equality
For Fortnox, it is important that coworkers feel that everyone 

has the same opportunities regardless of gender. This is why 

Fortnox strives for an equal gender distribution amongst 

coworkers and amongst those who are in senior positions. We 

have several policies that are guiding the work with gender 

equality, as well as training in the  field. This work is followed 

up every year in coworker surveys. In addition, an annual 

survey of wages and related analysis is carried out to ensure 

that equal or equivalent work is rewarded in the same way 

regardless of gender.

Human rights, labour law and the 

working environment
Fortnox respects human rights and has zero tolerance for all 

forms of bullying, harassment, sexual harassment, abusive 

treatment and discrimination. All coworkers shall have 

the same rights and never be subject to unfair treatment 

on the basis of gender, transgender identity or expression, 

ethnicity, nationality, religion or other belief, disability, sexual 

orientation and age. Labour law and good working conditions 

are important for Fortnox, and relationships with customers, 

partners or other stakeholders who do not support this are 

not accepted.

Fortnox wants to lead the way and 

support
Fortnox wants to inspire more players in society and contribute 

to equality and inclusion where the company can make a 

difference. Therefore, Fortnox works with several partners to 

support such a positive development. The scale up company, 

Navigator Scale Up, is an example where Fortnox supports 

with knowledge and advice where equality is an important 

parameter.

Significant events during the year
During the year, Fortnox has carried out a number of activities 

related to diversity and inclusion. For example, it is mandatory 

for all managers to attend a course in basic work environment 

and labour law. This includes basic training in anti discrimination 

and dealing with victimisation. In addition, all managers have 

been trained in competency-based recruitment with the aim 

of, among other things, being made aware of different forms 

of bias that can affect recruitment and ways to avoid these. 

During 2021, Fortnox has developed a Code of Conduct for 

coworkers and our suppliers. The Code of Conduct is based on 

the UN’s Global Compact principles of human rights, labour law, 

environment and anti-corruption.

During 2022
For Fortnox, it is not enough to have a quantitively equal 

organisation unless the coworkers’ perspectives and insights 

are simultaneously taken into account. Therefore, in 2022, in 

conjunction with training in the Code of Conduct, Fortnox will 

give coworkers the opportunity to discuss issues related to 

diversity, inclusion and equality at departmental meetings. This 

will facilitate continuous work on these issues.
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Sustainable business

Fortnox’s key policy documents constitute a foundation in the 

company and a framework within which coworkers are given 

space to innovate while ensuring regulatory compliance and 

laws are followed. Embedded in the governing documents 

are principles, laws, regulatory requirements, rules and 

international standards. By relating to the governing 

documents, Fortnox can, as a company, improve and at the 

same time contribute to good and responsible business.

Running a responsible business is central to the success of 

Fortnox. A fundamental support for the company’s framework 

consists of the key policy documents. Most of these are subject 

to annual revisions to clarify the hierarchy of documents, 

decision-making mandates and mechanisms for identifying 

and managing risks and deficiencies. The framework’s levels 

consist of policies, guidelines, processes, procedures and other 

supporting documents. Several new policy documents were 

created during the course of the year.

Code of Conduct
The Fortnox Code of Conduct includes guidance in day-to-day 

work. It is based on international standards and frameworks 

such as the UN’s Global Compact. The Code of Conduct 

provides a framework for what is correct, legal and ethical, 

and forms the basis for what Fortnox considers to be a good 

and sustainable business environment. The Code is new for 

this year and we are actively working on an annual training 

package that will be implemented during 2022 and which is 

based on both digital and physical presence in dialogue form.

Whistleblowing
Notification of violations and suspected violations of the Code 

of Conduct can be made to the immediate supervisor, Head of 

Legal, Head of HR or coworker representative. The notification 

can also be made anonymously via Fortnox Whistleblower 

(Visselblåsare), a reporting system that was implemented 

in June, 2021. Any retaliation against the person reporting or 

notifying a violation will not be tolerated. No reports have 

been made during 2021.

Anti-corruption
Fortnox does not tolerate any form of corruption, including 

bribery, undue benefits, breach of trust, conflicts of interest 

or insider trading. This means, among other things, that the 

company does not offer, accept, demand, promote, promise 

or approve gifts, payments or other benefits aimed at 

influencing the recipient’s business decision or a decision 

issued by a public authority. Gifts and representation shall 

be made in a lawful, moderate and transparent manner. 

Since 2020, Fortnox has annual training in anti-corruption 

for all coworkers. Training is an important part of creating 

a safe and legitimate work situation for coworkers and 

stakeholders. With the training, the risk of infringements can 

be prevented and reduced.

Information security and the 

protection of personal data
Fortnox handles a lot of information within its business 

activities. It is essential that the information is handled 

in a safe, secure and credible manner. The information is 

valuable and should be protected as necessary.

Fortnox has had a policy on information security since 2019, 

where the management’s will and ambitions in this area 

are described. Fortnox will work actively with security and 

implement continuous improvements.

During the year, Fortnox has developed a Data Protection 

Policy which forms an important basis in this area. Fortnox 

has two main categories of data subjects, the customer 

group and the coworkers.

Fortnox upholds the customer’s data protection and works 

with transparency, privacy protection and to meet requests, 

for example, of register extracts and other rights. All this 

information is available at fortnox.se. Fortnox coworkers 

have corresponding rights, and this is documented on the 

Fortnox intranet.
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Requirements for business partners

At Fortnox we want to live as we learn and maintain a high 

level of ethics in line with established values. The Fortnox 

Supplier Code offers support and help at the same time as it 

indicates a clear direction.

Internal control and risk management 
Fortnox internal control and risk management regarding the

financial reporting is designed to manage risks and ensure a 

high level of reliability in the processes and preparation of the

financial statements and other obligations required of 

listed companies. Risks related to environmental, social, 

personnel, human rights and anti-corruption issues are 

explored separately, but are planned to follow our regular risk 

management processes in the longer term. During the year, 

there will also be a focus on incorporating the new acquisition, 

Capcito, into the joint process and management.

The Board of Directors has the ultimate responsibility for 

internal control of the financial reporting. Responsibility for 

maintaining an effective control environment is delegated 

to the CEO, who is responsible for ensuring that the risk 

management in the organisation is applied in accordance with 

the agreed "Risk Management Policy” (Riskhanteringspolicy) 

and that there are sufficient resources and capabilities 

to ensure the internal control and quality of the financial 

reporting. The CFO is responsible for ensuring that there is an 

effective risk management and risk management framework 

in the Group. The Group Management should be responsible 

for identifying, assessing, managing and reporting risks within 

their respective areas of responsibility. All coworkers must be 

aware of the Group’s risk management and contribute to the 

risk work.

The Group also includes a subsidiary that is a payment 

institution and therefore has its own risk management and 

compliance function as specified in the company’s own Risk 

Control and Compliance Policy as determined by the subsidiary’s 

Board of Directors. The subsidiary works along two lines of 

defence where its compliance officer and CRO work on the 

second line of defence to ensure that its risks are managed and 

controlled independently of the business.

The Fortnox process for risk management is based on COSO 

(The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 

Commission) which is described in more detail in Fortnox “Risk 

Management Policy” (Riskhanteringspolicy).  The risk

management process is evaluated at least annually in the

event of major changes.

Fortnox internal governance and control is based on an overall 

framework built on a structure of governing documents, 

processes, and defined roles and responsibilities. These are 

based on  five basic principles stated in the Fortnox “Policy for 

internal governance and control” (Policy för intern styrning och 

kontroll).   Together, these measures help to ensure efficient and 

expedient operations, reliable reporting and compliance with

laws, regulations, policies and other governance documents 

within the organisation. For further information, see the

section Corporate governance.

Fortnox has a responsibility to conduct its business 

activities in a sustainable and ethical manner. This 

encompasses the entire supply chain, and suppliers of 

products, systems or services are encouraged to relate to 

it.

In the Supplier Code, Fortnox’s expectations of the 

company’s suppliers are described. The Code is based on 

the principles of the UN’s Global Compact.
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Continuous training measures
In addition to the annual training in anti-corruption and 

upcoming training within the framework of the Code of 

Conduct, our coworkers undergo several training courses. 

Depending on the type of service within the organisation, 

coworkers at Fortnox receive continuous training in 

Money Laundering, Data Protection, Information Security, 

Whistleblowing and Risk Management. The courses take place 

in various formats depending on the situation in society.

Policies
In our onboarding process, all new coworkers receive the 

company policies and are asked to sign an acknowledgement 

that they have reviewed and understood them. Fortnox 

policies are reviewed annually. During 2021, a procedure 

was created for the notification of new and existing 

policy documents to ensure that all coworkers receive 

policy updates. During 2021, many new policies have been 

developed to guide coworkers and other stakeholders in 

the areas of Sustainability, Data Protection and Information 

Security.
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Digitalisation

In meeting the needs and challenges of the future, 

digitalisation is the tool that contributes to the solutions. 

Innovation and technological progress are key to  finding 

sustainable solutions to both economic and environmental 

challenges.

For Fortnox, digitalisation is about creating a more seamless 

workday for customers when it comes to handling the 

administration via the Fortnox business platform and 

ecosystem. In return, customers are better placed to run their 

businesses.

Fortnox is constantly working on improvements across the 

organisation and increasing digitalisation in many areas. 

The focus is on the user in and around a company. The 

digitalisation journey should not only be efficient, but also 

safe and secure. In recent years, Fortnox has increased its 

focus on data-driven and digitally-driven innovation and 

research. This is conducted internally but also in collaboration 

with, amongst others, the Blekinge Institute of Technology 

(Blekinge Tekniska högskola). Fortnox works with an enhanced 

innovation climate for data driven and digitally-driven 

innovation through analysis and data insights. Fortnox also 

digitises to strengthen the protection of intellectual property, 

security and compliance. This digitalisation journey not only 

strengthens the customers and Fortnox as a company, but 

also nationally as Fortnox has a large proportion of Sweden’s 

entrepreneurs as customers. In this way, Fortnox contributes 

to strengthened and modern community building.

Working with digital infrastructure  
Fortnox has driven the processes to automate the mailing of

payslips, supplier invoices and customer invoices. In 2020, the 

proportion of customers who used digital distribution  was 

47%. During 2021, this increased to just over 50%. Examples of 

improvements include streamlining invoice  flows, sharper

interpretation in digital administration and accounting,

simplifications in activating accounts, and more besides. A new 

function has been created for inviting e-invoice collaboration 

that makes it easier to distribute and receive e-invoices, 

which in turn leads to faster, more efficient and more 

environmentally-friendly handling of invoices.

At the end of 2020, the data interpretation of supplier invoices 

was introduced. The number of automatically interpreted 

documents has increased by more than one million during 

2021 as a result thereof. This enables both the consultant and 

customer to receive real-time guidance and advice.

Raise and spread the digital competence
Fortnox has invested a lot in recruiting coworkers with 

expertise in digital technology over the past year. In addition, 

there has been close collaboration with the Blekinge Institute 

of Technology (Blekinge Tekniska högskola) and Linnaeus 

University (Linnéuniversitetet) for several years to ensure that 

the latest research is included in the development of products 

and services. Fortnox has coworkers with broad competence 

within AI. In various networks, such as NEA (Network of 

Electronic Business), there is also an important exchange of 

experience and skills.

Fortnox offers its agency partners the cost-free service Fortnox 

Digital PT (Digitalt PT), which aims to support accounting  firms 

and their clients in their ways of working with digitising their 

businesses. Regardless of how far the customer has come 

on the digital journey, tips are given on more trimmed work 

processes and tailored collaborations. For accounting  firms, 

there are also several cost-free digital courses, with the aim of 

being able to apply the program for increased competence in, 

for example, bookkeeping, reconciliation, financial statements, 

annual reports and tax.

5
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Forum for digital innovation
Fortnox contributes with societal benefits through innovative 

activities on the development side via the R&D concept 

“Innovation Days”, formerly known as ‘9th Floor’, for the 

company’s coworkers. The concept’s goal is to push forward 

the limits of what the combination of data and computing 

capacity can create for the bene t of Sweden’s entrepreneurs 

and accounting  firms. The ambition is to continuously invest 

part of the development budget in the innovation project, 

where everyone can pitch ideas that Fortnox then builds on. 

The goal is for as many ideas as possible to be realized and 

to go all the way to company products and lead to customer 

benefit.

Since 2013, Fortnox has held an annual event, Fortnox 

Xmas Hackathon, where all coworkers have the opportunity 

to participate with the aim of developing and creating 

new solutions for both their own activities and those of 

the customer. This opportunity also gives coworkers the 

possibility to challenge both themselves and their colleagues 

in a playful but orderly manner. During Fortnox Xmas 

Hackathon, teams are created consisting of colleagues who 

do not otherwise work so closely together on a daily basis. In 

this way, know-how and inspiration are disseminated across 

borders and fine synergies are achieved. It is also possible 

for coworkers to participate in external hackathons with their 

skills or as mentors. This brings us together and enables 

Fortnox to contribute even more to sustainable societal 

development.

Digital security is a matter of course 
Fortnox handles a lot of information within its operations. 

This shall be done in a safe, secure and credible manner. The 

information is valuable and should be protected as necessary. 

With increased digitisation, it takes into account digital safety 

and security by including data protection and information 

security. Not only does the company work with pure physical 

measures, but also with increasing the understanding and 

competence within data protection and information security. 

There are continuous trade-offs between privacy and the 

possibility of developing new innovative services and products 

with data as a resource.

Digital leadership shows the way
During 2021, improvements have been made to internal 

systems such as the intranet. This has led to a clearer 

guidance for not only the coworker, as an employee and in 

everyday life, but also the goals and key  gures that take the 

business on the right path towards the vision. Continued 

work is underway during 2022 with the ambition of further 

improving the quality and initiating management systems.

 Digital distribution – the proportion of customers (on average) who have used 
digital distribution of supplier invoices (34.9%), customer invoices (86.7%) or payslips 
(28.7%) during the last 12 months.

5
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Attractive employer
Fortnox’s most important asset is its coworkers. Their well-being, health and welfare are crucial to the goals and results the 

company wants to achieve, now and in the future. Therefore, it is important that the coworkers have the right conditions. 

Development opportunities, education, business culture and the working environment are some of the areas that we actively 

work with.

Working during the pandemic
The pandemic has continued to challenge society during

2021. Fortnox underwent the biggest change in 2020 when 

it was possible to work remotely for all coworkers. During 

2021, a comprehensive survey was conducted to capture the 

physical and psychological well-being when working from 

home. The survey provided important insights, such as that 

there are bene ts to meeting in the corridors or during physical 

meetings, but also how successful working remotely has been. 

At the same time that many people partly worked at home and 

a return to work at the office took place in the autumn, our 

rapid growth journey has continued as the company has gone 

from 401 to 596 coworkers.

Development and skills availability
At Fortnox, coworkers are given the opportunity to grow and 

develop, and to move to di erent positions within the company. 

Fortnox encourages internal mobility when new opportunities 

arise, and to grow as a leader – not least through the 

company’s leadership program, Talent Management Program. 

There are also internally and externally arranged training 

courses held annually for leaders and coworkers to take part 

in.

Innovation Days, formerly known as ’9th  oor’, is a development 

concept where, during some innovative, problem-solving 

days, coworkers find the potential of problems, take the most 

ingenious idea and turn it into reality. The thinking behind 

this is that the best solution linked to Fortnox products is yet 

to be found, and the objective is to push the limits of what 

the combination of data and data capacity can create for the 

benefit of business. Some of our most ground-breaking ideas 

have been born here. The company’s coworkers also get their 

own innovation time with an optional agenda.

Fortnox Academy is a trainee program that makes it possible 

to welcome knowledgeable and interested students to 

develop under supervision with the ambition that the program 

will lead to employment in the company. A fantastic result 

was achieved after this year’s program and Fortnox was 

able to welcome all trainees as new coworkers. When the 

program starts again in September, 2022, there will be more 

participants and more locations.

Fortnox has had a very strong growth in coworkers and 

recruitment is an important part of the business. Everything 

to safeguard the availability of skills and competence, today 

and in the future. Fortnox has a well-drafted process for 

competency recruitment. The focus is on personal qualities 

and experiences as well as the knowledge that new coworkers 

need to succeed in their roles. By working with a competence-

based approach, diversity is also acknowledged, minimising 

the risk of discrimination.

Sustainability

49
The report is a translation of the original Swedish report. In the event of a discrepancy between this translation and the Swedish original, the Swedish reports take precedence. 



Wellness and well-being
A prosperous society engenders the prerequisites for good 

health and happiness. Fortnox strives in pursuit of these and 

invests in the physical environment. In 2021, colleagues have 

been encouraged to take the bike to work, beneficial to both 

health and the environment. In addition, inspiring cycling 

events have been arranged to attract more people to cycle. 

Coworkers have, for example, been given the opportunity to 

“cycle for someone else’s life” by sponsoring and, together 

with Bike4Life, cycling a route. Fortnox has been monitoring 

coworker travel habits to and from work since 2019 via a 

survey that is an important part of both the annual climate 

calculation and to get a picture of travel behaviour. With 

these insights, the company can improve the conditions for 

coworkers to make more sustainable travel choices to and 

from work. Several coworkers have wanted safer and more 

protected storage for their bicycles at the workplace, and 

as part of this, bicycle facilities were developed at all o ces 

by the end of 2021. Moreover, electric bicycles have been 

purchased for loan during the day. During 2022, we plan to 

continue working in this area and get more people to choose a 

sustainable travel choice.

The coworkers’ relationship to physical and mental health 

has been strengthened in several ways during the pandemic– 

everything from increased understanding that good health 

can be an issue of mere survival, to its potential contribution 

to success. Despite this insight, it has been difficult to involve 

coworkers remotely in the health promotion activities offered. 

The perceived health of the coworkers was 3.9 during 2021, 

which is a slight improvement. It was challenging to switch to 

digital alternatives. Engaging coworkers remotely has meant 

a lower level of participation in, for example, Wellness Weeks. 

With coworker engagement via the surveys, Fortnox has been 

able to gain insights from this period that can be used in the 

future to develop the offer for increased participation even 

remotely.

During 2021, the Fortnox FeelGood (Måbra) concept continued 

to create inspiring opportunities to encourage increased 

movement and well-being. There have been social activities 

on the company’s Wellness- floor that has a gym, yoga room, 

ping pong table and massage. In addition, there is a room 

for mindfulness, meditation and prayer. Fortnox has its own 

health coach who works daily with wellness, and instructors 

hold several sessions a week. Moreover, training in sustainable 

leadership and coworkership has been offered. The coworkers 

have also had the opportunity to test Life Kinetik, that is a 

motion-based brain training technique.
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Guidance documents and systematic 

work environment management
Fortnox works to create a pleasant and sustainable 

workplace where coworkers can thrive and  flourish, and 

this applies to both existing and new workplaces. The Work 

Environment Policy and associated guidelines provide support 

in the development of the workplaces. Fortnox also holds 

discussions with coworkers who follow an annual cycle and 

who help the manager to pick up on areas for improvement.

Significant events during the year
Proof that Fortnox has succeeded in creating a pleasant 

workplace that reaches out beyond the four walls is that in 

2022 the company received the award “Karriärföretag 2022”. 

Every year, the Karriärföretag website lists the 100 foremost 

employers in Sweden. A sound selection process and jury work 

lies behind the list that focuses on career and development 

opportunities for students and young talents at the beginning 

of their careers.

Coworkers in numbers and percent
2019 2020 2021

Number of new employees* during the year 74 82 149

Number of employees* who left during the year - x 7 16 18

Employee turnover % - x/y 2.1 % 3.9 % 3.0 %

Employees at end of the year - y 329 401 596

Employed part-time n/a n/a 25

Sick leave – women 1.55 1.90 1.25

Sick leave – men 1.33 0.92 0.86

Incidents and accidents 0 2 0

*Employees of which probationary and  fixed-term employees are included. 
*Includes both long- and short-term sick leave.

Outcome 2019 Outcome 2020 Outcome 2021

eNPS** n/a n/a 26

NMI*** (index 1- 5) 4.4 4.1 4.1

**eNPS - Employee Net Promoter Score – a metric where we measure how likely coworkers are to recommend our workplace to friends and acquaintances.
***NMI - Satis ed Employee Index – a metric where we measure well-being, pride and commitment.

We are pleased and proud to have been named one of the 

foremost employers of 2022. The explanatory memorandum 

highlights the coworkers and business culture, a well thought 

through storytelling and each coworker’s development 

opportunities. That Fortnox has received the award fully

cofirms that the long-term and extensive work that is being 

done is producing results. The award will raise the visibility of 

Fortnox at a time when the company is focused on growth and 

innovation. It says what we ourselves have known for a long 

time, that coworkers are the company’s most valuable asset.
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Financial stability
Fortnox has a strong focus on increased growth and profitability in the coming years. For further information on how 

profitability and growth developed at the company during 2021 and earlier years, see the sections Administration Report and

Five-year review.
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Engagement
Fortnox has effects on society in several ways, of which the 

most evident and central is the opportunity for more people 

to start and run a business. In addition to Fortnox’s core 

business, which simplifies business enterprise by way of the 

company’s products, a large number of activities are carried 

out to inspire business enterprise.

Fortnox has effects on society in several ways, of which the 

most evident and central is the opportunity for more people to 

start and run a business. In addition to Fortnox’s core business, 

which simplifles business enterprise by way of the company’s 

products, a large number of activities are carried out to inspire 

business enterprise.

Collaborations for the future
In order to contribute to a healthy, innovative and sustainable 

business climate, Fortnox is active within various networks, 

among them Network of Electronic Business (NEA) and Chamber 

of Commerce and Industry of Southern Sweden. Fortnox is 

also engaged in various community projects such as Junior 

Achievement (Ung Företagsamhet), Kodkollektivet and Ung Drive 

program, where the company contributes with competence and 

development.

We go from idea to realisation
During 2021, Fortnox acquired the subsidiary, Fortnox 

Lagerbolag AB. Thanks to this new acquisition, Fortnox is now 

helping new entrepreneurs to start new joint-stock companies. 

Fortnox contributes with knowledge, guidance and necessary 

programs to get started in the easiest and smoothest way 

possible.

Obtain and spread knowledge
Knowledge and education are key success factors. Therefore, 

we have collaborations with key actors within higher education 

such as, for example, Blekinge Institute of Technology 

(Blekinge Tekniska högskola) and Linnaeus University 

(Linnéuniversitetet). Fortnox also holds upper secondary 

education programmes around Sweden to contribute insights 

and expertise within business enterprise.

Partners of Fortnox
Partnership is another example of how Fortnox contributes 

to positive societal development. During 2021, Fortnox has 

become a partner of Techarenan, a platform for innovation 

and entrepreneurship with a focus on sustainability. Fortnox 

is also a national partner to the NyföretagarCentrum 

organisation,

which has a clear focus on young entrepreneurs, diversity, 

inclusion and equality.

Climate compensation for our climate 

footprint
In association with climate neutrality, in 2021 Fortnox adopted 

a strategy for reducing its climate footprint and chose to 

climate compensate in three different projects:

The solar power project in Godawari, India. The project 

is certified in accordance with Clean Development 

Mechanism (CDM) and verified by the Gold Standard. 

Further information about the project at www.fortnox.se

The tree-planting and forest preservation project, Tropical 

Mix, in Panama. The project is verified by the Gold Standard. 

Further information about the project at www.fortnox.se

Cutting-edge carbon capture and storage project, 

Climeworks Direct Air Capture, in Iceland. Further 

information about the project at www.fortnox.se

The EU Green Deal’sl aim is to make Europe a climate-neutral 

continent by 2050 and achieve goals of significantly reducing 

emissions and investing in cutting-edge research and 

innovation. This is Fortnox’s way of supporting these objectives, 

today.

Significant events during the year
Fortnox has become a gold partner of Techarenan during 2021. 

Here, coworkers have contributed with expertise in areas 

such as digital HR and development. We have, moreover, 

participated in the Ekonomi & Företag trade fair in Kista, where 

we contributed with tools and know-how about how agencies 

become more profitable. During 2021, Fortnox established 

a collaboration with AVN for Accountants. Together we have 

developed a Fortnox Masterclass containing a framework 

with seven steps. In this way, agency managers are not only 

guided to work smarter, but also to be more successful without 

compromising family or health.

During 2022
Fortnox continuously works to continue creating civic 

engagement that makes a difference. During 2020, Fortnox 

developed a strategy within this field and continues on 

this chosen path with the chosen tracks of innovation, 

entrepreneurship, children and youth, digitisation, research and 

health.
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Responsible supplier chain
Fortnox wants to be involved in driving change where the company can make a difference, and is particularly keen to do so 

with our customers, business partners and other stakeholders. In terms of the company’s operations and its largest climate 

footprint, it is the procurement requirement in the purchasing of goods and services where the greatest difference can be made. 

For Fortnox, it is important that suppliers not only take responsibility for the environment but also follow business ethics, 

economic, social, labour law, health and safety requirements in the course of their procurement and purchasing activities.

Resource utilisation
The purchasing of electronics is the area where Fortnox 

has the largest climate footprint, 60%. Fortnox works here 

in a conscious way both when we purchase and when we 

decommission electronics. It is here where Fortnox strives 

for circularity. When purchasing electronics, Fortnox selects 

suppliers that have high environmental standards. Fortnox 

collaborates with a supplier that enables a high level of 

recycling. In 2021, 91% of the electronics that Fortnox 

decommissioned were reused. Fortnox has a routine to be 

able to intentionally decommission electronics. In addition, 

Fortnox strives to increase the utilisation rate and longevity of 

the electronics used within the organisation. The company is 

aware that the manufacturing of electronics such as phones, 

computers and computer monitors leads to increased water 

use and impacts on biodiversity, as well as increased use of 

land and natural resources. By using purchased electronics 

in a conscious way, we can make a difference, which can lead 

to reduced water impact and consideration being given to 

biodiversity and other planetary boundaries.

Make a difference with the suppliers 
Fortnox has a responsibility to conduct business in a

sustainable and ethical manner. This encompasses the entire 

supply chain, meaning that even the company’s suppliers of 

products, systems or services are expected to act ethically 

and sustainably.

Expectations of Fortnox suppliers are described in the 

Supplier Code, that is based on the UN’s Global Compact 

principles. It clarifies the company’s expectations and 

minimum requirements in terms of legal compliance, business 

ethics, human rights and labour law, health and safety, and 

the environment.

On-site purchasing process
During 2021, the process of purchasing systems and cloud-

based services improved. This central process helps Fortnox 

to make more risk-balanced procurement decisions. In 

association with the development of the process, a review 

of existing suppliers linked to systems and services has also 

been carried out.

Increased liability 2022
In line with new legal requirements, sustainability is expected 

to develop further with social aspects and human rights 

playing increasingly central roles. In parallel, increasing 

demands are placed on transparency in the supply chain. The 

EU is preparing a law requiring companies to respect human 

rights. Fortnox’s industry has developed in the right direction, 

but much remains to be done in relation to human rights and 

working conditions in the supply chain. Fortnox wants to be 

involved in this and take responsibility for and influence it.

During 2022, Fortnox will take increased responsibility for 

increased control around our suppliers and put the necessary 

process and taxonomy in place. Fortnox is also working to 

ensure a responsible supply chain, that purchasing decisions 

are made in accordance with business ethics principles and 

that the supplier meets established sustainability criteria.

Sustainability

54
The report is a translation of the original Swedish report. In the event of a discrepancy between this translation and the Swedish original, the Swedish reports take precedence. 



Goals and outcomes
Area Result indicators Goal

Environment Digitally distributed share  of customer invoices, supplier invoices and
payslips of Fortnox customers, via Fortnox digital services.
2021: 50% 2020: 47% 2019: 42%

The company intends to increase the digitally distributed share to 100%.

Share of renewable electricity use in the Group’s server halls (not including the 
new acquisitions Capcito, Offerta and Fortnox Lagerbolag): 
Total: 100%
Share of renewable electricity use in the Group’s office premises (not including 
the new acquisition Capcito, that is fossil-free Dec 2021 - Feb 2022):
Total 100%

100% renewable electricity use in the server halls and office premises, and 
continuous monitoring and measuring within the area.

Fortnox total climate footprint 2021: 1083 tons CO2e. 

Share of reused and recycled electronics 2021 (decommissioned electronic): 
91% vs 9%

Climate footprint 2021: 35 tonnes CO2e

By 2025 reduce Fortnox climate footprint by:

Striving for a circular economy by recovering as much as possible. Setting up 
a strategy for reducing the climate impact of electronics by 2025.

Phasing out fossil fuels for business trips by car.

 Digital distribution- share of customers (in average) who has used the digital distribution of supplier invoices (34,9%), customer invoices (86.7%) or payment notifications 
(28.7%) during the last 12 months.

Area Goals

Social,
personnel
and
human
rights

Equal opportunities:
Coworkers, woman or man, feel they have the same 
opportunities for advancement at the company: 
Current situation: 4.5 (on a 5-point scale)

Fortnox’s goal is to maintain or improve the current high level. Management’s assessment is that 
the business culture is so strong that the company has an opportunity to attain a higher level than at 
present, and thus wants to invest in reaching the highest possible level.

Men/women in senior positions, Board of
Directors and management, as well as the
entire company as of 2021-12-31. Men Women

The entire Group including managers 61% 39% Fortnox strives for an even distribution of the proportion of women and men working in the

Board of Directors                                                                                              company as a whole, as well as in senior positions.   67% 33% 

Group management 78% 22%

Other managers 66% 34%

5

5

Result indicators

Area Result indicators

Outcome 
2019

Outcome 
2020

Outcome 
2021 

Goals

Coworkers Continuous follow up of coworkers in selected focus areas (on right in the table) with 

associated key  figures.

Satisfied coworker

index 4.4 4.1 4.1 4.2 

Leadership index 4.2 4.2 4.1 4.0

Attendance rates 95 97 98 97

Perceived health 3.9 3.8 3.9  4.0

Area Result indicators 2019 2020 2021 2025 2030

Anti-corruption Share of coworkers that have read and signed the anti-corruption policy, %. 0 100 86* 100 100

Number of notifications via Fortnox Whistleblower 0 0 0

Share of coworkers who have received training in our Code of Conduct %. 0 0 0 100 100

* Figure does not include employees in Capcito.
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Risk management
A number of sustainability risks and how we manage them are set out below. The risks are reviewed annually and selected on 

the basis of the last risk analysis.

Area Risk Management

Environment Fortnox operations mean that we use a lot of IT. This was confirmed
by the climate calculations for 2021 where procurement of
electronics within “purchased goods” was the area with the
greatest climate impact.

Work consciously with the disposal and recycling of equipment that is decommissioned. 
Routines within the area are under development. Draw up a strategy within the area with the 
objective of a circular economy.

The company’s coworkers must travel to a certain extent in order to 
work and conduct business. Business travel had a climate footprint 
of 35 tonnes CO2e in 2021.

Commuting to and from work had a climate footprint of 216 tonnes 
CO2e.

That Fortnox complies with the policy document Guidelines Travel. Measurement and 
monitoring within the area is conducted in addition to improvement measures within 
specific leasing agreements. Agreements with existing petrol-driven vehicles expire 2022 
and will not be renewed.

In 2022, Fortnox will make improvements to facilitate more sustainable travel to and from 
work.

Undesirable effects on biodiversity. Increase controls in the supply chain and conscious procurement and decommissioning of
electronics.

Policy: Environmental Policy

Area Risk Management

Social,
personnel
and human
rights

That coworkers are discriminated against or offended on the basis of the di erent grounds 
for discrimination: gender, transgender identity or expression, ethnicity, nationality, religion 
or other belief, disability, sexual orientation, and age.

Leadership programs highlight these issues. Coworker surveys 
with specific questions about this area.

Training in Sustainable Leadership was conducted during the year. 

In 2022, develop annual training packages based on the Code of
Conduct for coworkers.

That the recruitment process is discriminatory. Training for all managers with personnel recruitment

responsibilities with a diversity perspective and a focus on skills-
based recruitment.

There is a risk that no continuous follow-up of coworkership, leadership, attendance rates 
and perceived health takes place.

Continuous monitoring of key  gures, education and proactive 

health work.

Skills availability in the future. Work for an attractive employer brand both internally and

externally and promote a good working environment for our 
coworkers to create good ambassadors for Fortnox.

Collaboration with schools and networks to secure skills in the 
future.

Continuously work with the training and development of coworkers 
so that the internal competence meets the skills requirements that 
lie ahead of us.

Maintain a continuous conversation cycle as well as a close follow-
up through, for example, coworker surveys.

Assess ongoing needs and opportunities for establishment at 
relevant locations to secure and safeguard skills availability.

Policy: Occupational health and safety policy, equal treatment policy, and guidelines for accessibility, against victimization, bullying and harassment, as relating to alcohol and 
drugs.
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Area Risk Management

Anti 
corruption 

The greatest risk is concentrated on the subsidiary Fortnox Finance (Finans) and its 
operations. The risk primarily relates to unauthorised influence on decisions, internally and 
externally, through the giving and taking of bribes. This can also include situations where 
someone exploits their position for their own or the benefit of others.

Anti-corruption policy that all coworkers within the activities 
concerned must have knowledge of, and signed up to. In 2022, to be 
supplemented with a survey to develop and capture more potential 
perceived events within the organisation.

All coworkers have the opportunity to report anonymously via the 
Fortnox Whistleblower system.

Policy: Anti-corruption policy Finans AB, Anti-corruption policy Fortnox AB

Area Risk Management

Governance
& Finance

Changing economic conditions due to government regulations, increased legal requirements, changed 
economic situations, climate change.

Continuously work with business intelligence and 
risk assessments.

Increased cyber threat in society increases vulnerability for Fortnox, coworkers and customers. Internal training and ensuring the protection of

company assets, coworkers and customers.

Lack of control in the supply chain when purchasing or procuring in relation to human rights or 
environmental considerations.

That our Supplier Code is applied in
all procurements and guides our suppliers. During 
2022, control of the company’s suppliers will be 
established.

If our platforms are perceived as stable and reliable, there is a risk that future success will be impaired if 
Fortnox fails to build and maintain this perception in relation to Fortnox and its platforms.

To take responsibility every day for what we do 
creates high credibility with the customer. That 
Fortnox conducts threat and vulnerability analyses.

Liquidity and  nancing risk refers to the risk of not having access to cash or unutilized credit facilities to fulfil 

payment obligations and carry out the necessary investments in the business operations. The company
finances its operations mainly through equity and its own cash  flows.

To take responsibility every day and follow 
established routines and processes. Moreover, 
continuously work with risk assessments linked to 
the area.

The activities of certain subsidiaries are subject to laws and other rules with respect to AML/CFT, which 
means they must take measures to resist and combat money laundering and terrorist  nancing. Failure to 
comply with applicable laws and regulations may result in penalties in the form of a reprimand or warning,
 fines or other actions, and may ultimately result in the withdrawal of the right to use authorisations.

To have a continuously well-functioning compliance 
that can implement, adapt, monitor and otherwise 
conduct business activities in accordance with 
applicable rules and authorisation requirements.

Policy: Internal governance and control policy, Finance manual
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UN Global Compact

Since autumn 2021, Fortnox has been a member of one of the 

world’s largest sustainability initiatives, UN Global Compact, 

which is based on the ten fundamental responsibilities in 

the areas of human rights, labour, environment and anti-

corruption. Read more about Global Compact and the ten 

principles here.

With over 13,000 member companies and organisations in 

more than 170 countries, Global Compact is a valuable voice. 

The voluntary initiative has its roots in the World Economic 

Forum 1999. The programme was officially launched in the 

summer, 2020. The aim was to mobilise a global movement 

within the business community for a better and more 

sustainable future.

As a member, Fortnox is committed to, among other things:

Actively work with sustainability issues and to report 

annually on the progress of the company’s sustainability 

work to the UN,

make Global Compact a part of the company’s strategy, 

culture and day-to-day work,

participate in collaborative projects contributing to the 

UN’s global goals for sustainable development.

Fortnox’s work with UN Global Compact is conducted as 

follows:

Fortnox’s Sustainability Policy and Code of Conduct for 

coworkers are based on Global Compact’s ten principles.

The Code of Conduct for suppliers Fortnox uses, the 

Supplier Code, is based on Global Compact’s ten principles.

Fortnox has also begun with work to develop a 

structure and metric for requirements and follow-up, 

with the goal of creating a more sustainable supply 

chain.

In the sustainability strategy, Fortnox has clarified which 

of the UN’s global goals for sustainable development the 

company contributes to in its work by working according 

to the strategy’s focus areas and ambitions.

Fortnox intends to submit a CoP (Communication 

on Progress) to the UN describing the company’s 

contribution.

As of the financial year 2021, Fortnox reports in the 

company’s GRI index, in the Annual and Sustainability 

Report, which of Global Compact’s ten principles its work 

has covered and where within the report it is possible to 

read about this.
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EU Taxonomy
The EU Taxonomy Regulation, that was adopted by the European Parliament in June, constitutes a framework for determining 

which economic activities are to be considered environmentally sustainable. For an economic activity to be classified as 

environmentally sustainable, it should contribute significantly to one or more of the six environmental objectives defined, 

should not cause significant damage to any other of the objectives, and should meet minimum sustainability requirements. The 

conditions for ”substantial contribution” and ”significant damage” for different economic activities shall be further specified using 

so-called technical review criteria.

The purpose of EU’s taxonomy is to help investors identify and compare environmentally sustainable investments through a 

common classification system for environmentally sustainable economic activities. A classification system for environmentally 

sustainable activities, a green taxonomy, is therefore a key measure in the framework of the EU Action Plan for financing 

sustainable growth. The taxonomy is an important tool for achieving the EU’s climate objectives and the goals of the EU’s own 

green growth strategy, the European Green Deal.

Fortnox has reviewed its operations using technical review criteria with the support of external advisors. During the audit, 

regarding the “eligibility” of the financial year 2021, no activity defined in the taxonomy was identified. See Fortnox’s reporting as 

shown in the table below:

Total,
Mkr

Percentage covered by the taxonomy 
(%) (eligible)

Percentage not attributable to the taxonomy 
(%) (non-eligible)

Net turnover 932.0 0 100

Investments* 876.2 0 100

Operating costs 633.8 0 100

*Investments consist of the sum invested during the year for all tangible and intangible fixed assets including acquired assets.
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The Sustainability report has been prepared in accordance with Global Reporting Initiative Standards, Core level. The 2016 and 

2018 version of the standard has been applied. There also key indicators within the economic, environmental and social aspects.

GRI standard 2016
Disclosure number

GRI-INDEX

Disclosure title UNGC
Principle(s) and 
UN SDG(s)

Location of disclosure: page 
number(s), section(s) and/or 
URL(s)

Note/Remark

Organisational profile

102-1 Name of the organisation 3 See section  Fortnox in brief Within the Fortnox Group

102-2 Brands. Products and services 9 & 10. See sections Fortnox
Business platform and Fortnox
brand

102-3 Location of headquarters The head office is in Växjö. The company also has
offices in Malmö, Linköping and two offices in 
Stockholm.

102-4 Location of operations Significant activity in Sweden

102-5 Ownership and legal form Fortnox AB is the Parent Company in the Group. The
Group consists of eight directly and indirectly 
owned subsidiaries and one associated company. 
All subsidiaries are Swedish private joint stock 
companies.

102-6 Markets served 10 & 29-31 See sections Fortnox
Business platform and Our
customers

102-7 Scale of the organisation 84. See section Administration
report

102-8 Information on employees and other
workers

49-51, 88 & 123. See sections
Attractive employer and

Administration report

102-9 Supply chain 36. See section  Our value chain Number of suppliers, geographic location and
estimated value of purchases are not reported.

102-10 Significant changes to the
organisation and its supply chain

36 & 55. See sections Our value
chain and Goals and outcomes

Changes have taken place in association with 
acquisitions and more suppliers have been added. 
During 2021, the organisation’s storage of customer 
data was moved to new server halls.

102-11 Precautionary principle or approach 42 See section Climate impact We apply the precautionary principle.

102-12 External initiatives and principles to
which the organisation subscribes

58. See section UN Global Compact

102-13 Membership in industry and
stakeholder organisations

53. See section Civic engagement

Strategy

102-14                              Statement from senior decision
maker

6. See section Chairman comments
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Ethics and Integrity

102-16 Values, principles, standards and
norms of behaviour

34. See section Sustainability
management

Governance

102-18 Governance structure 19. See section Administration
report

Stakeholder
engagement

102-40 List of stakeholder groups 38. See section Stakeholders

102-41 Share of collective bargaining
agreements

0%. No collective bargaining agreements.

102-42 Identifying and selecting
stakeholders

37. See section Stakeholders

102-43 Approach to stakeholder engagement 37. See section Stakeholders

102-44 Key topics and concerns raised 38. See section Stakeholders

Reporting practice

102-45 Entities included in the consolidated
 financial statements

Covers the entire Fortnox Group.

102-46 Defining report content and topic
boundaries

39. See section  Materiality analysis The process has taken into account the Act on 
mandatory sustainability reporting.

102-47 List of material topics 39. See section Materiality analysis

102-48 Restatements of information

102-49 Significant changes in reporting
compared to previous years

Fortnox has included SDG, GRI, and signed UNGC since 
the accounts for the previous financial year.

102-50 Reporting period 1 January 2021 - 31 December 2021

102-51 Date of publication of most recent
report and its contents

25 february 2021

102-52 Reporting cycle Annually

102-53 Contact point for questions regarding
the report

hallbarhet@fortnox.se

102-54 Claims of reporting in accordance
with the GRI Standards

We have applied the GRI Standards and indicators at 
Core level.

102-55 GRI content index 60-63. See section GRI index

102-56 External assurance 73 & 83. See section Business
governance report

No verification by external auditor/s has taken place. 
The Fortnox financial statements and sustainability 
report in accordance with ÅRL are audited by the 
auditor.

103-1 to 103-3 Customer satisfaction, NKI Without measurement at relationship level.

103-1 to 103-3 Loyalty program, NPS 37 & 51. See sections Stakeholders 
and Attractive employer

Measurement in progress, monthly.
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Materiality sustainability issue: Financial stability

103-1 to 103-3 Sustainability management SDG 8.2, 8.3, 8.4,
8.5, 8.8

52 & 55. See section Financial
stability

GRI 201: Economic
performance

201-1 Growth and profitability 65 See section Five-year review

Materiality sustainability issue: Civic engagement

103-1 to 103-3 Sustainability management SDG 11.5, 11.6,
17.1, 17.16 

53. See section Civic engagement

413-1 Civic engagement 53. See section Civic engagement Covers the entire Fortnox Group.

Materiality sustainability issue: Climate impact

103-1 to 103-3 Sustainability management Principles 7, 8, 9
SDG 13,1, 13,3, 7.3

41-42. See section Climate impact

GRI 302: Energy

302-1 Renewable energy use in office
premises and server halls

55. See section Goals and outcomes

GRI 305: Emissions

305-1 Scope 1: Direct GHG emissions 41-42. See section Climate impact Base year for climate calculations is 2020.

305-1 Scope 2: Indirect GHG emissions 41-42. See section  Climate impact Base year for climate calculations is 2020.

305-1 Scope 3: Other indirect GHG emissions 41-42. See section  Climate impact Base year for climate calculations is 2020.

GRI 304: Biodiversitet

304-1 Procurement of products 54-55. See sections Responsible
supplier chain and Goals and
outcomes

Purchases of products are not fully reported, but are 
estimated to be fully implemented.

Materiality sustainability issue: Sustainable business

103-1 to 103-3 Sustainability management Principle 10
SDG 16.4, 16.5, 
16.7, 10.1

44-46. See section Sustainable
business

205-3 Anti-corruption 44 & 55. See sections Sustainable
business and Goals and outcomes

418-1 Information security and protection
of customer data

44. See section Sustainable
business

Number of cases linked to customer data is not 
reported.
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Materiality sustainability issue: Attractive employer

103-1 to 103-3 Sustainability management Principle 6
SDG 9.3, 10.1,
12.2, 12.4, 12.5, 
12.6, 12.8 

49-51. See section Attractive
employer

GRI 401: Employment

401- Employee survey- NMI 55. See section Attractive employer

401- Employee survey with regard to
leadership - LI

55. See section Goals and outcomes

401-1 New employee hires and employee
turnover

51. See section Attractive employer

GRI 403: Occupational
health and safety

403-3 Health promotion work 50. See section Attractive employer Only the number of accidents is reported.

403-2 Perceived health 51 & 55. See sections Attractive
employer and Goals and outcomes

403-2 Attendance rates/Sick leave 51 & 55. See sections Attractive
employer and Goals and outcomes

403-9 Incidents and accidents 51. See section Attractive employer No high risk of accidents in the business operations

GRI 404: Training and
education

404-1 Average hours of training per year per
employee

Statistics not available. We have the opportunity to 
follow up the number of training hours in the time 
reporting system but there is no routine.

Materiality sustainability issue: Diversity, inclusion and equality

103-1 to 103-3 Sustainability management Principles 1, 2, 6
SDG 5.1, 5.5, 5.B, 
10.1, 10.2

43. See section Diversity, inclusion
and equality

GRI 405: Diversity and
equality

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and
employees

55. See section Goals and outcomes Age is not reported. 

GRI 406: Non 
discrimination

406-1 Number of cases of discrimination
and their treatment

43. See section Diversity, inclusion
and equality

Zero tolerance. Statistics are not made public.

Materiality sustainability issue: Digitisation

103-1 to 103-3 Sustainability management SDG 9.2, 9.3, 9.5 47-48. See section Digitisation

305-3 Digitally distributed share of
customer invoices, supplier invoices 
and paychecks of Fortnox customer 
via Fortnox digital services

47 & 55. See sections Digitisation 
and Goals and outcomes

Materiality sustainability issue: Responsible supplier chain

103-1 to 103-3 Sustainability management Principles 3, 4, 5
SDG 9.3, 10.1,
12.2, 12.4, 12.5, 
12.6, 12.8

54. See section Responsible
supplier chain

102-9 Supplier chain 36 and 54. See sections Our value
chain and Responsible supplier
chain

308-1 Monitoring of Supplier Code and
review of suppliers

54. See section Responsible
supplier chain

This is planned to be automated in 2022.

305-3 Procurement of products and
materials

36 & 54. See sections Responsible
supplier chain and Our value chain
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Five year review
Performance 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Net sales, MSEK 932 694 532 374 272

Net sales growth % 34% 30% 42% 38% 44%

EBITDA 400 332 216 138 81

Operating profit (EBIT), MSEK 315 265 173 103 63

Profit for the year, MSEK 241 205 135 78 49

EBITDA margin % 43% 48% 41% 37% 30%

Operating margin (EBIT) % 34% 38% 32% 27% 23%

Profit margin % 26% 30% 25% 21% 18%

Capital structure 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Equity, MSEK 982 469 280 165 99

Total assets at the end of the year, MSEK 1,971 931 575 445 348

Working capital at the end of the year, MSEK 247 298 164 64 18

Equity/assets ratio % 50% 50% 49% 37% 28%

Return on equity% 33% 55% 61% 59% 62%

Per share data 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Earnings per share, SEK 0.4 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.1

Earnings per share after dilution, SEK 0.4 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.1

Equity per share after dilution, SEK 1.6 0.8 0.5 0.3 0.2

Operating cash  flow per share after dilution, SEK 0.52 0.45 0.32 0.19 0.15

Number of outstanding shares before dilution, 000s 609,740 601,350 597,850 597,150 596,200

Number of outstanding shares after dilution, 000s 609,740 602,920 602,920 601,350 602,350

Average number of outstanding shares, before dilution, 000s 607,940 602,920 597,580 596,730 588,730

Average number of outstanding shares, after dilution, 000s 608,480 602,920 602,660 601,680 594,520

Dividend per share, SEK 0.08 0.08 0.05 0.04 0.03

Calculations above are based on the number of shares after the stock split.

Employees 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Average number of employees 468 335 273 226 203

Number of employees at the end of the period 596 401 329 261 217

Net sales per employee, MSEK 2.0 2.1 1.9 1.7 1.3

Personnel cost per employee, MSEK 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.6

Customers 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

ARR, MSEK 693 553 445 309 219

ARPC, SEK 194 169 154 133 122

Number of customers at the end of the period, 000s 425 367 313 257 203
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Corporate governance report
Fortnox AB (publ) is a Swedish public listed company, corporate identity number 556469-6291, whose shares are listed on the 

NGM Nordic SME since 2007. Corporate governance refers to the tool that shareholders use, directly or indirectly, to control 

the company and its operations. Fortnox corporate governance is based on regulations such as Swedish legislation, the 

Companies Act, the Accounting Act, the Annual Accounts Act, Nasdaq/OMX Stockholm’s regulations for issuers, internal rules 

and regulations, and recommendations issued by relevant organisations, such as the Swedish Corporate Governance Board 

(Kollegiet för svensk bolagsstyrning). The company also applies the Swedish Corporate Governance Code (”The Code”), 

which can be applied to all Swedish companies whose shares are admitted to trading on a regulated market in Sweden.

Fortnox AB has chosen Nasdaq/OMX Stockholm’s regulations for issuers and the Code as Fortnox AB planned to change 

marketplace from NGM Nordic SME to Nasdaq/OMX Stockholm in 2022. 

No deviations from “The Code” or other regulations have taken place in 2021.

Shares and shareholders
The number of shares as of December 31, 2021 amounted to 60,974,470, distributed on between 34,491 shareholders. Each share 

corresponds to one vote at the AGM and gives equal rights to shares in the company’s assets and earnings. As of December 31, the 

largest single shareholder was First Kraft AB, whose holding was 20.6% of the shares. The ten largest shareholders accounted 

for 54.7% of the shares and votes in the company.

The company’s ten largest known shareholders as of December 31, 2021:

Shareholder Share

FIRST KRAFT AB  20.6%

STATE STREET BANK AND TRUST CO, W9 8.0%

SWEDBANK ROBUR TOTAL 6.0%

JP MORGAN CHASE BANK N.A.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   3.6%

MORGAN STANLEY & CO INTL PLC, W8IMY 3.4%

THE NORTHERN TRUST COMPANY 3.1%

BNY MELLON NA (FORMER MELLON), W9 3.1%

AMF PENSIONSFÖRSÄKRING AB 2.4%

SPILTAN TOTAL 2.4%

BENGTSSON, PEDER KLAS-ÅKE 2.1%

TOTAL TEN LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 54.7%
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Annual General Meeting
Annual General Meeting (AGM) is the highest decision-making body in Fortnox and constitutes the forum in which the 

shareholders exercise their influence. All shareholders who are registered in the share register and who have notified their 

participation in time have the right to attend and vote for their full holding. Shareholders may participate in the AGM in person or 

by proxy. The AGM is held within six months of the end of the financial year and normally takes place in Växjö.

Notice of the AGM is issued no earlier than six weeks and no later than four weeks before the AGM. The notice contains 

information about the registration, participation and voting at the meeting, an agenda with the issues to be addressed, 

information on the recommended dividend and the main content of other recommendations.

At the AGM, Fortnox shareholders decide, among other things, on:

Adoption of the Income Statement and the Balance Sheet as well as the Consolidated Result and Balance Sheet

Distribution of earnings

Discharge of the members of the board of directors and CEO from liability

Determination of fees to be paid to the board of directors and auditors

Election of board of directors members and chairman

Election of auditor

Resolutions concerning principles for establishing and instructing the Nomination Committee and its work

Guidelines for remuneration to senior executives

Introduction of incentive programme

Authorisation to decide on the issuance of new shares

Furthermore, shareholders decide on any future amendment to the company’s Articles of Association. The Articles of 

Association are the basic governing document for the company which states, among other things, the operations the company 

conducts, where the Board of Directors has its registered office, the size of the share capital and number of shares, the 

shareholders’ right to participate in the meeting, and the matters to be discussed therein. Information, such as the notice and 

recommendations prior to the AGM and minutes from the company’s previous meetings are published on the website fortnox.se.

Extraordinary general meetings are held if necessary and this occurred twice during 2021.

Annual General Meeting 2021
AGM for the financial year 2020 was held on 25 March, 2021. In view of the ongoing pandemic, the Board of Directors resolved 

that the meeting be held solely by postal vote in accordance with the Act on Temporary Extensions to Facilitate the Execution of 

General Meetings and Association Meetings in order to reduce the risk of contagion and secure shareholder safety. This meant 

that the Meeting was held without the physical attendance of shareholders, proxies and outsiders and that the voting rights 

could only be exercised by voting on recommendations in advance.

Maria Arnoldsson, Cirio Advokatbyrå, was elected as Chairman of the meeting. The AGM approved the balance sheet, and income 

statement. Furthermore, the consolidated statement of income and consolidated statement of financial position were approved. 

The Meeting discharged the Board of Directors and CEO from liability. Furthermore, the following main decisions were taken:

Election of Board of Directors and auditor
Andreas Kemi, Anna Frick, Magnus Gudéhn, Tuva Palm and Olof Hallrup were reelected as members of the Board of Directors. 

And Olof Hallrup was reelected as Chairman of the Board of Directors in accordance with the recommendation of the Nomination 

Committee. In accordance with the Nomination Committee’s recommendation, the authorized auditing company, KPMG AB, was 

elected as auditors. KPMG AB appointed Certified public accountant, Dan Beitner, as responsible for the audit of Fortnox.
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Fees
The fees to the Board of Directors was decided during the AGM, with SEK 460,000 paid to the Chairman and SEK 230,000 to each 

of the other Directors. It was decided that special fees for committee work shall be paid, with SEK 25,000 to members of the audit 

committee, SEK 50,000 to the Chairman of the audit committee, SEK 15,000 to the members of the remuneration committee and 

SEK 30,000 to the Chairman of the remuneration committee.

Dividend
In accordance with the recommendation of the Board of Directors and CEO, the AGM resolved to pay shareholders SEK 0.075 per 

share upon completion of the stock split, and that the remaining funds at the AGM’s disposal shall be carried forward.

Authorisation to decide on issuance of new shares
The AGM resolved to authorise the Board of Directors, in the period prior to the next AGM, to decide on one (or more) new issue/s 

of shares. The Board can decide to such an extent that the company’s share capital may be increased by an amount corresponding 

to a maximum of 10% of the registered share capital at the time of the meeting. The purpose of the authorisation is to be able to 

undertake or finance acquisitions or to finance existing operations.

Incentive programme
The AGM decided that an incentive programme shall be introduced by issuing a maximum of 250,000 warrants to the subsidiary, 

Fortnox Service AB, for onward transfer to senior management and other key personnel, at market value. Each warrant entitles 

the holder to subscribe for a new share in the company during the period April 1 to June 30, 2024.

The AGM approved all recommendations submitted to the AGM by the Board of Directors and Nomination Committee. All 

resolutions were adopted with the required majority.

Extraordinary General Meeting March 8, 2021
An Extraordinary General Meeting took place on 8 March, 2021 in order to enable the acquisition of Offerta Group AB through the 

issue of new shares. In view of the ongoing corona pandemic and in order to reduce the risk of contagion and secure shareholder 

safety, the Meeting was held solely by postal vote, without any physical attendance, and in accordance with temporary 

legislation. The Meeting resolved, in accordance with the Board of Directors’ recommendation, to authorise the Board to decide, 

with deviation from the pre-emptive rights of existing shareholders, on an issue of a maximum of 682,177 shares. In the event of a 

new issue pursuant to this authorisation, payment of shares in full or in part shall be made possible by off setting.

Extraordinary General Meeting December 27, 2021
An Extraordinary General Meeting took place on December 27, 2021. The Meeting was held solely by postal vote and in accordance 

with temporary legislation. This meant that the Meeting was held without the physical attendance of shareholders, proxies and 

outsiders and that the voting rights could only be exercised by voting on recommendations in advance as laid down in the notice.

The Meeting made the following main decisions:

New election of Board members
The Meeting resolved, in accordance with the Nomination Committee’s recommendation, that the Board of Directors shall consist 

of six Board members and that the Board member, Tuva Palm, is no longer included in the Board of Directors, and members Per 

Bertland and Lena Glader were newly elected to the Board. Current members of the Board, Anna Frick, Magnus Gudéhn, Olof 

Hallrup and Andreas Kemi remain as members of the Board of Directors, with Olof Hallrup as Chairman. The Meeting further 

resolved that Board fees for committee work decided by the AGM held March 25, 2021, shall continue to apply until the end of the 

next AGM.

Guidelines for remuneration to senior executives
The Meeting resolved, in accordance with the Board of Directors’ recommendation, to adopt guidelines for remuneration to senior 

executives. See Note 5 in the Annual Report 2021.
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Stock split
The Meeting resolved, in accordance with the Board of Directors’ recommendation, that the number of shares in the company be 

increased by dividing each share into ten (10) shares (a 10-for-1 stock split). In order to implement. the stock split, the Meeting also 

decided to amend the Articles of Association regarding the limits of the share capital and number of shares.

Amending the Articles of Association
The Meeting resolved, in accordance with the Board of Directors’ recommendation, on the amendment of Articles of Association 

regarding the object of activity, the composition of the Board of Directors and auditor’s term of office, notice of the AGM, and the 

enabling of postal voting for future AGMs.

The Meeting approved all recommendations submitted to the Meeting by the Board of Directors and Nomination Committee. 

Annual General Meeting 2022
The Annual General Meeting 2022 will take place on the March 30, 2022 and be held in the Fortnox AB business premises at 

Bollgatan 3 B, Växjö, Sweden. Registration for The AGM can be made up to and including 24 March, 2022.

Shareholders will also be offered the opportunity to exercise their voting rights by postal vote. Specifications on how the postal 

vote is to be held and registration to the AGM are published in the AGM notice.

Information about the registration to the AGM and recommendations from the Nomination Committee will be published on 

the company’s website no later than March 1, 2022. Fortnox’s audited Annual Report, proxy form and recommendations for 

resolution will be made available at the company’s head office and on the website by latest March 9, 2022.

Nomination Committee
According to the Code, the Nomination Committee shall consist of at least three members, a majority of whom shall be 

independent in relation to the company and Group Management. The AGM decides on guidelines for the appointment of 

members. The Nomination Committee performs the duties set out in the AGM’s instructions and the Code. The main tasks of the 

Committee are to propose the Chairman of the AGM, the Board of Directors and Chairman of the board and Directors’ fee and 

auditors’ fees.

The AGM that was held on March 25, 2021, decided that the Nomination Committee for 2022 shall consist of members appointed 

by each of the three largest shareholders as of the last day of trading in August, 2021, together with Chairman of the Board. 

The Chairman of the Nomination Committee shall be the member appointed by the largest shareholder, unless the members 

agree otherwise. Based on the shareholding, the largest shareholders are consulted, in turn, about a place on the Nomination 

Committee.

The Nomination Committee for the AGM 2022 is represented by:

Mathias Svensson (Chairman), First Kraft AB (20.6%)

Monica Åsmyr, Swedbank Robur (6.3%)

Pär Andersson, Spiltan Aktiefonder (2.3%)

Olof Hallrup, Chairman of the Board of Directors, Fortnox

Together, First Kraft AB, Swedbank Robur and Spiltan Aktiefonder represent over 29% of the total number of votes in Fortnox AB 

according to shareholdings as of August 31, 2021.

The Nomination Committee proposes to the AGM reelection of the Board members Per Bertland, Anna Frick, Lena Glader, Magnus 

Gudéhn and Olof Hallrup, for a term extending until the end of the next AGM. Andreas Kemi has declined reelection. Furthermore, 

the Nomination Committee proposes the reelection of Olof Hallrup as Chairman of the Board of Directors.

The Nomination Committee has prioritised the issue of diversity in terms of competence, experience and background, as well as 

gender balance in the Board.
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If the Meeting follows the Nomination Committee’s recommendation, the proportion of female Board of Directors will be 

increased to 40%.

The Nomination Committee proposes that members of the Board of Directors shall receive fees totalling SEK 2.2 million in 2022, 

to be distributed as follows:

Chairman of the Board of Directors SEK 700,000; each of the other members SEK 300,000; chairman of the audit committee SEK 

125,000; members of the audit committee SEK 50,000; chairman of the remuneration committee SEK 50,000, and members of the 

remuneration committee SEK 25,000.

Board of Directors
The second highest decision-making body after the AGM is the Board of Directors, which has ultimate responsibility for the 

Fortnox organisation and management as well as control of the company’s financial conditions. According to Fortnox’s Articles 

of Association, the Board of Directors shall consist of at least three and at most ten members, elected each year at the AGM to 

serve until the end of the next AGM. There is no rule on the maximum length of time a Director may serve on the Board.

The AGM 2021 reelected the sitting Board members Andreas Kemi, Anna Frick, Magnus Gudéhn, Tuva Palm and Olof Hallrup. The 

AGM reelected Olof Hallrup as Chairman of the Board.

The extraordinary General Meeting held on December 27, 2021, approved the resignation of Board member, Tuva Palm, and the 

election of new Board members, Per Bertland and Lena Glader.

Olof Hallrup (Chairman of the Board) is deemed to be independent in relation to the Company and its Management, but not in 

relation to major shareholders. Other Directors are deemed to be independent in relation to the company and management, and 

in relation to major shareholders. The Board fulfils the requirement under the Code that a majority of the Board’s members shall 

be independent in relation to the company and Management and that at least two Board members shall also be independent in 

relation to the company’s major shareholders.

Further information about the Board of Directors and Management can be found at fortnox.se.

The work of the Board
During the financial year, a total of nineteen (19) Board meetings were convened at which the minutes were recorded. At the 

scheduled meetings, the Board discussed the agenda in accordance with the Board’s rules of procedure, sush as business 

sitiuation, forecasts, economic outcomes, liquidity, annual accounts and interim reports. In addition, overall strategic issues were 

adressed, structure and organisational changes, as well as acquisitions. A recurring issue has been the Group’s efficiency and 

compliance with the financial targets.
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Four of the Board meetings were held prior to the release of interim reports. One meeting addressed operational planning and the 

review of business plans and strategies. At one ordinary Board meeting, the Group’s auditors reported their observations from the 

examination of the Group’s internal control and  financial statements. The constituent meeting was held after the Annual General 

Meeting and after the Extraordinary General Meeting in December, where decisions were made on, among other things, company 

registration, the Board’s rules of procedure, CEO instructions included reporting instructions and plan for regular board meetings 

during the year. 

The Board of Directors has had several additional Board meetings during the year which, for example, addressed decisions 

relating to acquisitions. Prior to the Board meetings, the relevant documentation regarding the matters to be addressed was sent 

to all members. The material includes the CEO’s written report of the operations which is also sent to the Board every month.

The CEO of Fortnox participates in Board meetings as rapporteur. The CFO served as secretary for the Board during 2021, who 

was an adjunct member of the Board. If necessary, other officials have also presented matters to the Board. These officials were 

present for work where they acted as rapporteur. The Board decides on written rules of procedure for its work and on the CEO’s 

instructions, including reporting instructions for the Group CEO. The rules of procedure determine the work that is required over 

and above the Companies Act and the Articles of Association.

Board of Directors 2021

Name Position Director since Independant1) Board meetings Audit committee Remuneration committee

Olof Hallrup Chairman 2018 Yes/No 19/19 6/6

Andreas Kemi Member 2018 Yes/Yes 18/19 6/6

Anna Frick Member 2016 Yes/Yes 17/19 2/2

Magnus Gudéhn Member 2019 Yes/Yes 19/19 2/2

Lena Glader2) Member 2021 Yes/Yes 1/19

Per Bertland2) Member 2021 Yes/Yes 1/19

Tuva Palm3) Member 2020 Yes/Yes 18/19 6/6

1. Refers to independence in relation to the company and its Management or independence in relation to major shareholders in the company.
2. Newly elected in connection with the Extraordinary General Meeting December 27, 2021
3. Resigned in connection with the Extraordinary General Meeting December 27, 2021

For information about related party transactions see Note 29 in the Annual Report.

Role of the Chairman
The Chairman organises and leads the work of the Board of Directors so that it complies with the Swedish Companies Act, other 

laws and ordinances, rules governing stock market companies, and the Board’s internal governance documents. The Chairman 

follows the company’s operations via continuous contacts with the CEO and is responsible for ensuring that other Board 

members receive satisfactory information and documents. The Chairman also ensures that a continuous evaluation is made of 

the work of the Board and the CEO, and that the results of this evaluation are communicated to the Nomination Committee. The 

Chairman represents the company in matters of ownership.

Evaluation of the Board’s work
The Chairman of the Board continually conducts an evaluation of the Board’s work through talks with the Board via individual 

discussions with the members. Several different issues are highlighted, such as the climate of collaboration, breadth of 

knowledge and how the Board’s work has been carried out. The intention is to gain a picture of how the members perceive that 

the Board’s work has been conducted and what measures can be taken to streamline and improve the work. The Chairman 

reports the evaluation on an ongoing basis to the Board and once annually to the Nomination Committee. The Board continually 

evaluates the CEO’s work by measuring the development of the business and by reviewing the CEO’s written reports which are 

submitted monthly to the Board. Continuously in connection with the Board meeting, the CEO is evaluated where he does not 

participate. The results of the evaluation are thereafter provided as feedback to the CEO by the Chairman of the Board.
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Corporate Management’s working methods
The CEO has designated a Corporate Management Team. During 2021, the team has consisted of the Group’s CEO, the CFO, and 

the Business Area Managers for Byrån, Företagande, Entreprenören, Pengar, Offerta and Firman. The Corporate Management 

Team meets every fourteenth day, on average, but also works very closely with near daily contact. During the year, matters of an 

operative and strategic nature have been managed continually. When necessary, larger meetings have been held where senior 

executives from the Fortnox Group and Product Managers participated. Further information about Group Management can be 

found at  fortnox.se. 

Remuneration
Remuneration to the Board of Directors for the next  financial year is determined annually during the Annual General Meeting. 

For 2021, the AGM resolved that remuneration totalling SEK 1,380,000 (1,380,000) be distributed among the Directors, of which 

SEK 460,000 (460,000) will be paid to the Chairman and SEK 230,000 (230,000) to each of the other Directors elected by the AGM. 

At the meeting, it was resolved that for work within the audit committee, the Chairman of the committee will receive an annual 

remuneration of SEK 50,000 (50,000) and that the other committee members receive an annual remuneration of SEK 25,000 

(25,000). It was also resolved that for work within the remuneration committee, the Chairman of the committee will receive an 

annual remuneration of SEK 30,000 (30,000) and that the other committee members receive an annual remuneration of SEK 

15,000 (15,000).

At the Extraordinary General Meeting held December 27, 2021, in accordance with the Board of Directors’ recommendation, 

guidelines for remuneration to senior executives were adopted. See Note 5 in the Annual Report 2021. 

Further information about remuneration to the CEO and senior executives, see Note 5 in the Annual Report 2021. 

Fees are paid to the auditors on the basis of current agreements and for extra contributions according to invoice. 

Auditors
Auditors are elected by the AGM for a period running up until the end of the AGM during the financial year after the election. The 

auditor is assigned to review Fortnox’s annual report, accounting records and the administration performed by the Board and 

CEO. The auditor reports their observations to the shareholders at the AGM through the audit report.

The auditing firm KPMG AB was elected by the AGM 2021 as auditor for the period until the end of the AGM 2022. Auditor-in-

charge has been Dan Beitner and KPMG AB has carried out the audit in Fortnox and in significant subsidiaries. The auditors 

have participated in the Board meeting prior to the release of the Annual Report, when the auditors reported on significant 

observations from the audit. Furthermore, the auditors have participated in three audit committee meetings where an oral and 

written debriefing regarding internal control was provided.

Audit committee
During 2021, the audit committee has consisted of Andreas Kemi, as Chairman, with Tuva Palm and Olof Hallrup as members. 

The audit committee exercises oversight over the Group’s financial accounting and reporting, as well as audits carried out. This 

includes tasks such as ensuring the quality of the Group’s financial reporting through reviewing interim reports, annual and 

sustainability reports, evaluating the work of the auditors, and reviewing and assessing the Group’s internal control work. The 

committee is responsible for ensuring that the Group complies with applicable laws and regulations, and monitoring legal and tax 

issues. 

 

The Audit Committee has met six (6) times during the year and has, among other things, dealt with internal governance and 

control, the auditor’s audit and reporting and internal financial reporting.
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Internal control and risk management regarding  financial reporting
The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s internal governance and control, and that financial reporting complies 

with laws and regulations that apply to companies listed on Nasdaq/OMX Stockholm, Swedish legislation regarding the 

Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act, and the Swedish Corporate Governance Code. In addition to these, Fortnox has 

established internal instructions, procedures, systems, and a role and responsibility definition aimed to fulfill a good internal 

control.

Control environment
Fortnox’s internal control work is aimed at ensuring compliance with regulatory frameworks and guidelines, and ensuring the 

implementation of  financial reporting. Assurance is provided by creating good preconditions for control activities related to 

significant processes in the financial reporting.

The control environment forms the basis of Fortnox’s internal control and includes the way the Board and management act and 

sets ”the tone at the top”, assigns responsibilities and authority within the organisation, informs about the business objectives, 

and conveys overall values around the internal control.

The control environment means creating a healthy risk culture and is given effect through factors such as corporate culture, 

integrity, ethics, competence, management philosophy, organisational culture, authority and responsibility, as well as related 

governing documents and instructions.

Fortnox operations are organised in business areas. The business area managers are responsible for regularly monitoring 

the development of internal control within Fortnox. The business area managers are part of the Group management. 

Fortnox’s decentralised organisation with several subsidiaries places great demands on them and assumes that division of 

responsibilities within and between the Group’s management team, the business area’s management, and the subsidiaries’ 

management and Boards is well defined and that the communication between these functions performs well.

Rules of procedure and authorisation instructions for Boards’ and CEO’s instructions for subsidiaries are reviewed and resolved 

at constituent Board meetings in the subsidiaries. Instructions on governing documents, accounting principles, guidelines 

and procedures are provided to concerned coworkers on a regular basis. The authorisation regime in Fortnox AB and in all 

subsidiaries regulates the decision-making process for important agreements, major investments, and other significant 

decisions and constitutes an important part of the Group’s control environment.

Risk management
The risk assessment forms the basis of the internal control, as well as the starting point for the controls that are designed, 

documented and continuously evaluated. Fortnox has established an annual process for business-wide risk management in 

order to give the Board and management an increased insight into the risks the organisation is exposed to.

Fortnox’s risk management framework shall promote transparency, so that decisions and investments are in line with the 

business’s risk appetite, and that effective measures and controls are applied to manage significant risks. The processes for risk 

assessment and measures are designed to ensure that the risks Fortnox are exposed to are within the tolerance levels decided 

by the Board in accordance with the Fortnox Risk Management Policy.

For a detailed description of  financial and share-related risks, refer to Directors Report and Note 25 in the Annual Report. 

Follow-up
Monitoring activities evaluate the existence and functioning of internal control. The company uses self-assessment to evaluate 

the effectiveness and efficiency of internal control, such as determining whether control activities exist and are effective. Self-

evaluation is carried out at least annually and the results thereof are reported to management and audit committees.
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The Group’s and subsidiaries’ compliance with Fortnox’s minimum requirements for internal control and financial reporting 

processes is also conducted on an ongoing basis by the CFO and/or the relevant officers. The Group’s subsidiaries report income 

and balance sheets monthly as well as relevant key figures. The Group’s consolidated monthly report is analysed by the Group 

management.

Information and communication
An important part of internal control work is to ensure effective dissemination of relevant information to internal and relevant 

external stakeholders. Fortnox shall ensure that all applicable policies and guidelines are made available to the relevant parties. 

Furthermore, that information exchange takes place continuously within the framework of regular business follow-up and internal 

meetings.

Financial reporting is governed by the Group’s  financial handbook, which is updated and communicated to management and the 

relevant employees annually. The finance department has ongoing operative responsibility for financial reporting. Finance and 

accounting officers in the Group regularly gather to discuss issues related to financial reporting, in order to ensure the Group’s 

guidelines and instructions are followed and to identify any areas for improvement. The Group’s financial development is also 

discussed at each Board meeting and the Board receives detailed monthly reports from the CEO regarding the financial position 

and the development of the business.

Internal audit
In view of the Group’s structure and processes for internal control over financial reporting, the Board of Directors has not deemed it 

appropriate to establish a special internal audit function.

Information
The information provided in the company complies with the information policy for the Fortnox Group. The policy specifies what 

should be communicated, and by whom and in what way the information should be disclosed, to ensure the external and internal 

information is complete, accurate, relevant, clear and reliable. Fortnox information to shareholders and other stakeholders is 

provided via publication of press releases, financial statements and the interim reports, the annual report and company’s website
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Group management

Tommy Eklund
Group CEO

Born: 1976 

Employed since: 2020 

Education: Tommy holds a Master’s of Science in physics and computer 

science from Linköping University.

Background: Tommy has extensive experience of leading companies and 

businesses within the tech industry and has previously been CEO for the IST 

Group AB. Prior to that, he has held several leading roles within the Saab 

Group.

Other positions and commitments: Board member of Linnaeus University 

(Linnéuniversitetet).

Own and related parties shareholdings: 100,000 call options issued by the 

major owner, First Kraft AB.

Roger Hartelius
CFO and deputy CEO

Born: 1972 

Employed since: 2017 

Education: Roger has a Master’s Degree in economics from Linnaeus 

University (Linnéuniversitetet).

Background: Roger has held leading roles in international tech companies, 

among others, CEO and CFO of IST International AB, CFO of Readly International 

AB and CFO of Sörman Information AB.

Own and related parties shareholdings: 350,000 shares and 2,000 warrants 

for series 2021/2024.

Camilla Skoog
Business Area Manager Byrån

Born: 1973 

Employed since: 2013 

Education: Camilla has studied systems science and economics at Linnaeus 

University (Linnéuniversitetet).

Background: Camilla has held several leading roles in sales, product 

management and business development within tech companies.

Own and related parties shareholdings: 120,000 shares.
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Jesper Svensson
Business Area Manager Entreprenören

Born: 1972 

Employed since: 2013 

Education: Jesper has studied computer science.

Background: Jesper has held several leading roles within tech companies, 

including among others, as CTO and development manager of Fortnox and 

Head of Development and Head Architect of Boss Media AB.  

Other positions and commitments: Board Chairman at  AgoyIt AB.

 

Own and related parties shareholdings: 120,520 shares and 2,000 warrants 

for series 2021/2024.

Johan Lundgren
COO / Business Area Manager Firman

Born: 1983 

Employed since: 2021

Education: Johan has a Masters in Industrial and Financial Management 

from School of Business, Economics and Law (Handelshögskolan), Göteborg 

University.

Background: Johan has held several leading roles within Hennes & Mauritz 

AB, including global chief economist for their expansion department and a 

corresponding role for Global Sales and Operations.

Other positions and commitments: Board Director of Meitner AB

Own and related parties shareholdings: 7,500 shares and 5,000 warrants for 

series 2021/2024.

Ola Bergqvist
Business Area Manager Företagande

Born: 1978

Employed since: 2019

Education: Ola has a Bachelor’s Degree in economics from Linnaeus University 

(Linnéuniversitetet).

Background: Ola has experience from leading roles within Fortnox and 

PostNord AB, inter alia Sales Manager, Team Manager Consumer Solutions and 

Product Manager.

Own and related parties shareholdings: 
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Anna Bergius
Business Area Manager Offerta

Born: 1976.

Employed since: 2021

Education: Anna has a Degree in business and economics from Stockholm 

University.

Background: Anna has many years’ experience of leading roles within tech 

and media companies, inter alia Business Area Manager and Marketing 

Manager of Blocket AB and Schibsted, and Head of Nordics at Betsson. Anna 

is also a mentor in several networks.

Other positions and commitments: Board Director of Lotstornet AB, Deputy 

Board Director of Everpoint Holdings AB and Alabio AB.

Own and related parties shareholdings: 5,000 warrants for 2021/2024.

Michael Hansen
Business Area Manager Pengar

Born: 1971

Employed since: 2021

Education: Michael has a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration 

from Kristianstad University (HKR) (Högskolan Kristianstad).

Background: Michael has a long background from investments in a about 

20-odd start-ups and has also been a co-founder and founder of several 

companies. Most recently as founder and CEO of the fintech companies 

Capcito and Monto. Prior to that, roles as CEO and Business Development 

Manager in the publishing and media industry. Chairman of the Board  

of Capcito Finance AB, Capcito Systems AB and Capcito Lending 2 AB, 

Springworks AB, BC Digital AB, and others.

Other positions and commitments: Michael is Chairman of the Board of, 

among others, Binogi AB and Motherboard Invest AB, and Board Director 

in companies including Everysport Media Group AB (listed on Spotlight), 

Punkt B International AB, Driven Ekonomi i Stockholm AB, Scandistrip Door 

Aktiebolag, Stockholm Edutainment Group AB, Nordic Growth Capital AB, and 

Maqe Bangkok Co Ltd, and others.

Own and related parties shareholdings: 
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Board of Directors

Olof Hallrup

Chairman of the Board of Directors and member of the audit committee 

Born: 1958

Elected to the Board: 2011

Education: Olof has a Bachelor of Law Degree from Lund/Stockholm University 

and a Bachelor of Economics from Lund University.

Background: Olof has a managerial background and has been active within 

Investment AB Kinnevik and Stena AB during 1980s and 1990s when he worked 

with  financial issues.

Other positions and commitments: Chairman of the Board of ArtOn24 AB. Board 

Director of A-fastighetsbolaget i Växjö, Viktor Hallrup AB, Östers Support AB 

(publ), Nordic e-holding invest AB and Nordiska Virkesbörsen AB. Deputy Board 

Director of Proper Gadget Concept AB and Nordic E-Commerce Group AB.

Own and related parties shareholdings: 125,780,710 shares.

Andreas Kemi
Board of Director and member of the audit committee

Born: 1966

Elected to the Board: 2018

Background: Andreas is an entrepreneur with long experience as an investor, 

Board Director and Chairman of technology companies with SaaS-based 

business models that have expanded within the European market and 

globally. Previous engagements include CEO and Chairman of the Board at 

Scala Business Solutions N.V, a global ERP company with offices and the same 

software in 32 countries, Board Director of Epicor Software Corporation and 

CEO and Board Director of UCMS Group EMEA, and others.

Board Director of Fortnox AB, Creditexpress N.V., Tresorit KFT, Tresorit AG and 

Tresorit Holding S.A. Chairman of the Board at CHB Investment Limited, UCMS 

Group IP Limited and EU Supply Holdings Ltd.

Other positions and commitments: Andreas is a Board Director of CHB 

Partners GmbH, CHB Investments II Limited, Boltonshield AG, Bexio AG and 

Showell Oy.

Own and related parties shareholdings: 20,380 shares.
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Anna Frick
Board Director and Chairman of the remuneration committee

Born: 1968

Elected to the Board: 2016

Education: Anna has an MBA from Stockholm School of Economics 

(Handelshögskolan i Stockholm), specialisation financing and marketing.

Background: Anna has over 20 years’ experience as a Marketing Manager 

and consultant in digital transformation, strategy and communication, 

both nationally and internationally. Previous roles include Deputy CEO and 

Board Director of Garbergs Reklam AB, external CEO of Oakwood Creative 

AB, Board Director of Nordnet Bank AB (publ), Bredband 2 Allmänna IT AB 

(publ), Logistea AB (publ), Frisq Holding AB (publ), Target Aid AB, Above 

Agency AB.

Other positions and commitments: Anna is a Board Director of Cell Impact 

AB (publ), Medhelp Care Aktiebolag (publ) Zinzino AB (publ), LeoVegas AB 

(publ), Transfer Group AB (publ), Svea Bank AB.

Own and related parties shareholdings: 30,760 shares.

Magnus Gudéhn
Board Director and member of the remuneration committee

Born: 1962

Elected to the Board: 2019

Education: Magnus has a Master of Science in Mechatronics  from the 

Royal Institute of Technology (Kungliga Tekniska Högskolan).

Background: Magnus has more than 30 years’ experience in management, 

sales and digital innovation in finance, telecom and industry. He has held 

many different roles at the consulting company HiQ, 15 years thereof as 

CEO for different HIQ companies. Magnus has also been a consultant, 

strategic advisor and mentor in his own company.

Other positions and commitments: Magnus is CEO and Board Director of 

IT-Total Sweden AB, Board Director of IT Infrastruktur Intressenter Sweden 

Holding AB and IT Infrastruktur Intressenter Sweden AB and Chairman of 

the Board of Qlocx iBoxen Digital AB.

Own and related parties shareholdings: 15,000 shares.
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Lena Glader
Board Director and Chairman of the audit committee.

Born: 1976

Elected to the Board: 2021

Education: Lena has an MBA in business and economics from the Hanken 

School of Economics (Svenska Handelshögskolan) University in Helsinki.

Background: Lena began her professional career as a stock analyst at Alfred 

Berg in 2000 and has since then been a partner of Shared Value in London, 

responsible for Investor Relations at Tele2 AB, run her own advisory agency 

in Singapore and been Operations Manager at Diplomat Communications AB. 

CFO between 2014 and 2018 of Eastnine AB.

Other positions and commitments: Lena has since 2019 been CFO of 

Storskogen Group AB that was listed on Nasdaq Stockholm during the 

autumn, 2021. Board Director of Stockholms Internationella Handelsskola 

AB, Stockholms Internationella Handelsskola i Malmö AB, Storskogen UK Ltd, 

Storskogen Danmark ApS, Storskogen Norway AS, Storskogen Schweiz AG, 

Storskogen Deutschland GmbH and Storskogen Singapore Pte. Ltd.

Own and related parties shareholdings: 1,900 shares.

Per Bertland
Board Director

Born: 1957

Elected to the Board: 2021

Education: Per has a Bachelor’s Degree in economics from Lund University. 

Background: Per has 20 years’ experience of working in leading positions in

listed companies. CEO of Beijer Ref AB from 2013 to 2021. Responsible for 

around 50 company acquisitions in Europe, Africa, Asia and Oceania. Per has 

been involved in developing private labels and contributed to sustainable 

solutions within the HVAC industry.

Other positions and commitments: Chairman of the Board of Aktiebolaget 

Dendera Holding and Inwido AB (publ). Board Director of Beijer Ref AB (publ), IV 

Produkt Aktiebolag, Lindab International AB (publ), Small Cap Partners AB.

Own and related parties shareholdings:
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Auditor

Dan Beitner 
Auditor-in charge, KPMG

Elected by Annual General Meeting: 2021

Education: Graduate in law and economics, Stockholm University 

Background: Certified public accountant. Active as accountant since 2000 

with a special focus on listed and financial companies.

Postal address: KPMG Vasagatan 16 Box 382, SE- 101 27 Stockholm, Sweden
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Directors Report
Board of Directors and CEO of Fortnox AB (publ), corporate identity number 556469-6291, and registered with its head office 

in Växjö, Sweden, hereby submit the annual report and consolidated accounts for the  financial year 2021.

Group conditions
Fortnox AB (publ) is the Parent Company of the Group consisting of the companies Fortnox AB, Fortnox Finans AB, Fortnox 

Försäkringar AB, Fortnox Service AB, Fortnox Lagerbolag AB, Offerta Group AB, Capcito Finance AB, Capcito Systems AB and 

Capcito Lending 2 AB.

Fortnox shares has been traded on NGM Nordic SME since May 14, 2007.

General information about the operations
Fortnox is a business platform that connects people, companies and organisations. Fortnox helps businesses start, grow and 

develop. With smart technical products and services, as well as the ability to connect them with hundreds of external partners, 

Fortnox is a business enterprise hub in Sweden.

Founded in 2001, Fortnox has its headquarters in Växjö and offices in Malmö, Linköping and Stockholm.

Fortnox sells its products in two ways: indirect sales via accounting  firms and direct sales via the website fortnox.se. Most of 

the sales are digital but parts thereof, for example some financial services and Offerta, are manual. With the help of its software 

platform, Fortnox can offer products tailored to customer needs. The customers can subscribe to individual products, packages 

of products or solutions. Packages are combinations of different products that meet an overall customer demand. Solutions are 

products and services that have been combined to meet a specific industry requirement.

Business model
The Group’s customers pay for services either via subscription or based on usage, so-called transaction-based or lending-based 

models. Subscriptions are linked to products and users so the customers pay per product and per user. In addition to subscription 

and transaction-based models, Fortnox also offers a leverage model whereby the customers receive help with their cash flows 

through factoring, invoice discounting and business lending. Customers also have the opportunity to integrate or purchase 

software from other suppliers, so-called apps, via the Fortnox business platform. Today, Fortnox has around 400 partners who 

offer their applications on the App market.

The customers can access their programs and information from any internet-connected computer or from their mobile phone. 

Multiple users can also be logged in simultaneously, collaborate and share information. A big advantage is that they avoid the 

hassle of installation, updates and backup.

The business model is based on repetitive revenues, where customers subscribe and pay a monthly fee per user and program 

module.

The pricing model is simple and not dependent on how much information is stored in the program or how much functionality is 

used. Customers also can use different value-added services for which they pay per transaction.

Fortnox offering
The Fortnox business platform and the ecosystem around it, with partners such as accounting  firms, integrators, banks and 

authorities, give Sweden’s entrepreneurs better preconditions to conduct their business. The products automate many steps in 

entrepreneurs’ everyday lives and empower them with real-time control of their business activities with data-based insights.
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The company’s products in combination with the company’s open API and collaborations with system suppliers, banks and 

authorities, enable entrepreneurs to build their own specific solutions. In addition to a wide and expandable product catalogue, 

Fortnox also helps on a daily basis to connect companies with one of all the accounting consultants who use Fortnox. Through 

the products, the accounting consultant and the entrepreneur can collaborate and share the work between themselves.

Based on the entrepreneur’s needs and requirements, Fortnox has also developed financial services. Companies can thus grow at 

the pace they want - with full control of their liquidity. The development of the Fortnox product offering has been ongoing since 

the start in 2001. Today, there is collaboration with almost 400 integration partners who within Fortnox’s various offerings create 

industry-specific solutions for different needs.

Products
Fortnox products can be purchased strictly individually or as an appropriate selection including product support. The products 

are divided into different product areas: Accounting (Redovisning), Billing (Ta Betalt), People (Medarbetare), Insights (Insikter), 

Financing (Finansiering), Connect (Integrera), Enable (Verktyg), Offerta and Infrastructure (Infrastruktur).

Financial goals
Fortnox’s financial goals are to achieve, over the  five-year period 2021 to 2025, a doubling of both the number of customers and 

usage, which means 700,000 customers and an average monthly revenue per customer of more than SEK 300 by the end of

2025.

Dividend policy
Fortnox strives to provide long-term stable dividends to its shareholders. When the operating cash flow exceeds what the 

Group can invest in profitable expansion in the long term, and provided that the target for capital structure is met, the surplus is 

distributed to the shareholders. Fortnox has a long-term goal to distribute 30-50% of the Group’s  financial result after tax.

Multi-year overview
Multi-year overview Group 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Net sales, MSEK 932.0 693.7 532.1 374.4 272.3

Profit after  financial items, MSEK 308.8 262.2 171.7 101.5 62.7

EBIT- margin, % 34% 38% 32% 27% 23%

Return on equity, % 33% 55% 61% 59% 62%

Total assets, MSEK 1,971.2 931.4 574.9 444.8 348.0

Equity/assets ratio, % 50% 50% 49% 37% 28%

Average number of employees 468 335 273 226 203

Multi-year overview Parent Company 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

Net sales, MSEK 766.2 611.0 464.2 322.4 232.8

Profit after financial items, MSEK 306.9 238.3 158.1 97.7 56.4

EBIT- margin, % 40% 39% 34% 30% 24%

Return on equity, % 34% 48% 49% 43% 44%

Balance sheet total, MSEK 1,507.4 728.1 511.1 354.7 261.2

Equity/assets ratio, % 64% 63% 57% 55% 52%

Average number of employees 374 284 229 190 177

For further information about the key  figures above, see definitions on page 176 of the Annual Report.
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Events of material importance that have occurred during 2021
Corona pandemic

Like the preceding year, 2021 was influenced by the ongoing corona pandemic. The extraordinary situation has continued to

affect everyone, customers, partners and coworkers, albeit in different ways. As in 2020, Fortnox continued to take measures to 

contribute to the limited spread of infection and ensured the continuity of business operations to the highest extent possible. The 

initiatives were successful and the company’s operations have been uninterrupted and continuous the whole year. The Group has 

not seen any significant effects on earnings or financial position except for a weaker trend in transaction-based services.

Launch of new products

During the year, several new products have been presented, such as Invoicing Mini (Fakturering Mini), a scaled-down version 

of Fortnox Invoicing (Fakturering) without fixed costs. Payroll Mini (Lön Mini) has been extended with a function to manage 

salary payments to several people, and Fortnox App Market can now offer customers purchasable apps. The new product suite 

Accounts Closing and Tax (Bokslut & Skatt), a collaboration with AgoyIt AB, was launched in the third quarter of 2021. A product 

suite that enables Fortnox to offer cloud-based products for financial statements, tax and annual accounts and make the offering 

within the accounting area more complete.

New billing system, change in operating environment and the financial system

During the year, three major and significant migration projects were carried out: change in operating environment, transfer to a 

new customer and billing system, and switch to our new platform for payment and financial services. This has meant that we can 

work more efficiently and  flexibly internally and thereby offer a better customer experience.

Changes in Fortnox AB’s (publ) Group Management and Board of Directors

During the year, there have been changes in both Fortnox’s Group Management and the Board of Directors.

Group Management

During February, Louise Bagewitz took over as CEO of Fortnox Finans AB and Business Area Manager of Pengar thereby replacing 

her predecessor, Joachim Lindow.

In association with the acquisition of Offerta Group AB in March, a new business was created ”Offerta” which as of  

January 1, 2022, is a part of Marknadsplatsen. Anna Bergius, CEO of Offerta Group AB, thereby became Business Area Manager and 

a member of Group Management.

Johan Lundgren took over as Business Area Manager of Firman, thereby replacing his predecessor, Johanna Arvung. Johan also 

took on the role as COO, a new role at Fortnox. Johan Lundgren has a long and solid background from H&M, latest in the role of 

Head of Controlling at the H&M Group’s global expansion department. Johan has extensive experience in preparing businesses 

for future expansion and has held several leading roles.

In connection with increased focus on acquisitions and partnerships, Håkan Rosén was recruited and took up a new role at 

Fortnox as Head of Business Development and Acquisitions. Håkan Rosén has had a long career at SAAB, most recently as 

Director Mergers & Acquisitions. Håkan has extensive experience in assuming responsibility for the entire investment and 

acquisition process from screening via negotiation and due diligence to integration planning.

In December, Michael Hansen replaced Louise Bagewitz as Business Area Manager Pengar and also took a place in the Group 

Management Team. Michael has a long background of investments in in about 20 start-ups and has also been a co-founder and 

founder of several companies. Most recently as founder and CEO of  fintech companies Capcito and Monto. Prior to that, roles as 

CEO and Business Development Manager in the publishing and media industry.
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Board of directors

At the Extraordinary General Meeting, held December 27, 2021, members Per Bertland and Lena Glader were newly elected as 

members of the Board of Directors, whereas Tuva Palm is no longer a member of the Board.

Business acquisitions

During 2021, Fortnox has expanded operations through the acquisition of subsidiaries and associated companies. An important 

step for Fortnox, which through the acquisitions enabled a broader customer offering and that Fortnox gained access to smart 

solutions and systems that can be well integrated with the existing Fortnox structure.

On March 11, 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the shares in the unlisted company, Offerta Group AB (”Offerta”) where the 

consideration amounted to MSEK 333.7. Offerta operates Sweden’s leading marketplace for services.

On December 1, 2021, Fortnox acquired 79% of the shares in the fintech company, Capcito Finance AB (“Capcito”), equivalent 

to a valuation of the entire company of MSEK 413. As a result, Capcito’s two subsidiaries are also acquired, including the 

platform, Monto. This is a part of Fortnox’s growing fintech investment. The acquisition means that Fortnox together with 

the platform Monto and other ERP and bank partners, can create a hub for credit rating and onboarding of financial services. 

This gives more companies access to better credit and cash  flows.

New credit agreement

During the fourth quarter, Fortnox entered into an agreement regarding a revolving credit facility. Via the credit facility, Fortnox 

has secured additional liquidity of MSEK 500 and as of December 31, MSEK 200 of which has been utilised by the Group. The 

agreement covers a period of three years, with the possibility of an extension for a further two years.

Stock split

At the Extraordinary General Meeting, held December 27, 2021, it was resolved that the number of shares in Fortnox be increased 

(so-called stock split), whereby each share is divided into ten (10) shares (a 10-for-1 stock split).

The new number of shares after the stock split in January, 2022, is 609,744,700 shares.

The Group’s development during 2021
Group net sales and operating income

Net sales for the full year amounted to MSEK 932.0 (693.7), an increase of 34.3% (30.4%). Acquisitions accounted for MSEK 91.7 

or 13.2% of the increase. Organic growth for the full year decreased compared to the previous year, amounting to 21.1% (30.4%). 

The continued strong growth comes mainly from the year’s customer growth, which amounted to 15% and meant that the number 

of customers as of the end of December amounted to 425,000 (367,000). A larger product range during the year, which has been 

achieved through the development of new and existing products and the addition of new products that have been added as a 

result of the acquisition of subsidiaries and associated companies, has also had a positive impact through increased revenue per 

customer.

Through Offerta’s marketplace, each year more than 80,000 assignments are brokered in more than 140 sectors. The 

acquisition provides the Group with a new vertical that is in line with strategic choices and a focus on utilisation and users. 

In addition to the obvious synergy of having the Group’s customers as users in Offerta’s platform, there are opportunities 

such as  financing for both users and procurers as well as the mediation of, for example, accounting services within Offerta.

On April 27, 2021, Fortnox acquired a platform for start-ups from Bp Bolagspartner AB, that is Sweden’s largest ready-made 

company provider. The platform enables customers to easily start up a business by purchasing a company in an automated

flow integrated with Fortnox’s other products and services. The consideration totalled MSEK 45. During the financial year 

2020, the acquired business had estimated net sales of approx. MSEK 20 and operating income of approx. MSEK 10.

Fortnox acquired 30% of Agoylt AB. The consideration totalled MSEK 18. In association with the acquisition, Fortnox signed a 

co-operation agreement with Agoylt AB. The agreement, that runs for three years, means that Fortnox can offer cloud based 

products for financial statements, tax and annual accounts. The offering within the accounting area is thus more complete.
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Operating profit amounted to MSEK 314.7 (265.4), corresponding to an operating margin of 33.8% (38.3%). Adjusted for 

acquisitions, operating profit amounted to MSEK 318.0 and an operating margin of 37.8%. Excluding acquisitions, the operating 

margin is in line with previous years. The operating margin has been positively affected during the year by reduced costs related 

to purchased services, as costs attributable to invoice data interpretation have declined as a result of the use of proprietary 

products. Negative impact on the operating margin has occurred through increased other external costs, primarily attributable to 

increased market activities.

Operating expenses amounted to MSEK 633.9 (442.9). Expenses have increased by MSEK 208.5 or 44.0%, primarily attributable to 

increased personnel costs and other external expenses, as a result of acquisitions of subsidiaries completed during the year.

The Group’s earnings before tax amounted to MSEK 308.8 (262.2). Earnings after tax amounted to MSEK 241.1 (205.4). Earnings 

per share before dilution amounted to SEK 3.97 (3.42) and after dilution to SEK 3.96 (3.41). Following completion of the stock split, 

earnings per share before and after dilution amounted to SEK 0.40 (0.34) and SEK 0.40 (0.34) respectively.

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment of tangible and intangible fixed assets amounted to MSEK 84.9 (66.6).

The Group’s liquidity, cash flow and financial position

The Group’s cash flow from operating activities was MSEK 316.4 (273.5), positively impacted by profit before tax of MSEK 308.8, 

increase in current liabilities of MSEK 29.5 and a negative impact from an increase current receivables amounting to MSEK 45.9. 

The increase in current liabilities and operating receivables is mainly attributable to the subsidiaries acquired during the year.

The Group’s cash flow from investing activities was MSEK -477.4 (-95.7), attributable to acquired subsidiaries and associates, 

where the acquisitions had a net cash flow impact of MSEK -376.6.

The Group’s cash flow from  financing activities was MSEK 121.7 (-32.2), where funds withdrawn from the revolving credit facility 

had a positive impact of MSEK 200, and amortisation of loans and leasing liabilities of MSEK 46.6, as well as dividends paid to the 

Parent Company’s shareholders amounting to MSEK 45.6 had a negative impact.

The Group’s investments in tangible and intangible assets, excluding acquisitions, amounted to MSEK 100.8 (95.7). Capitalised 

development costs accounted for MSEK 86.9 (64.8). Capital development costs internally generated development costs of MSEK 

48.6 (31.1).

During the year, the intangible fixed assets attributable to acquisitions of subsidiaries completed during the year increased by 

MSEK 827.9, of which MSEK 605.6 was attributable to goodwill.

Acquisitions of subsidiaries, which had a net cash impact, amounted to MSEK 357.8 (0) and acquisitions of shares in associated 

companies amounted to MSEK 18.8 (0).

At the end of the period, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to MSEK 373.3 (412.6). The completed acquisitions of 

subsidiaries and associates had a negative impact of MSEK 376.6 on cash and cash equivalents, which was offset by the recently 

signed revolving credit facility, of which MSEK 200 was withdrawn in the fourth quarter.

At the end of the period, current receivables totalled MSEK 388.4 (191.5). The increase was attributable to acquisitions completed 

during the year, where Capcito contributed to the largest part of the increase.

Current liabilities amounted to MSEK 515.2 (306.0). The increase was attributable to completed acquisitions and mainly due to an 

increase of MSEK 113.9 in current interest-bearing liabilities related to bank loans.

The Group’s working capital amounted to MSEK 246.5 (298.1). The decrease was attributable to acquisitions of subsidiaries and 

associates completed during the year, whereby cash and cash equivalents decreased by MSEK 376.6, which was offset by the 

revolving credit facility, of which MSEK 200 was withdrawn.
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Consolidated equity amounted to MSEK 981.7 (469.3). Capital of MSEK 317.0 (14.0) from new shares issued during the year had a 

positive impact, the new share issues were primarily attributable to the acquisition of Offerta Group AB, where the consideration 

was mainly paid with new shares.

Coworkers
The average number of employees in the Group was 468 (335), of which 182 (138) were women and 286 (197) men. For further 

information see the section "Coworkers" in the Sustainability Report and Note 5.  

Parent Company
The Parent Company’s revenue is mainly derived from subscription services for  financial administration.

Parent Company’s net sales and results

Net sales amounted to MSEK 766.2 (611.0), an increase of 25.4% (31.6%). During 2021, the net sales growth was positively 

impacted by higher revenue for existing customers, more customers, new products that have been launched and existing 

products that have been further developed, thereby strengthening the customer offering.

Operating profit totalled MSEK 305.2 (236.8). The operating margin was 39.8% (38.8%) for the period. Lower costs for purchased 

services had a positive impact since costs attributable to supplier invoice data interpretation declined due to the use of 

proprietary products as well as a reduced need for physical invoices.

Profit after tax was MSEK 242.9 (180.7).

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment of tangible and intangible fixed assets amounted to MSEK 42.9 (38.4).

The Parent Company’s liquidity, cash  flow and  financial position

The Parent Company’s cash flow from current activities was MSEK 312.8 (234.0), positively impacted by profit before tax of MSEK 

306.9, an increase of MSEK 43.7 in current liabilities, and negatively impacted by an increase of MSEK 25.5 in current receivables. 

The increase in current liabilities and operating receivables is mainly attributable to an increase in deferred income and liabilities 

to Group companies. 

The Parent Company’s cash  flow from investing activities was MSEK -562.7 (-107.8), the decrease was mainly attributable 

to acquisitions of subsidiaries and associates made during the year and a shareholders’ contribution to subsidiary, Fortnox 

Finans AB, for financing the acquisition of Capcito. The acquisition of subsidiaries and associates during 2021, and shareholders’ 

contributions, had a net cash impact of MSEK -421.0 (0).

The Parent Company’s cash flow from financing activities was MSEK 180.4 (-22.1), where funds withdrawn from the revolving 

credit facility had a positive impact of MSEK 200, and the dividend payouts of MSEK 45.6 to Parent Company shareholders had a 

negative impact.

Investments in tangible assets amounted to MSEK 9.9 (29.3) and investments in intangible assets amounted to MSEK 67.1 (48.5). 

Investments in  financial assets amounted to SEK 724.5 (0), attributable to acquisitions of subsidiaries and associates made

during the year and a shareholders’ contribution to subsidiary, Fortnox Finans AB.

At the end of the period, cash and cash equivalents amounted to MSEK 270.1 (339.7). Acquired subsidiaries and associates, and 

shareholders’ contributions had a negative impact of MSEK 421.0. This was partly o set by the recently signed revolving credit 

facility, of which MSEK 200 was withdrawn in the fourth quarter.

At the end of the period, current receivables totalled MSEK 283.1 (192.9). The increase was attributable to acquisitions completed 

during the year, as well as growth in line with previous periods.

Current liabilities amounted to MSEK 336.5 (271.6). The increase was primarily attributable to deferred income, which increased in 

line with net sales and an increase in liabilities to Group companies. 
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At the end of the period, working capital amounted to MSEK 216.8 (261.0), where shareholders’ contributions had a negative impact, 

and withdrawal from the revolving credit facility offset the decline with MSEK 200.

Equity amounted to MSEK 970.9 (456.6), positively impacted by the profit for the year and capital of MSEK 317.0 (14.0) from new 

shares issued during the year, The new shares were primarily attributable to the acquisition of Offerta Group AB, where the 

consideration was mainly paid with new issues.

The share and ownership
As of December 31, The Parent Company’s shares were listed on NGM Nordic SME and Fortnox AB’s registered share capital 

amounted to MSEK 1.2. Prior to the stock split, there was a total of 60,974,470 registered shares and, following completion of the 

stock split in January, 2022, the total was 609,744,700 shares.

The company has one (1) class of shares, where each share entitles the shareholder to one vote at the general meeting. 

The closing price on December 31, 2021, was (before stock split) SEK 585.0 and the market value  MSEK 35,670. At the year’s end, 

the largest single shareholder was First Kraft AB, whose holding was 20.6% of the shares.

Activities within product development
Innovation and a high rate of renewal in Fortnox’s customer offering are crucial for continued success. Product development is 

conducted within the Group and consists of both continuous improvements within existing product areas and the development of 

new services and products.

Offensive development activities are an important part of the Fortnox strategy and crucial to meeting  financial targets.

At the end of the year, the carrying value of platforms was MSEK 223.3 (121.4), which has increased compared to the previous year 

through a continued focus on product development and the Group gaining access to platforms through business acquisitions 

completed during the year. Capitalised development costs attributable to work for own account amounted to MSEK 48.6 (31.1) and 

platforms that were added through business acquisitions amounted to MSEK 60.7.

Significant risks and risk management
Fortnox corporate governance is based on the company’s Articles of Association, the Swedish Companies Act, other applicable 

Swedish and foreign laws and legislation, and internal governing documents.

Fortnox defines risk as something that can negatively affect Fortnox’s achievement of goals. Risk is a natural part of all business 

operations, but it can be managed, and it is the responsibility of Group Management to ensure that risks are identified and 

managed. This, in turn, demands an effective and structured risk management process.

Fortnox’s overall objective with risk management is to ensure a systematic approach to identifying risks to ensure their 

management at an early stage. Furthermore, the goal is to make risk management a natural part of daily operations by creating 

a culture and awareness of risks among all employees and a knowledge of how to manage them in order to achieve business 

goals. The risk assessment forms the basis of the internal control, as well as the starting point for the controls that are designed, 

documented and continuously evaluated, and Fortnox has established an annual process business-wide risk assessment. The 

risk assessment process and measures are intended to ensure that the risks Fortnox is exposed to are within the tolerance levels 

decided by the Board of Directors in accordance with the Fortnox Risk Management Policy.

The following describes risk factors related to Fortnox’s business, industry and markets, legal risks and  financial risks that are 

deemed to be of significant importance.

Fortnox has assessed the materiality of the risk factors on the basis of the probability of occurrence of a particular event and 

the magnitude of the expected adverse effects if the event occurs, resulting in an assessment of the probability of occurrence 

of each risk and the magnitude in which the risk is perceived with the grading on a scale of ”low”, ”medium” and ”high”. This 

assessment is based on the experience and opinion of the Board. The statement below is based on information available as of 

February, 2022.
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Operational and market risks 

Cyberattacks and other external threats
As a large part of the Swedish business community in one way or another is connected to Fortnox platforms and that large

financial flows pass through these platforms daily, Fortnox is particularly exposed to risks associated with cyberattacks, insider 

attacks and fraud. A lack of, or circumvention of, Fortnox data and cybersecurity measures, may result in an infringement and/

or loss of data. Such losses may be caused by, among other things, DDoS attacks, viruses, spyware or other unauthorised access 

to, or damage to, Fortnox systems or data (including confidential or proprietary information and customers who use Fortnox 

products and services).

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as high.

Management: Fortnox works continuously to improve both physical protection and protection against data breaches, etc. in 

accordance with the Fortnox information security policy. The risk is addressed through clear responsibilities and roles as well as 

action plans.

System risks linked to the Fortnox platform
Fortnox’s in-house developed, proprietary digital platforms form the core of the business, which means that Fortnox’s success 

depends to a large extent on seamless processes and the platforms’ availability and functionality. It thus places high demands 

on software, technical systems and infrastructure in order to be able to provide products and services. Inadequate protection 

systems, technical errors, fraud or external events that cause disruption or interruption of operations can result in, among other 

things, loss of data. Replacing or attempting to recover a large amount of lost customer and other data, as well as data lost by 

Fortnox customers, could be costly and time consuming, and such loss could damage Fortnox’s reputation and lead to customer 

claims.  

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as medium.

Management: Fortnox is continuously monitoring the risk of occurrence of various scenarios that may affect the functionality and 

stored data of Fortnox products and services. 

Competition
The markets in which Fortnox is active are exposed to competition. There is a risk that Fortnox will not be able to face competition 

from large and more efficient companies with significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources, including from 

new entrants that are not currently active. There is no player in Sweden that provides the kind of platforms Fortnox provides 

with a similar range of services. If Fortnox fails to develop, acquire or enter into collaborations to meet customer demand, there 

is a risk that it may have a negative effect on the business through reduced growth and increased costs for generating new 

customers.

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as medium.

Management: Through Fortnox’s strong market presence, changes, trends and new requirements are captured from customers 

and other stakeholders, which forms the basis for a focused investment in the continuous further development of the product 

portfolio. An important part of the Fortnox strategy is to develop new products in the areas Fortnox considers important for 

continued growth and to monitor market share. The general focus on development for Fortnox is primarily mobile solutions and 

a significantly improved degree of automation. Fortnox also has the ambition to contribute to digitisation in a broader societal 

perspective, in collaboration with other players such as partner companies, banks and public authorities.

Dependence on key personnel
Fortnox’s business depends to a large extent on the experience, skills and knowledge of the key people who develop and 

implement Fortnox strategy and operations. In association with acquisitions, Fortnox can also be dependent on the experience, 

skills and knowledge of founders and key personnel in the acquired companies, which means that it is important that they remain 

within the Group after the acquisitions are completed. The loss of a larger number of key individuals, or the inability to recruit 

experienced, qualified and trained individuals as needed, may cause disruption to operations, which could have a negative impact 

on development, growth and, in turn, results.

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as medium.
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Management: Fortnox works actively to ensure rejuvenation and identify future leaders. Senior executives are evaluated 

regularly in order to identify the need for ongoing training and skills development. In addition to market-based salary setting, 

Fortnox also has various forms of incentive programs for key employees within the Group. Furthermore, the ability to attract and 

retain critical human resources is a factor of uncertainty, especially in a labour market where demand for, and price of, attractive 

personnel is increasing. Welcoming many new coworkers places high demands on culture and transfer of skills. Fortnox has a 

well-developed process for introduction and start-up which is continuously evaluated and updated. Coworker commitment and 

pride are paramount to Fortnox’s success. Fortnox monitors this on an ongoing basis through the annual coworker survey.

Market conditions, growth and continued profitability

Demand for Fortnox products and service may be affected by changes in the macroeconomic environment where, in turn, the 

general economic cycle and growth are affected by war, political instability, pandemics and changes in customer behaviour. Other 

macroeconomic factors may have a negative effect on customer intake, the ability to retain existing customers and income from 

existing services if, for example, the number of invoices sent were to decrease. According to our existing strategy, future earnings 

are dependent on the ability to increase the number of customers in the limited geographic market in which we are currently 

active. Future earnings are also dependent on successfully creating demand for additional products and services for existing 

customers. If any of the above risks were to be realised, it could have a negative effect on the business’s growth and revenue.

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as low.

Management: Fortnox addresses the risk by continuing to invest in the business through the development of new and existing 

products, to meet customer demand and strengthen and adapt the current product range.

Brand and reputation
Fortnox’s success depends on its ability and efforts to maintain and improve its brand and the reputation of its platforms. Given 

how important it is for the market to perceive Fortnox and its platforms as stable and reliable, there is a risk that future success 

will deteriorate if Fortnox fails to build and maintain this perception regarding its platforms. Furthermore, the co-operation 

agreements relating to the bookkeeping service with all major accounting agencies in Sweden are important for the credibility 

of Fortnox and its platforms. Should Fortnox lose several of these partnerships or fail to maintain and improve its and the 

platforms’, and the brand’s reputations, it could impair the ability to maintain and expand the customer base, which could have a 

negative effect on development growth and revenue.

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as low.

Management: The risk is addressed and prevented by following and continuously updating implemented governance documents, 

such as the Code of Conduct.

Dependence on services, licences and agreements with suppliers, and automated 
communication with authorities and other companies
Fortnox uses, in addition to proprietary platforms, systems and solutions provided by suppliers to conduct the business and 

be able to offer the services to the customers. For example, Fortnox relies on systems, services and solutions from providers 

related to, amongst other things, banking services, verification services and hosting suppliers. Failure of any of these providers 

to provide or perform their services could lead, inter alia, to a reduction in the range of services available or to the unavailability 

of more less critical functions on the platforms. The event of such an incident could have a negative impact on Fortnox’s revenue, 

costs and growth. Disruptions and problems that affect services can also have negative effects on Fortnox’s costs, results, 

reputation and brand.

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as low.
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Management: Fortnox works closely with leading suppliers within each area and also reduces the risk of a potential dependency 

position through provision via alternative suppliers. Through a scalable technical platform with the open API and the introduction 

of internal processes and routines, Fortnox has taken steps to reduce and control risks as far as possible. Fortnox is committed 

to a responsible business enterprise and wants this responsibility to permeate the entire value chain.

Risks related to continued expansion through acquisitions
Fortnox works on the basis of active acquisition strategy and it is expected that part of the future growth will be in the form of 

strategic acquisitions in order to expand the business in order to offer new products and services. Risks identified and taken 

into consideration prior to each acquisition can also be misjudged and have a negative impact on value and prospects, as well as 

entail unexpected costs as a result of such misjudgements or shortcomings. Furthermore, there is a risk of costly or unsuccessful 

integration processes in association with acquisition. For example, failure to integrate products and services into our platforms 

successfully can result in reputational damage.

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as low.

Management: The appointment of the Business Development and Acquisition function, which carefully evaluates and monitors 

potential acquisitions, together with external consultants, mitigates the risk. 

 

Financial risks 
 
Liquidity and funding risk
Liquidity and funding risk refers to the risk of not having access to cash or unutilised credit facilities to meet payment obligations 

and to make the necessary investments in the business operations. Fortnox finances operations through equity and its own cash  

flows, but also as of December 31, 2021, via current and non-current interest-bearing liabilities amounting to MSEK 313.9.

Fortnox may in the future need to take up, whole or in part, new funding. Such funding depends on a number of factors, such as 

circumstances in the financial market in general and Fortnox’s creditworthiness. If Fortnox fails to obtain the necessary funding 

in the future, or if funding is obtained only on less favourable terms, it may have a negative impact on the financial position, lead 

to increased funding costs, and inhibit the growth of business area Pengar.

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as medium.

Management: Fortnox shall strive to have an adequate liquidity reserve, covering the liquidity needs of the next three months. 

Since most of Fortnox’s revenues are attributable to monthly recurring revenues, there are no major seasonal effects in liquidity, 

allowing for sufficient time for liquidity planning in the event of an unexpected occurrence. Furthermore, Fortnox has access to a 

credit facility, of which MSEK 300 is unutilised as of December 31, 2021.

Credit risks
Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty cannot fulfill its obligation to Fortnox and thereby cause a  financial loss. 

Fortnox’s credit losses arise mainly from the Group’s accounts receivable, receivables from factoring, receivables from invoice 

purchase, and receivables from corporate lending.

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as medium.

Management: Financial credit risks related to cash, cash equivalents and financial instruments can be reduced by using 

counterparties with a high creditworthiness. Fortnox reduces the credit risk associated with accounts receivable, receivables 

from factoring, receivables from invoice purchase, and receivables from corporate lending, by applying the Fortnox credit policy. 

Counterparties are checked for credit, and information on the counterparty’s financial position, etc., is obtained. Moreover, the 

receivables are continuously analysed based on an age analysis.

Financial reporting

93
The report is a translation of the original Swedish report. In the event of a discrepancy between this translation and the Swedish original, the Swedish reports take precedence. 



Changes in value of intangible assets
As of December 31, 2021, The Group’s intangible assets amounted to approximately MSEK 986, of which MSEK 606 is attributable 

to goodwill and approximately MSEK 224 is attributable to platforms. Goodwill has an undefined useful life and the value is 

tested at least annually to determine whether future growth and profitability can lead to impairment. Significant impairment 

may arise from unfavourable market conditions that either apply to Fortnox specifically, the company from which the goodwill 

originates, the entire sector or more generally.

Fortnox’s capitalised costs attributable to the platforms consist of capitalised expenses for development, where new 

development of software is made to achieve new or improved products or functions, are reported as an asset if the product or 

the function is technically or commercially viable, and the company has suficient resources to complete the development and 

then use or sell the intangible asset. If the Group fails to maintain its competitiveness with its platforms, it may not be able to 

attract and retain existing customers to the same extent, which means that the fair value of the asset does not correspond to the 

book value. A negative development can thus force the Group to recognise an impairment loss corresponding to all or part of the 

book value.

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as medium regarding goodwill and low regarding capitalised costs 

attributable to the platforms.

Management: Fortnox’s strong market presence, capture changes, trends and new requirements sourced from customers and 

other stakeholders, who form the basis for a focused investment to develop the right products. 

Legal and regulatory risks 

GDPR
As part of its business activities, the Group processes personal data to a relatively large extent, mainly in association with the 

customers’ use of its services. The EU’s General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) governs the processing of personal data 

and the free movement thereof. GDPR thus regulates the possibilities to collect, store, share and otherwise process customer’s 

personal data.

Failure to comply with GDPR may have significant consequences for the Group, such as the imposition of administrative  fines 

that can be up to MEUR 20 or up to four percent of the global annual revenue in the previous  financial year and damages from 

the registered party. Furthermore, there is a risk that the Privacy Protection Authority will require the Group to cease a specific 

processing of personal data, which may adversely affect operations.

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as medium.

Management: Fortnox works constantly with data privacy and follows the governing document data protection policy to ensure 

full compliance with regulation. This means that data is not disseminated to different third-party systems, but that the Group has 

evaluated these systems and suppliers based on compliance with the regulation.

Compliance
The Group’s operations are subject to laws, legislation and government regulations, which means that the operations are 

regulated and subject to supervision by the Financial Supervisory Authority (Finansinspektionen). The Group is dependent on

different permits to be able to conduct certain parts of its operations. In the event of significant deficiencies in regulatory 

compliance in relation to the applicable regulations for the licensed operations, permits for payment institutions, insurance 

distribution and registration as financial institutions can be revoked by the Financial Supervisory Authority, which could 

ultimately lead to cessation of parts of the operations.

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as low.
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Management: The risk is addressed by recruiting and retaining a high level of expertise in the area of compliance. Fortnox 

continually develops internal control routines to minimise the occurrence of any deficiencies in the business operations.

Operational risks
The Group relies on effective corporate governance and internal control practices throughout its organisation to provide 

accurate and reliable information to relevant entities within the organisation, thereby preventing fraud or other unlawful 

exploitation of the business and its resources.

Risk assessment: Fortnox assesses the level of risk as low.

Management: Fortnox continually develops internal control routines. Examples of these are the division of work between the 

Board of Directors and the CEO, instructions for the CEO, reporting instructions, authorisation instruction and anti-corruption 

guidelines.

Risks related to money laundering and terrorism (”AML/CFT”)
Parts of the Group’s operations are subject to AML/CFT laws and regulations, which means that the Group must take measures 

to counter and combat money laundering and  financing of terrorism.

Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations may result in penalties, in the form of an objection or warning,  fines, or 

other interventions, and may ultimately result in the withdrawal of authorisation. There is also a risk the Group’s reputation and 

business relationships may be damaged. Failure to comply with laws and regulations pertaining to AML/CFT may have negative 

consequences for the Group’s operations, development, results and financial position.

Risk assessment: The Group assesses the level of risk as low.

Management: The Group communicates to the people concerned, complies with and continuously updates the governance 

document “ Routines for measures against money laundering and terrorism”.

Intellectual property
The Group owns a number of trademarks, domain names and other intangible assets in relation to its proprietary software. 

There is a risk that the Group does not have sufficient protection for the brands, proprietary software and other intangible 

assets used in the business operations, which may lead to difficulties in defending its brands, proprietary software and other 

intellectual rights. 

Risk assessment: The Group assesses the level of risk as low. 

Management: Ongoing evaluation of the need to protect domain and brand.  

Sustainability
To Fortnox, sustainability is a prerequisite for long-term success and for creating value for customers, owners and coworkers, 

and contributing to society.

By offering digital solutions, Fortnox promotes more sustainable business within Sweden. Customers gain an increased

efficiency by avoiding the physical step of turning to an accounting  firm. Fortnox strives to help companies choose more digital 

solutions to reduce paper use and thereby achieve a more sustainable society, while from an economic point of view, also 

entailing a reduction in costs.

Fortnox works actively with financial stability based on a satisfactory risk tolerance, in order to meet customers’ needs for

financial services without risking harm to sustainable economic growth.

In accordance with annual accounts act, chapter 6, section 11, Fortnox has chosen to draw up the sustainability report separately 

from the annual report.

Directed share issue etc.
At the Annual General Meeting held March 25, 2021, it was resolved to introduce an incentive program 2021/2024 through the 

issue of 250,000 warrants for the subsidiary, Fortnox Service AB, for further transfer to senior executives, of which 24,000 have 

been subscribed and the remaining 226,000 have been forfeited. Each warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one (1) new
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share, meaning ten (10) new shares upon completion of the stock split (1:10) during January, 2022. The reason for the deviation 

from the shareholders’ preferential rights is to create the conditions for retaining and attracting competent Management 

personnel. In view of the terms of the program and other circumstances, the Board of Directors considers that recommendation 

to be beneficial to the Group and its shareholders and in accordance with good practice on the stock market.

Significant events that occurred after the end of the financial year
In accordance with the resolution passed at the Extraordinary General Meeting held December 27, 2021, the stock split was 

completed in January, 2022, which means that the numbers of shares in Fortnox increased from 60,974,470 to 609,744,700 

shares.

Fortnox commenced preparations for a change of trading venue from NGM Nordic SME to Nasdaq/OMX Stockholm and 

expects the listing switch to be  finalised in the  first half of 2022.

On January 1, 2022, the business area, Offerta, changed name to Marknadsplatsen and expanded with the product area 

Connect (Integrera), formerly belonging to business area Entreprenören. The part of the product area Connect (Integrera) 

that was moved to be included in Offerta, had external revenues amounting to MSEK 17.2 during 2021. Had the change in 

segment reporting occurred on January 1, 2021, it would have meant that the subscription-based revenue increased for 

Offerta with with MSEK 17.2  and corresponding negative effect for Entreprenören.

The global market has been affected by Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. It is impossible at present to assess how the situation 

will develop or how the security situation in Europe will be altered. At present, the Group does not see any major long-term 

effects on Fortnox’s financial position and performance. We can be expected to be affected to the same extent as other 

companies in the market. Since we do not have operations, customers or coworkers in the countries concerned (Belarus, 

Russia, Ukraine), we do not see any change in Fortnox’s ability to deliver products and services according to plan. The 

company’s Management follows the development daily and evaluates the situation on an ongoing basis.

Expectations for future development
Fortnox continues to have very good future prospects and a strong ability to grow in line with the increasing demand from 

existing and new customers. Fortnox will continue to show that it is a stable company with high growth, that delivers according 

to set financial targets and a well-functioning strategy.

Proposal for appropriation of the company’s profit
The following funds (SEK) in the Parent Company are available for disposal at the Annual General Meeting:

Share premium reserve 419,667,743

Retained earnings 174,442,244

Profits for the year 242,945,661

Total 837,055,649

The Board proposes that the retained earnings and available funds at their disposal be distributed as follows:

Dividend SEK 609,744,700 * 0.08 SEK per share (calculated after completion of the stock split) 48,779,576

Profit carried forward 788,276,073

Total 837,055,649

Board of Directors’ statement in accordance with Chapter 18 section 4 of the Companies Act (2005:551)

The Board of Directors’ opinion is that the proposed dividend does not prevent the company from fulfilling its future commitments 

or carrying out the investments required for continued expansion. Upon completion of the dividend distribution process, the 

Parent Company’s and Group’s equity/assets ratios were 63% and 49% respectively. The proposed record date for the right to 

receive a dividend is April 1, 2022.

As regards the financial performance and position in general of the company, please refer to the following financial statements 

with accompanying notes to the accounts.

Financial reporting

96
The report is a translation of the original Swedish report. In the event of a discrepancy between this translation and the Swedish original, the Swedish reports take precedence. 



Consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income
January 1 - December 31

000s Note 2021 2020

Net Sales 931,980 693,723

Other operating income 4 16,554 14,605

Total operating income 2, 3 948,533 708,327

Own work capitalised 48,589 31,071

Services purchased -83,392 -96,321

Other external costs 6, 14, 15 -167,631 -74,773

Cost of personnel 5, 22 -346,518 -236,274

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and intangible assets 11, 12, 26
-84,919  -66,615 

Total operating expenses -633,871 -442,912

Operating profit 314,662 265,416

Financial income        106 

 Financial costs -4,006 -3,262

Profit/loss from participations in associated companies                         -1,99813

Net  financial items 7 -5,897 -3,262

Profit before tax 308,765 262,154

Tax 9 -67,714 -56,770

Profit for the year 241,051 205,384

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income  

 Comprehensive income for the year 241,051 205,384

Profit for the year and comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Parent Company’s shareholders 241,051 205,384

241,051 205,384

Earnings per share 10

- before dilution, SEK 0.40 0.34

- after dilution, SEK 0.40 0.34

Average no. of shares outstanding

- before dilution, 000s 607,940 600,290

- after dilution, 000s 608,480 602,920

Earnings per share calculated following completion of the stock split.
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Consolidated statement of financial 
position
000s Note 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

ASSETS 27

Intangible assets 

Goodwill 11 605,606 - 

Platform 11 223,252 121,383

Other intangible assets 11                        156,841 

Tangible assets

Machinery and equipment 12 36,327 32,799

Right-of-use assets 26 169,055 172,310

Financial  fixed assets

Shares in associated companies 13                         16,644 

Non-current receivables                                                                                                                                                                                     300                                         

Deferred tax assets 9 1,363 773

Total non-current assets 1,209,388 327,265

Accounts receivable 14, 25 74,265 43,473

Receivables factoring 15, 25 55,097 20,564

Receivable invoice financing 15, 25 168,662 106,160

Corporate loan receivables 15, 25                         53,616 

Prepaid expenses 16 16,646 8,860

Accrued income 16 15,126 10,827

Other receivables 5,029 1,660

Cash and cash equivalents 17 373,323 412,614

Total current assets 761,762 604,158

Total assets 1,971,150 931,423
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000s Note 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Equity 19

Share capital 1,219 1,203

Other contributed capital 419,628 102,632

Retained earnings incl. profit for the year 560,860 365,422

Total shareholders’ equity attributable to Parent Company shareholders 981,708 469,257

Liabilities 27

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 20 200,000 - 

Non-current lease liability 26 147,091 156,131

Deferred tax liability 9 36,435

Other non-current liabilities 21 90,668

Total non-current liabilities 474,194 156,131

Current interest-bearing liabilities 20 113,878

Current lease liability 26 29,141 20,529

Accounts payable 25 24,045 16,940

Tax liabilities 9 69,754 57,292

Other liabilities 41,757 21,307

Accrued expenses 23 63,360 47,632

Deferred income 23 173,313 142,334

Total current liabilities 515,248 306,035

Total liabilities 989,442 462,166

Total equity and liabilities 1,971,150 931,423
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Consolidated statement of changes in 
equity

000s Share capital
Other contributed 

capital
Retained earnings incl. profit of the year Total equity

Opening equity 2020-01-01 1 ,196 88,639 189,931 279,766

Net profit for the year 205,384 205,384

Comprehensive income for the year 205,384 205,384

Transactions with the Group’s owners

Dividends paid -29,893 -29,893

New share issue 7 13,993 14,000

Total transactions with the Group’s owners 7 13,993 -29,893 -15,893

Closing equity 2020-12-31 1,203 102,632 365,422 469,257

Opening equity 2021-01-01 1,203 102,632 365,422 469,257

Profit for the year 241,051 241,051

Comprehensive income for the year 241,051 241,051

Transactions with the Group’s owners

Dividends paid  -45,613 -45,613

New share issue 17 316,996 317,013

Total transactions with the Group’s owners 17 316,996 -45,613 271,400

Closing equity 2021-12-31 1,219 419,628 560,860 981,708

Equity attributable to Parent Company’s shareholders
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
January 1 - December 31

000s Note 2021 2020

Operating activities 31

Profit before tax 308,765 262,154

Non-cash adjustments 86,873 66,615

Income tax paid -62,793 -38,605

332,845 290,163

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in accounts receivable -21,850 -6,515

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in receivables factoring 16,454 58,362

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in invoice financing -19,824 -86,319

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in corporate loan receivables -5,409 - 

Increase (-)/decrease (+) in other operating receivables -15,300 -11,398

Increase (+)/decrease (-)  in other operating liabilities 29,455 29,231

Cash  flow from operating activities 316,371 273,524

Investing activities

Acquisitions of tangible assets  -12,326 -30,888

Acquisitions of intangible assets  -88,504 -64,846

Business acquisitions, net cash -357,789 - 

Acquisition of financial assets  -18,789 - 

Cash flow from investing activities  -477,408 -95,735

Financing activities

New share issue 13,983 14,000

 

Repayment of loans    

Repayment of lease liability -22,431 -16,350

Dividends paid to Parent Company owners -45,613 -29,893

Cash flow from financing activities 121,746 -32,243

Cash flow for the year -39,291 145,547

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 412,614 267,067

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end 17 373,323 412,614
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Statement of profit or loss for Parent Company
January 1 - December 31

000s Note 2021 2020

Net sales 2 766,184 611,039

Own work capitalised 42,409 27,225

Other operating income 3,003 2,602

811,596 640,867

Services purchased -54,549 -67,988

Other external costs 6, 14, 26 -136,493 -94,595

Cost of personnel 5, 22 -272,467 -203,090

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 

of tangible and intangible assets
11, 12

-42,899  -38,364 

Total operating expenses -506,409 -404,037

Operating profit 305,187 236,829

Profit/loss from  financial items: 7

Financial income 1,855 1,520

Financial expenses -171 -62

Profit/loss after financial items 306,870 238,288

Appropriations 8 -631 -7,636

Profit before tax 306,240 230,651

Tax 9 -63,294 -49,920

Profit for the year 242,946 180,732

Statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income for Parent Company
January 1- December 31

000s 2021 2020

Other comprehensive income for the year                

Profit for the year 242,946 180,732

Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income  

 Comprehensive income for the year 242,946 180,732
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Statement of financial position for Parent Company

000s Note 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Assets 27

Intangible assets 

Platform 11 133,487 100,846

Tangible asset  

Machinery and equipment 12 32,643 31,174

Financial assets  

Shares in subsidiaries 30 768,532 63,445

Shares in associated companies 13 18,642 - 

Non-current receivables 300 - 

Deferred tax assets 9 544 62

Total non-current assets 954,148 195,527

Accounts receivable 14 61,132 42,973

Interest-bearing current receivables from Group companies 164,706 100,000

Other current receivables from Group companies 30,226 31,464

Other receivables 923 748

Prepaid expenses 16 11,214 7,867

Accrued income 16 14,933 9,869

Total current receivables 283,136 192,922

Cash and cash equivalents 17 270,140 339,685

Total current assets 553,276 532,607

Total assets 1,507,424 728,134
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000s Note 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Equity and liabilities

Equity 19

Restricted equity

Share capital 1,219 1,203

Development fund 132,678 99,182

Unrestricted equity

Share premium reserve 419,668 102,632

Retained earnings 174,442 72,820

Profit for the year 242,946 180,732

Total equity 970,954 456,569

Liabilities 27

Non-current interest-bearing liabilities 20 200,000 - 

Total non-current liabilities                                                                                                                                                                              200,000                                                   

 Current liabilities 27

Accounts payable 16,800 14,596

Liabilities to Group companies 20,974 6,618

Current tax liabilities 60,048 50,055

Other liabilities 27,122 18,419

Accrued expenses 23 39,737 39,543

Deferred income 23 171,787 142,334 

Total current liabilities 336,470 271,565

Total liabilities 536,470 271,565

Total equity and liabilities 1,507,424 728,134
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Statement of changes in equity for Parent 
Company

000s
Share 

capital

Development fund Share premium 

reserve

Retained 

earnings

Profit for the 

year

Total 

equity

Opening equity 

2020-01-01
1,196 79,766 88,639 4,183 117,946 291,730

Profit for the year 180,732  180,732 

Comprehensive income for the

year 180,732 180,732

Appropriation of profits 117,946 -117,946 0

Funding for own work capitalized 19,416 -19,416 0

Dividends paid -29,893                                     -29,893

New share issue 7 13,993 14,000

Closing equity 

2020-12-31
1,203 99,182 102,632 72,820 180,732 456,569

Opening equity 

2021-01-01
1,203 99,182 102,632 72,820 180,732 456,569

Net profit for the year 242,946  242,946 

Comprehensive income for the

year
242,946 242,946

Appropriation of profits 180,732 -180,732 0

Funding for Own work capitalised 33,496 -33,496 0

Dividends paid -45,613 -45,613

New share issue 17 317,035 317,052

Closing equity 

2021-12-31
1,219 132,678 419,667 174,443 242,946 970,954

See Note 19 for a more detailed reconciliation of Development fund.

Restricted equity Unrestricted equity
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Statement of cash flows for Parent 
Company
January 1 - December 31

000s Note 2021 2020

Operating activities 31

Profit/loss after financial items 306,870 238,288

Non-cash adjustments 42,899 38,364

Income tax paid -55,230 -32,580

294,539 244,071

Increase (-)/decrease (+) of operating receivables -25,513 -43,446

Increase (+)/decrease (-) of operating liabilities 43,728 33,424

Cash flow from operating activities 312,755 234,049

Investing activities

Acquisitions of tangible assets -9,910 -29,322

Acquisitions of intangible assets  -67,094 -48,516

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net cash  

Acquisition of financial assets  

 Shareholders’ contribution paid  

 Intra-Group loan paid -64,706 -30,000

Cash flow from investing activities -562,670 -107,838

Financing activities

New share issue 13,983 14,000

Dividends paid -45,613 -29,893

Group contribution paid -3,000 -6,200

New loans from subsidiaries 15,000 - 

New loans 200,000 - 

Cash flow from financing activities 180,370 -22,093

Cash flow for the year -69,545 104,119

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 339,685 235,566

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 17 270,140 339,685
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Note 1 - Significant accounting principles

(a) Compliance with standards and legislation
The consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued 

by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as adopted by the EU. Furthermore, the Swedish Financial Reporting 

Board’s recommendation RFR 1 Supplementary Rules of Accounting for Groups has also been applied.

The Parent Company applies the same accounting policies as the Group, except in the cases specified below in the section 

“Parent Company accounting principles”.

The Group’s statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, its statement of financial position as well as the Parent 

Company’s statement of profit or loss and statement of financial position will be subject to adoption at the Annual General 

Meeting held on March 30, 2022.

(b) Valuation basis applied in preparing the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements were prepared on the basis of the assumption of going-concern. Assets and liabilities are 

measured at historical values. The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities is considered a reasonable approximation of 

fair value.

(c) Functional currency and reporting currency
The Parent Company’s functional currency is SEK (Swedish krona), which also constitutes the reporting currency for the Parent 

Company and the Group. This means that the financial statements are presented in Swedish kronor. Unless otherwise stated, all 

amounts are rounded off  to the nearest thousand.

(d) Estimates and judgements in the financial statements
The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the company management to make estimates and 

judgements, and to make assumptions that affect the application of the accounting principles and the reported amounts of 

assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these assessments and estimates.

The assessments and assumptions are reviewed regularly. Changes in assessments are reported in the period the change is 

made if the change affects only this period, or in the period the change is made and future periods if the change affects both the 

current period and future periods.

Estimates made by the company management in the application of IFRS that have a significant impact on the financial 

statements and assessments made which may entail substantial adjustments to the financial statements for the following year 

are described in detail in Note 33.

(e) New or amended accounting standards
New and amended IFRS standards with future application are not expected to have any significant effect on the Group's financial 

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 16, IAS 37, and annual improvements 2018−2020 are applied in accordance with IASB as of January 1,

2022. 

 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts was adopted in November by the EU and will replace IFRS 4. This is to be applied as of January 1, 2023 

and is not expected to have any effect since the insurance-related activities carried out are solely the mediation of insurance 

contracts and the Group thus concludes no insurance contracts and therefore takes no insurance risk.
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(f) Classification, etc.
Non-current assets and non-current liabilities in the Parent Company and the Group consist in all material respects only of 

amounts expected to be recovered or settled after more than 12 months  from the statement of financial position date. A liability 

can only be classified non-current if there is an unconditional right to defer a payment beyond 12 months from the balance-

sheet date. If a non-current liability is expected to be settled within the normal business cycle, the liability amount is recognised 

as a current liability instead. Current assets and current liabilities in the Parent Company and the Group essentially consist of 

amounts that are expected to be recovered or settled within twelve months from the balance sheet date.

(g) Operating segment reporting
An operating segment is a part of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenue and incur 

expenses.

The Group applies segment reporting consistent with the internal reporting submitted to the chief operating decision-maker. 

In the Group, the chief operating decision-maker is the Group Executive Management Team. The main basis for separation is 

the segments’ di erent responsibilities for services and target groups. See Note 3 for further description of the separation and 

presentation of operating segments.

(h) Consolidation principles and business combinations
(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are companies over which Fortnox AB exercises a controlling influence. A controlling influence exists if Fortnox AB 

has influence over the investment object, is exposed to or has the right to variable yields from its involvement and can use its

influence over the investee to influence the size of its yield.

Subsidiaries are recognised according to the acquisition method. The method means that the acquisition of a subsidiary 

is regarded as a transaction whereby the Group indirectly acquires the subsidiary’s assets and assumes its liabilities. The 

acquisition analysis determines the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, as well as any non-

controlling interest, on the date of acquisition. Transaction expenses that arise, with the exception of those attributable to the 

issue of equity or debt instruments, are recognised directly in profit/loss for the year.

In the case of business combinations where the consideration transferred exceeds the fair value of the acquired assets and 

assumed liabilities which are recognised separately, the difference is recognised as goodwill. When the difference is negative, a 

so-called bargain acquisition, this is recognised directly in profit/loss for the year.

Consideration transferred on acquisition does not include payments pertaining to the settlement of earlier business 

relationships. These types of settlements are usually reported in the profit/loss.

Acquisitions of subsidiaries that do not involve a 100% holding, where the owner of the remaining holdings has an option to 

sell their holding to Fortnox or where Fortnox has an obligation to buy, are considered to have been acquired at the time of 

acquisition. For this type of acquisition transactions, Fortnox has chosen to apply the “Anticipated Acquisition Method” (AAM). 

AAM means that a liability measured at amortised cost is recognised at the estimated future purchase price of the remaining 

holdings. AAM means that no non-controlling interest is recognised for this type of acquisition transaction.

(ii) Acquisition of shares in associated companies
Associated companies are companies over which the Group has significant, but not a controlling, influence over operational and

financial control, usually through shareholdings between 20 and 50% of the voting rights. As of the date at which the significant 

influence is obtained, investments in associated companies are recognised in the consolidated financial statements using the 

equity method.
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The equity method means that the value of the shares in the associated companies recognised for the Group corresponds 

to the Group’s interest in the equity of the associates plus Group-related goodwill and any residual values of Group-related 

surplus or shortfall in value. The consolidated income statement reports “Share of profit/loss from participations in associated 

companies” as the Group’s share of profit/loss of associated companies, adjusted for any amortisation, depreciation, impairment, 

or dissolution of acquired surplus or shortfall values. These shares of profit/loss less dividends received from associated 

companies constitute the main change in the carrying amount of shares in associated companies. The Group’s share of other 

comprehensive income in associated companies is recognised in other comprehensive income. Any difference between the 

acquisition value of the holding and the  owner company’s share of the fair value net of the associated company’s identifiable 

assets and liabilities is recognised in accordance with the same principles as for the acquisition of subsidiaries.

In the consolidated financial statements, transaction costs attributable to associated companies are recognised directly in the 

profit/loss when these arise. When the Group’s share of recognised losses in the associated company exceeds the carrying 

value of the shares in the Group, the value of the shares is reduced to zero. Losses are also offset against non-current financial 

receivables without collateral, the economic substance of which is comprised of part of the owner company’s net investment in 

the associated company. Continuing losses are not recognised, unless the Group has an obligation to cover the losses incurred by 

the associate.

The equity method is applied until such time when the Group no longer has significant influence. Goodwill stemming from 

the acquisition of joint ventures and associated companies is included in the recognized value of participations in associated 

companies. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associated companies are eliminated to the extent these refer to the 

Group’s ownership participation in the company. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only 

to the extent there is no write-down requirement. Participations in associated companies in the Parent Company are reported 

according to the acquisition value method.

(iii) Transactions that must be eliminated upon consolidation
Intra-Group receivables and liabilities, revenues or costs or unrealised gains or losses arising from intra-Group transactions 

between Group companies are eliminated in their entirety when preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Revenue
(i) Performance obligations and revenue recognition
Revenue is measured on the basis of the consideration specified in the contract with the customer. The Group recognises 

revenue in accordance with IFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised when control of the product 

is transferred to the customer or when a service is performed according to contract, its amount can be measured reliably, and 

future financial benfits are likely to accrue to the Group.

Information about the nature and timing for fulfilment of the performance obligations in contracts with customers, including 

significant payment terms, and related revenue recognition principles are summarised below.

- Subscription services within financial administration – Refers to individual products, packages of products, or solutions 

primarily within accounting, invoicing, and payroll administration. The customer acquires access to the services on an ongoing 

basis during the subscription period. Invoices are prepared quarterly or annually in advance and normally with 20-day payment 

terms. Revenues are recognised on a straight-line basis over the service’s useful life, as the customer can use the service at any 

time during the subscription period.

- Subscription services within service-intermediation services – Refers to a marketplace for the intermediation of services, where 

customers have access to the services on the basis of the contract. Invoices are prepared quarterly or annually in advance and 

are usually due within 30 days. Revenues are reported on a straight-line basis over the service’s useful life, as the customer can 

use the service at any time during the contract period.

- Transaction-based services – Refers primarily to transaction-based services such as invoice interpretation, payroll

specifications, invoice services, and ready-made companies. The customer acquires control of the services as they are used. 

Invoices are drawn up in arrears on the basis of use and are usually due within 0 to 20 days. Revenue is recognised as the 

services are used.
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- Lending-based services – Refers primarily to factoring, invoice purchasing, and corporate lending. For further information on 

lending-based services see (m) Financial instruments below. 

- Other services – Refers primarily to revenue attributable to unallocated payments, rejected payment cards, administrative fees 

for repayment to the debtor, and exchange commissions. Revenues for unallocated payments and rejected payout advice are 

taken after a twelve-month period, after repeated attempts to contact the customer. The administrative fees for repayment to 

the debtor and insurance mediation are recognised as the services are performed.

(j) Leasing
When a contract is concluded, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease 

if it conveys the right to use an identified asset for a certain period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the commencement date of the lease. The right-of-use asset is 

initially measured at acquisition value, which consists of the initial value of the lease liability plus leasing fees paid at or before 

the start date plus any initial direct expenses. The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated on a straight-line basis from 

the commencement date to the earlier of the end of that asset’s useful life and the end of the leasing period, which in normal 

cases for the Group is end of the lease period.

In the rare cases where the acquisition value of the right-of-use reflects the Group’s intention to exercise an option to purchase 

the underlying asset, the asset is depreciated to the end of the useful life.

The lease liability, which is divided into non-current and current, is initially measured at the current value of the remaining lease 

payments during the estimated lease period. The lease term is the non-cancellable period of a lease plus periods covered by 

options to extend if it is reasonably certain on the commencement date that such options will be exercised.

The lease payments are normally discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate which, in addition to the Group’s/

company’s credit risk, reflects each contract’s lease term and currency, and the quality of the underlying asset as security. However, 

the implicit interest rate of the lease is used if it is easy to determine, which is the case for some of the Group’s vehicles.

The lease liability includes the current value of the following fees during the estimated lease period:

fixed payments, including in-substance fixed charges,

variable lease payments linked to the index (usually CPI) or interest rate (usually STIBOR), initially measured using the index 

or interest rate in force at the commencement date,

amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees

the exercise price for a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, and

payments for terminating the lease unless it is reasonably certain that early termination will not occur.

The amount of the liability is increased by the interest expense for each period and reduced by the lease payments. The interest 

expense is calculated by multiplying the liability by the discount rate.

The lease liability for the Group’s premises with indexed-linked rent is calculated based on the rent that applies at the end of 

each reporting period. At this time, the liability is adjusted by a corresponding adjustment of the carrying amount of the right-of-

use asset. Similarly, the amounts of the liability and the asset are adjusted when the lease term is reassessed. This takes place in 

connection with the expiry of the final termination date within the previously determined lease term for a rental contract, or upon 

the occurrence of either a significant event or a significant change in circumstances that are within the control of the Group and 

affect the current determination of the lease term.

The Group discloses right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as separate items in the statement of financial position.
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For leases with a lease period of twelve months or less, or with an underlying asset of low value, less than TSEK 50, no right-of  use 

asset and lease liability are recognised. Leasing payments for these leases are Reported as costs on a straight-line basis over the 

lease period.

(k) Financial income and expenses
The Group’s financial income and expenses primarily include interest revenues, interest expenses, dividends, and earnings 

attributable to participations in associated companies.

Interest revenues or interest expenses is recognised in accordance with the effective interest method. Dividends are recognised in 

profit/loss on the date the Group's right to payment is determined.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life 

of the financial instrument at:

the gross carrying amount (amortised cost before adjusting for any loss allowance) of the financial asset, 

or

the amortised cost of the financial liability.

(l) Taxes
Income tax consists of current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in profit/loss for the year except when the 

underlying transaction is recognised in other comprehensive income or equity, in which case the relevant tax is recognised in 

other comprehensive income or equity.

Current tax is tax that is payable or received for the current year, with application of the tax rates enacted or substantially 

enacted at the balance sheet date. Current tax also includes adjustment of current tax attributable to earlier periods

Deferred tax is calculated using the balance sheet method, based on temporary differences between the carrying amount and 

tax base of assets and liabilities. The measurement of deferred tax is based on how the underlying assets or liabilities are 

expected to be settled or recovered. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted  the 

statement of financial position date.

Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences and loss carry forwards are only recognized to the extent it is probable 

they will be utilised. The value of deferred tax assets is reduced when it is no longer considered likely they will be utilised.

Any additional income tax arising from dividends is recognized at the same time as when the dividend is recognised as a liability.

(m) Financial instruments
Financial assets recognised in the statement of financial position include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, 

receivables relating to invoice financing,factoring and corporate lending, non-current receivables, accrued revenue, and other 

receivables. Financial liabilities include interest-bearing liabilities, accounts payable, and other liabilities.

- Lending-based services – Refers primarily to factoring, invoice financing and corporate loans. The revenue for factoring is 

charged in the form of a percentage fee of the invoice’s ordinary amount. The revenue is taken in full in the period when the 

invoice is purchased. The revenue for invoice financing and corporate lending is based on a daily calculated interest rate that is 

posted as income on an ongoing basis.

When invoice service is purchased, Fortnox charges the purchaser a fixed fee per invoice. When the invoice is paid by the buyer’s 

customer after the due date, and when reminder service is purchased, Fortnox charges the buyer’s customer fixed reminder fees, 

percentage late payment fees, any collection fees, etc.
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- the contractual terms for the financial asset give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified and measured at amortized cost or fair value through profit or loss. A financial liability is 

measured at fair value through profit or loss if it is held for trading or, as a derivative that has been designated as such on initial 

recognition.

In the case of invoice financing, Fortnox charges the counterparty a fixed fee per invoiced debit and a percentage fee based on the 

amount of the loan. When invoices related to financing are due, Fortnox charges the counterparty an increased percentage fee on 

the borrowed amount. If the counterparty is overdrawn, for example due to contesting, crediting or regress, which has led to the 

counterparty not having security for its loan in the financed invoice, the counterparty will be charged an overdraft charge. When 

the invoice is paid by the buyer’s customer after the due date, Fortnox charges the counterparty’s customer fixed reminder fees, 

percentage late payment fees, any collection fees, etc.

In the case of corporate loans (annuity loans), Fortnox charges the counterparty a monthly interest rate, and in the case of late or 

missed payments, a fine is charged based on a percentage of the borrowed amount. If the credit matures, the claim is recovered 

from the counterparty through collection and customary reminders and collection costs are charged.

In the case of factoring, which occurs with or without recourse against the seller, Fortnox will charge the seller of the invoice a 

fixed fee per invoice purchased and a percentage fee calculated on the invoice amount. When the invoice is paid by the seller’s 

customer after the due date, Fortnox charges the seller’s customer fixed reminder fees, percentage late payment fees, any 

collection fees, etc.

Revenues attributable to payment and finance-related services, including those that can be considered as remuneration (interest) 

for the lending portion, are reported as part of the Group's net sales.

(i) Initial measurement
Accounts receivable are recognised when they are issued. Other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the 

Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

A financial asset (except for accounts receivable without a significant financing component) or financial liability is initially 

measured at fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction 

costs directly attributable to the acquisition or the share issue. An account receivable that does not contain a

significant financing component is measured at the transaction price determined in accordance with IFRS 15.

The Group’s financial assets and liabilities are recognised at amortised cost.

(ii) Classification and measurement subsequent to initial recognition
Financial assets

At initial measurement, a financial asset is classified and measured at: amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive 

income – investments in debt instruments; fair value through other comprehensive income – investments in equity instruments; 

or fair value through profit or loss. Subsequent measurement of financial assets takes place at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

Financial assets are not reclassified after initial recognition unless the Group changes its business model for managing financial 

assets, in which case all affected financial assets must be reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the 

change in business model.

The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest revenue and impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any 

impairment gains or losses arising from derecognition are recognised in profit or loss.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following criteria, unless it is designated at fair value 

through profit or loss:

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows, and
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(iii) Impairment of financial assets  
An allowance for expected credit losses is estimated and recognised for the financial assets that are measured at amortised 

cost. At initial recognition, a loss allowance equal to 12-month expected credit losses is recognised. If credit risk has increased 

significantly since initial recognition, the allowance for credit losses is calculated and recognised based on expected credit 

losses for the entire remaining maturity of the asset.

For accounts receivable, which do not contain a significant financing component, and contract assets, a simplified method is 

applied and the allowance for credit losses is calculated and recognised based on the expected credit losses for the entire 

remaining maturity. This is regardless of whether the credit risk has increased signi cantly or when it is judged that the credit 

risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since the first recognition, and when calculating expected credit losses 

the Group uses reasonable and verifiable information that is relevant and available without unnecessary costs or effort. This 

includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based primarily on information about current transaction 

information and historical losses for similar receivables and counterparties. The information is continuously evaluated and 

adjusted based on the current situation.

The Group considers that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is overdue by more than 30 days. 

The Group considers that a financial asset is in default when:

it is unlikely that the borrower will pay all his credit obligations to the Group, without the Group having recourse such as 
realising a security (if any such is held): or

the financial asset is overdue more than 90 days.

Twelve months’ expected credit losses consist of credit losses arising from default that can occur within 12 months of the 

balance sheet date (or a shorter period if the expected maturity of the instrument is less than 12 months). 

Expected credit loss measurement 

Expected credit losses consist of a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.

 

Credit-impaired financial assets 

At every  statement of financial position date, the Group determines whether financial assets held at amortised cost 

are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the 

estimated future cash  flows of that financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

the issuer or borrower has significant financial difficulties,

a breach of contract, such as default or maturity of more than 90 days,

it is likely that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reconstruction. 

Presentation of allowances for expected credit losses in the statement of financial position.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost have been deducted from the gross assets.  

 

Derecognition 

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is derecognised when the Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering 

either the entirety or a portion of the asset’s contractual cash flows.

For business customers, the Group makes case-by-case assessments of the point in time and amount for derecognition, 

based on whether reasonable expectations of recovery exist. The Group has no expectations of significant recovery of the 

derecognised amounts. However, financial assets that are derecognised may still be subject to enforcement activity to comply 

with the Group’s procedures for recovering overdue amounts.
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(iv) Removal from the statement of financial position (Derecognition)
Financial assets

The Group removes a financial asset from the statement of financial position when the contractual rights to receive the cash

flows from the financial asset cease, or if it transfers the right to receive the contractual cash flows through a transaction in 

which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred, or in which the Group does not transfer or 

retain substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities

The Group removes a financial liability from the statement of financial position when the performance obligations in the contract 

are satisfied, cancelled or expired. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when the contractual conditions and the cash 

flows from the liability are substantially different. In this event, a new financial liability is measured at fair value based on the new 

conditions.

(v) Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are  offset and the net amount is only recognised in the statement of financial position 

when the Group has a legally enforceable right to set o  the amounts, and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the 

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(n) Tangible fixed assets
(i) Owned assets
The Group measures tangible assets at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Cost includes the purchase 

price and any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of 

operating in the manner intended by management. The basics of impairment accounting are presented below. A tangible asset is 

derecognised whenever it is disposed of or sold, or is not expected to provide any future benefits from either its use or disposal. 

Gains or losses arising on the sale or disposal of an asset consist of the difference between the net selling price and the carrying 

amount of the asset less any direct selling costs. Gains and losses are recognised as other operating income/expenses.

(ii) Subsequent costs
Subsequent costs are only added to the carrying amount if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the 

asset will flow to the company and the cost can be measured reliably. All other subsequent costs are recognised as an expense in 

the period they are incurred.

(iii) Depreciation principles
Assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. Land is not depreciated.

Estimated useful lives:

- Equipment, tools and installations 5-10 years

- Right-of-use assets 3-10 years

(o) Intangible assets
(i) Research and development
Costs for development, which is the application of research findings or other knowledge to a plan or design for the production 

of new or substantially improved products or processes, are recognised as an asset in the statement of financial position if the 

company can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the product or the process so that it will be available for use or 

sale, if the company has adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and intends to use or 

sell the intangible asset. The carrying amount includes all directly attributable costs, such as materials and services, employee 

benefits, registration of a legal right, amortisation of patents and licenses and borrowing costs in accordance with IAS 23. Other 

development costs are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred. In the statement of financial position, development 

costs are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (see below).
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(ii) Goodwill
Goodwill is recognised at acquisition value, according to what was determined at the time of acquisition for an operation (see 

under “Consolidation principles and business combinations”), after deduction of any accumulated impairment. Goodwill is 

allocated to the cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergy effects of the business combination. 

The impairment requirement is tested at least once a year or when there are indications that it needs to be tested. Goodwill is 

recognised as an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life and is not amortised as the Group applies IAS 38.

(iii) Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets with a determined useful life acquired by the Group are recognised at acquisition value less accumulated 

depreciation and any impairment (see below). Other intangible assets with a definite useful life include customer relations and 

acquired software. Other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are reported at acquisition value minus any accumulated 

impairment. Brands are other intangible assets with an indefinite useful life. The impairment requirement for an intangible asset 

with an indefinite useful life, or an intangible asset that is not yet ready for use, is tested at least once a year or when there is a 

need for it to be tested.

(iv) Subsequent costs
Subsequent costs for capitalised intangible assets are only recognised as an asset in the statement of  financial position when 

they increase the future economic benefits of the specific asset to which they are attributable. All other additional expenses 

are recognised as costs in the period in which they occur. Indefinite useful life is recognised at acquisition value minus any 

accumulated impairment.

(v) Amortisation principles
Amortization is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the intangible

asset. The useful life of an asset is reviewed at least annually. Intangible assets with a determinable useful life are amortised 

from the date they become available for use. Leased assets are also amortized over their estimated useful life or, if shorter, over 

the estimated lease term.

Estimated useful lives:

- Capitalised development costs 5 years

- Other contract/technology-based assets      5 years 

- Acquired software 5 years

- Customer relationships 10 years

(p) Impairment
The Group’s recognised assets are tested for impairment at the statement for each financial position date. IAS 36 is applied for 

the impairment of assets that are not financial assets which are tested in accordance with IFRS 9.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets

If there is an indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined (see below). An 

impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit (group of units) exceeds the 

recoverable amount. An impairment is recognised as a cost in profit or loss. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value 

less costs to sell and value in use. When determining the value in use, future cash flows are discounted with a discount factor 

that accounts for risk-free interest and the risk associated with the specific asset.

Reversal of impairment losses

Under IAS 36, an impairment loss on assets may be reversed when there are indicators that an impairment loss no longer exists 

and if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount. Impairments of goodwill are 

never reversed.

(q) Payouts to shareholders
(i) Dividends
Dividends are recognised as a liability following the Annual General Meeting’s approval of the dividend.
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(r) Earnings per share
The calculation of earnings per share before dilution is based on consolidated profit or loss for the year attributable to the Parent 

Company owners and on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. When calculating diluted earnings 

per share, the results and average number of shares are adjusted to account for the effects of potential dilutive ordinary shares 

which in the reported periods are derived from warrants issued to employees. Potential ordinary shares are only considered 

dilutive in periods when this would result in a lower earnings or a greater loss per share.

(s) Employee benefits
(i) Current benefits
Current benefits are calculated without discounting and recognised as an expense when the related services are provided.

A provision is recognised for the anticipated cost of profit-sharing and bonus payments when the Group has a current legal or 

constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of the services provided by employees and the obligation can be 

estimated reliably.

(ii) Defined-contribution pension plans
Defined-contribution plans are plans in which the company’s obligation is limited to the contributions the company has 

undertaken to pay. In such cases, the size of the employee’s pension depends on the contributions the company pays into the 

plan or to an insurance company, and the investment earnings on the contributions. Consequently, it is the employee who bears 

the actuarial risk (that benefits will be lower than expected) and investment risk (that the invested assets will be insuficient to 

provide the expected benefits). The company’s obligations for contributions to defined-contribution plans are recognised as an 

expense in profit or loss as they are earned by the employees’ services to the company during a period.

(iii) Termination benefits
A cost for benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the company can no longer withdraw the offer of those

benefits, or when the company recognises costs for a restructuring. The benefits expected to be settled after twelve months are 

measured at their present value. Benefits not expected to be settled within twelve months are recognised as non-current

benefits.

(t) Provisions
Provisions are entered in the balance sheet when the company is subject to a legal or informal obligation as a consequence of a 

circumstance occurring and it is likely that financial resources will be required to meet the obligation and a reliable estimate of 

the amount can be made.

At  first recognition, provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amount that will be required to settle the obligation at 

the statement of financial position date. The provisions are reviewed on each financial position date.

(u) Contingent liabilities
A contingent liability is disclosed when there is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be 

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events not wholly within the control of the Group, 

when there is an obligation that has not been recognised as a liability or provision since it is not probable that an out flow of 

resources will be required to settle the obligation, or when the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient 

reliability.

Parent Company’s accounting principles
The Parent Company has prepared its Annual Report in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554) and the 

Swedish Financial Reporting Board’s recommendation, RFR 2 Accounting for Legal Entities. Statements issued by the Swedish 

Financial Reporting Board for listed companies have also been applied. RFR 2 specifies that the Parent Company in the annual 

report for the legal entity is to apply all IFRSs and statements adopted by the EU to the extent possible within the framework of 

the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and Pension Obligations Vesting Act, and with regard to the relationship between accounting 

and taxation. The recommendation specifies which exceptions and additions to IFRS may be made.
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The differences between the Group’s and Parent Company’s accounting principles are presented below. The accounting principles 

for the Parent Company stated below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the Parent Company's  financial 

statements.

Classification and formats
The Parent Company presents an income statement, and the Group presents a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income. The Parent Company also uses the terms ‘balance sheet’ and ‘cash flow statement’ for the reports known in the Group as 

the ‘statement of financial position’ and ‘statement of cash flows.’ The Parent Company’s income statement and balance sheet are 

presented in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act, while the statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement 

are based on IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows. The differences compared with the 

Group’s financial statements are that the main elements of the Parent Company’s income statement and balance sheet are financial 

expenses, non-current assets and equity.

Subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
The Parent Company recognizes investments in subsidiaries, associated companies, and joint ventures according to the acquisition 

value method and if the carrying value exceeds the replacement cost, an impairment is made at the lower value. In the case of 

acquisitions of participations in subsidiaries and associated companies, transaction expenses are included in the carrying amount 

for holdings in subsidiaries/associated companies. In the consolidated  financial statements, transaction costs attributable to 

subsidiaries and associated companies are recognised directly in the profit/loss when these arise.

Financial instruments
The Parent Company has elected not to apply IFRS 9 for financial instruments. However, some of the guidance in IFRS 9 is still 

applicable – such as impairment, recognition/derecognition, hedge accounting criteria, and the effective interest method for 

interest revenue and interest expense.

In the Parent Company, financial assets are measured at cost less impairment, and current assets according to the lowest value 

principle.

Segment reporting
The Parent Company does not report segments based on the same distribution and scope as the Group.

Tangible assets
Tangible  fixed assets in the Parent Company are recognised at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in the same 

way as for the Group, but with the addition for any revaluation adjustments.

Leased assets
The Parent Company does not apply IFRS 16, in accordance with the exemption in RFR 2. As a lessee, leasing payments are 

recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, whereby a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease 

liability are not recognised on the balance sheet.

Group contributions
Group contributions are recognised as appropriations.
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Note 2 - Revenue
Allocation of revenues from agreements with customers
The allocation of revenues from agreements with customers in major service areas is summarised below.

During the second half of 2020, Fortnox moved over to a new organisational structure. As of 2021, follow-up and reporting is 

therefore carried out according to new segmentation. A new segment was added during the first quarter through acquisitions 

Offerta. For the sake of comparability, segment reporting for 2021 is also carried out according to the previous structure.

For more information on the division of the Group's operating segments, see Note 3.

Group
January 1 - December 31

The Group’s operating segments  Företagande                    Byrån Entreprenören            Pengar            Offerta

000s 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021

Type of service

Subscription-based 119,591 227,879 274,973 580 66,703

Transaction-based 13,943 37,874 110,776 53,056 - 

Lending-based 1,997 6,920 -  28,349 - 

Others -  433 129 13,897 2,276

Revenue from agreements 

with customers
135,532 273,106 385,879 95,882 68,979

The Group’s operating segments Intra-Group and eliminations Group total

000s 2021 2021

Type of service

Subscription-based -  689,726

Transaction-based -13,025 202,624

Lending-based -  37,266

Others 2,182 18,917

Revenue from agreemnets with customers -10,843 948,534

During the year, operations were acquired, Offerta Group AB, Fortnox Lagerbolag AB, with Capcito Finance AB and associated 

subsidiaries. For more information on the business acquisitions carried out and their contributions to the consolidated accounts 

in 2021, see Note 18. 
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January  1 - December 31

The Group’s operating segments

000s 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Type of service

Subscription-based 622,440 504,928 583 -  66,703 - 

Transaction-based 154,173 97,071 70,137 71,539 -  - 

Lending-based -  -  37,266 29,451 -  - 

Others 12,858 11,642 13,118 12,206 2,276 - 

Revenue from agreements with customers 789,470 613,641 121,104 113,195 68,979 -

January 1 - December 31

The Group’s operating segments

000s 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Revenue distributed by service

Subscription-based -  -  -  -  689,726 504,928

Transaction-based 2,316 1,330 -24,002 -11,521 202,624 158,418

Lending-based -  -  -  -  37,266 29,451

Others 3 3 -9,337 -8,320 18,917 15,531

Revenue from agreements with customers 2,319 1,333 -33,339 -19,842 948,534 708,327

Contractual balances
Information about receivables and contractual liabilities from agreements with customers is summarised below.

The Group

000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Receivables, included in accounts receivables 74,265 43,473

Receivables, included in factoring 55,097 20,564

Receivables, included in invoice financing 168,662 106,160

Receivables, included in corporate lending 53,616           - 

 Receivables, within accrued income 15,126 10,827

Contractual debts 173,313 142,969

The Parent Company

000s  2021-12-31         2020-12-31

Receivables, included in "accounts receivable” 61,132 42,973

Receivables, within accrued income 14,933 9,869

Contractual debts 171,787 142,334

Receivables in accrued income are attributable to receivables related to sales within Sweden and primarily refer to the Group's 

right to remuneration for transaction-based services performed but not invoiced at the financial position date.

Contractual liabilities primarily refer to advances received from the customer in respect of subscription services where revenue is 

recognised over time.

The increase in receivables related to contractual balances is primarily attributable to the acquisition of Capcito Finance AB, while 

the increase in contractual liabilities is mainly attributable to net sales growth.

Services for  financial administration Payment and financial services Service and intermediation 
services

Other services Intra-Group and eliminations Group total
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Note 3 - Operating segments
The Group’s operations are organised into operating segments based on those parts of the operations that the company’s chief 

operating decision-maker follows up, known as the ‘management approach.

Each operating segment has a manager who is responsible for the day-to-day operations and regularly reports the outcome of 

the operating segment’s performance to the Executive Management Team. The Group’s internal reporting is organised so that the 

Executive Management Team can monitor revenue and results. The Group’s segments have been identified on the basis of this 

internal reporting.

During the second half of 2020, Fortnox moved over to a new organisational structure. As of 2021, follow-up and reporting is 

therefore carried out according to new segmentation. A new segment was added during the first quarter through acquisitions 

Offerta. For the sake of comparability, segment reporting for 2021 is also carried out according to the previous structure.

The division into operating segments is based on the varying responsibilities for the services and target groups that

each segment has. The following operating segments exist:

Företagande - Responsible for the sales and marketing of Entrepreneur’s (Entreprenören) and offerings to businesses which 

are not accounting firms or clients thereof. Enterprising is responsible for the relationship with its customers. Industry/Sector-

specific solutions for defined customer groups Enterprising.

Byrån - Responsible for the sale and marketing of Entrepreneur’s (Entreprenören) and Money’s (Pengar) offerings to accounting 

firms and their clients. Agency is responsible for the relationship with accounting  rms and their customers. Industry/Sector-

specific solutions for accounting firms are developed within Agency.

Entreprenören – Responsible for product development, user support and sales to existing customers for financial administration 

and insurance services.

Pengar – Responsible for product development, user support and sales to existing customers regarding payment and

financial services.

Offerta – Responsible for product development, user support and sales of service intermediation services. Offerta is responsible 

for business with and offerings to all companies.

In addition to the operating segments described above, Fortnox has group-wide functions in the areas of HR,

Communication, Finance, IT and operations, Legal and compliance as well as the infrastructure product area and thus

supports the operating segments in their business plans and contributes to enabling them.

 

On January 1, 2022, the name of the Offerta business area was changed to Marknadsplatsen and expanded with Entreprenören’s 

former product area of Connect (Integrera). Marknadsplatsen develops, manages, supports, and sells intermediation services 

and products. The business area develops products and solutions that simplify communication between service providers and 

consumers. Marknadsplatsen is responsible for two of the company’s product areas, Offerta and Connect (Integrera).
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The Group’s operating segments

      Företagande                      Byrån Entreprenören                  Pengar                 Offerta

000s 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021

Revenue (from external customers) 135,532 273,021 379,904 88,262 68,979

Revenue (from other segments) 85 5,975 7,620

Operational segment result 98,046 169,166 220,186 -4,699 5,591

Reversal of expenses capitalised

expenditures for development work

Own work capitalised

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Operating profit

Financial items

Profit before tax

The Group’s operating segments

Intra-Group and eliminations   Group total

000s 2021 2021

Revenue (from external customers) 2,835 948,534

Revenue (from other segments) -13,680 - 

Operational segment result -175,792 312,498

Reversal of expenses capitalised

expenditures for development work 38,494 38,494

Own work capitalised 48,589 48,589

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment -84,919 -84,919

Operating profit -173,628 314,662

Financial items -5,897 -5,897

Profit before tax -179,525 308,765

Revenues are entirely attributable to Sweden.

The Parent Company

000s 2021                     2020

Revenue 769,187 613,641

Parent Company income primarily consists of subscription services for  financial administration and the revenues are entirely 

attributable to Sweden.
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Segment reporting according to previous structure
The Group’s operating segments

000s 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Revenue 

(from external customers)
764,707 600,150 114,013 107,319 68,979 - 

Revenue 

(from other segments)
24,763 13,491 7,090 5,876 -  - 

Operating profit 310,759 236,829 18,057 34,565 2,683 - 

Financial items

Profit before tax

000s 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Revenue 

(from external customers)
833 858  - - 948,534 708,327

Revenue 

(from other segments)
1,485 475 -33,339 -19,842 -  - 

Operating profit -629 -7,548 -16,208 1,569 314,662 265,415

Financial items -5,897 -3,262 -5,897 -3,262

Profit before tax -22,105 -1,693 308,765 262,153

Revenues are entirely attributable to Sweden.

Services for  financial administration Payment and  financial services Service and intermediation services

Other services               Intra-Group and eliminations                                       Total
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Note 4 - Other operating income
000s 2021 2020

The Group

Revenue recognised payments without known counterparty 12,334 10,272

Other 4,220 4,333

16,554 14,605

Note 5 - Employees, personnel costs and 
remuneration to senior executives
Employee benefit expenses

000s 2021 2020

Group

Salaries and remuneration, etc. 246,815 171,447

(of which Salaries and remuneration, etc. to senior executives) (21,966) (18,366)

Pension provisions, contribution-based plans (see Note 22) 20,598 14,318

(of which pension provisions  to senior executives) (2,881) (2,676)

Social security contributions 75,218 51,815

342,630 237,580

Average number of employees

2021-12-31 thereof men 2020-12-31 thereof men

Parent Company

Sweden 374 64% 284 61%

Subsidiaries

Sweden 94 50% 51 46%

Group total 468 61% 335 59%

Gender distribution in company management

2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Share women Share women

Parent Company 

Board of Directors 33% 40%

Other senior executives 33% 50%

Group

Board of Directors 15% 17%

Other senior executives 50% 50%
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Salaries and other remenuration distributed between senior executives and other employees, 
and social security costs in the Parent Company
2021

000s
Senior executives 

(11 people)
Other employees Total

Parent Company 

Salaries and other remuneration 19,459 189,731 209,190

Social security contributions 5,955 51,617 57,572

(of which pension provisions) (2,761) (16,981) (19,742)

2020

000s
Senior executives 

(11 people)
Other employees Total

Parent Company 

Salaries and other remuneration 16,695 138,877 155,572

Social security contributions 5,070 38,548 43,618

(of which pension provisions) (3,039) (11,423) (14,462)

Guidelines for remuneration to senior executives
The following guidelines for remuneration to senior executives at Fortnox AB were adopted at the Extraordinary General Meeting 

in December 2021. A successful implementation of the Company's business strategy and the safeguarding of the Company's 

long-term interests, including its sustainability, presupposes that the Company can recruit and retain skilled and qualified 

employees. This requires the Company to be able to offer market-based and competitive remuneration in each market where the 

Company operates. Individual remuneration levels are based on experience, competence, responsibility, and performance.

In accordance with the Company’s guidelines for remuneration to senior executives, remuneration must be market-based and 

consist of the following components: fixed salary, variable remuneration, pension benefits, and other benefits.

Fixed salary

The fixed salary, the basic salary, will be based on the individual senior executive’s area of responsibility, authority, competence, 

experience, and performance.

Variable remuneration

For senior executives to be able to receive a total remuneration in accordance with market conditions, they must also be able 

to obtain variable remuneration in addition to the fixed salary. The variable remuneration will be linked to predetermined and 

measurable criteria that may be financial or non-financial. Financial criteria may be based, for example, on the Fortnox Group's 

operating result (EBIT). The purpose of these criteria will be to promote long-term value creation.

Fulfilment of criteria for the payment of variable remuneration will be measurable over either 12 months, whereupon the 

outcome of financial criteria will be based on the income statement and balance sheet adopted by the Annual General Meeting, 

or quarterly, whereupon the outcome of financial criteria will be based on published interim reports, or a combination of both 

measurement periods. The remuneration committee is responsible for assessing, at the conclusion of the measurement period 

for fulfilment of the criteria for payment of variable remuneration, the extent to which the criteria have been met.
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The variable remuneration will primarily be paid as cash remuneration, but the remuneration committee has the right to assign 

a maximum of 50% of the total variable remuneration for payment of shares in share-related incentive programs decided by the 

Annual General Meeting instead of through cash payment. The variable remuneration may amount to a maximum of 200% of the

fixed cash salary for the CEO and the deputy CEO.

The variable remuneration may amount to a maximum of 100% of the fixed cash salary for other senior executives. However, the 

total variable remuneration that the Company may pay to senior executives may never exceed 2.5% of the Company’s EBIT, after 

the cost of the variable remuneration. The variable remuneration will not be pensionable or lead to accrual of annual leave unless 

this follows by mandatory collective agreement provisions.

Additional cash variable remuneration may be paid in exceptional circumstances, provided that such extraordinary arrangements 

are made only at individual level for the purpose of recruiting or retaining senior executives, or as remuneration for extraordinary 

work in addition to the person’s ordinary duties. Such remuneration may not exceed an amount equal to 10% of the fixed cash 

salary, and may not be paid more than once per year and per individual. Decisions on such remuneration will be made by the 

Board following a proposal from the remuneration committee.

Pension and insurance

For the CEO, pension benefits, including sickness insurance, will be de ned-contribution. Variable remuneration will not be 

pensionable. The pension premiums for de ned-contribution pensions will amount to a maximum of 30% of the fixed annual cash 

salary.

For other senior executives, pension benefits, including sickness insurance, will be defined-contribution unless the senior 

executive is covered by defined-benefit pension in accordance with mandatory collective agreement provisions. Variable 

remuneration will not be pensionable unless this follows from by mandatory collective agreement provisions applicable to the 

senior executive. The pension premiums for defined-contribution pensions will amount to a maximum of 30% of the fixed annual 

cash salary.

Other benefits

Other benefits may include, inter alia, a company car, supplementary health insurance, and occupational health care. The 

aggregate value of these benefits may not exceed 10% of the fixed annual cash salary.

Agreement on severance pay to senior executives

Upon termination of employment, the period of notice may not exceed 12 months. Fixed cash salary during the period of notice 

and severance pay may not, taken together, exceed an amount corresponding to the fixed cash salary for two years for the CEO 

and twelve months for other senior executives. In the event of termination of employment by the executive, the period of notice 

may not exceed six months without entitlement to severance pay.

The decision-making process for establishing, reviewing, and implementation of the guidelines

The Board has established a remuneration committee. The duties of the committee include preparing the Board of Directors’ 

decisions on proposed guidelines for remuneration to senior executives. The Board of Directors will draw up proposals for new 

guidelines at least every four years and submit the proposal for resolution at the Annual General Meeting. The guidelines will 

remain in force until new guidelines are adopted by the Annual General Meeting. The remuneration committee will also monitor 

and evaluate programs for variable remuneration for senior management, the application of guidelines for remuneration to senior 

executives, and applicable remuneration structures and levels in the Company. The members of the remuneration committee are 

independent in relation to the Company and company management. The CEO and other members of the executive management 

absent themselves during the course of the Board’s consideration of and decisions on remuneration-related matters, where they 

are affected by such issues.
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Parent Company 

2021

000s
Basic salary / Board fee Variable 

remuneration

Pension 

provisions

Other

remuneration Total

Olof Hallrup, Chairman of the Board of

Directors

Remuneration from Parent Company 345 -  -  -  345

Remuneration from subsidiaries -  -  -  -  

 Anna Frick, Board members

Remuneration from Parent Company 260  - -  -  260

Remuneration from subsidiaries  -  - -  -  0

Magnus Gudéhn, Board member

Remuneration from Parent Company 245  -  - -  245

Remuneration from subsidiaries  - -  -  -  

 Andreas Kemi, Board member

Remuneration from Parent Company 280 -  -  -  280

Remuneration from subsidiaries  -  -  - -  

 Tuva Palm, Board member

Remuneration from Parent Company 255 255

Remuneration from subsidiaries  -  -  -   

 Tommy Eklund, CEO

Remuneration from Parent Company 3,102 3,055 979 92 7,228

Remuneration from subsidiaries  - -  -  -  

 Roger Hartelius, deputy CEO

Remuneration from Parent Company 1,554 1,222 336 5 3,118

Remuneration from subsidiaries  -  -  -   

Other senior executives (4 people)

Remuneration from Parent Company 4,461 2,329 906 32 7,728

Remuneration from subsidiaries   - -  -  -   

Total 10,502 6,606 2,222 129 19,459

Remuneration from Parent Company 10,502 6,606 2,222 129 19,459

Remuneration from subsidiaries                  -   - - - 

10,502 6,606 2,222 129 19,459
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Parent company 

2020

000s
Basic salary /Board Fee Variable 

remuneration

Pension 

provisions

Other

remuneration Total

Olof Hallrup, Chairman of the Board of Directors

Remuneration from Parent Company -  - - -  

Remuneration from subsidiaries -    - - - 

 Trond Dale, former Chairman of the Board of

Directors

Remuneration from Parent Company                                                                            107                                              - - - 107

Remuneration from subsidiaries                                                                                 322                                            - -                                         - 322

Anna Frick, Board member

Remuneration from Parent Company                                                                       254                                             - -                                        - 254

Remuneration from subsidiaries -                           - - - 

 Magnus Gudéhn, Board member

Remuneration from Parent Company                                                                       240                                            - - - 240

Remuneration from subsidiaries -                          - - -  

Andreas Kemi, Board member

Remuneration from Parent Company                                                                        266                                            - -                                        - 266

Remuneration from subsidiaries -                           - - - 

 Tuva Palm, Board member

Remuneration from Parent Company                                                                        189                                             - - - 189

Remuneration from subsidiaries -                           - - - 

 Kerstin Sundberg, former Board member

Remuneration from Parent Company                                                                          66                                              - - - 66

Remuneration from subsidiaries -                            - - - 

 Tommy Eklund, CEO

Remuneration from Parent Company 2,740 2,384 1,000 78 6,202

Remuneration from subsidiaries -                          - - - 

 Roger Hartelius, deputy CEO

Remuneration from Parent Company 1,462 835 458 6 2,762

Remuneration from subsidiaries -                             - - - 

 Other senior executives (4 people)

Remuneration from Parent Company 3,893 1,703 989 24 6,608

Remuneration from subsidiaries -          - - - 

Total 9,540 4,923 2,446 109 17,017

Remuneration from Parent Company 9,217 4,923 2,446 109 16,695

Remuneration from subsidiaries                                                                                    322                                              - - - 322

9,540 4,923 2,446 109 17,017

Share-related incentive programs to senior executives
Senior executives participate in the Group's incentive program (warrants). No cost is recognised as senior executives have 

acquired the warrants at market price.
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In addition to the incentive programs presented in the table below, the principal owner of Fortnox AB, First Kraft AB, has issued 

100,000 call options to the CEO and a warrant program has been added through the acquisition of Capcito Finance AB. The call 

options issued to the CEO have been acquired on market terms against bond. The option price was SEK 17.65. The call options 

entitle the holder to purchase 100,000 shares in Fortnox at a price of SEK 200 per share. The warrant program 2018/2022 

that was added in conjunction with the acquisition of Capcito Finance AB is attributable to Capcito Finance AB and thus has 

no dilution effect on Fortnox AB (publ.) shares. The warrant program consists of 2,009 warrants issued to senior executives 

and key employees within Capcito (one option corresponds to one share), which can be redeemed for SEK 1,524 per option. The 

premium per option was SEK 14.68, which was determined by a market valuation based on Black-Scholes. The option right can be 

exercised during the period April 1 to August 31, 2022. Upon full redemption, Capcito Finance AB will receive MSEK

3.1, which has been taken into account in the purchase price of the acquisition.

Below is a summary of the number of warrants that could be issued in each program, the number of warrants purchased (i.e. the 

number of warrants actually acquired by participants), the number of warrants forfeited, and the current number of outstanding 

warrants.

Program
Maximum 

number 

of options

Acquired 

number 

of options

Redeemed 

number 

of options

Forfeited 

number

of options

Outstanding 

number of options 

2021-12-31

2014/2019                  470,000                           470,000                            -470,000 -  

2017/2020                  450,000                           350,000                            -350,000 -100,000  

2018/2021                  400,000                            157,000                              -157,000 -243,000  

2019/2022                                                  -                       -250,000 

 2020/2023                                                    -                       -250,000 

 2021/2024                                                                                            - -226,000 24,000

Total 2,070,000 1,001,000  -977,000  -1,069,000 24,000

Below is a summary of the terms and conditions of the programs and the input data for the valuation when determining the 

price of the warrants. The used valuation model is Black & Scholes. The expected volatility has been determined based on the 

evaluation of historical data on volatility.

Program Exercise price, SEK Volatility Riskfree interest
Expected 

dividend/year, SEK
Maturity, year          Option price, SEK

2014/2019 15.34 40% 0.51% 0.12 5.0 2.90

2017/2020 40.00 20% 0.00% 0.20 3.3 1.77

2018/2021:1 71.40 25% 0.00% 0.30 3.2 4.90

2018/2021:2 96.01 29% -0.31% 0.30 2.7 6.68

2021/2024* 552.82 41% -0.21% 0.94 3.3 72.50

*In accordance with the terms of the warrants, recalculation has taken place with regard to the 10:1 stock split decided by the 

Extraordinary General Meeting on December 27, 2021, whereby each warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for 10 shares in the 

Company at a subscription price of SEK 55.28 per share.

If the participant's employment or assignment in the Group ceases, the Group has no right to repurchase warrants.

The share price at the allocation point for the warrant program as shown below was SEK 57.5 for program 2018/2021:1, SEK 73.8 

for program 2018/2021:2 and SEK 405.0 for program 2021/2024.

Input valuation
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2021
Program Number of outstanding

options at the start of 

the year

Acquired 

options 

during the 

year

Redeemed 

options during 

the year

Weighted average share 

price on the exercise day, 

SEK

Number of 

outstanding 

options at year-

end

Number of 

exercisable option 

at year-end

CEO and 

senior 

executives

Other senior 

executives

2018/2021:1 50,000 -              -50,000     460 -

Other senior

executives

2018/2021:2 42,000 -              -42,000     440 -

Other senior

executives

2021/2024  - 24,000 -  - 24,000 24,000

Total 92,000  24,000  -92,000 24,000 24,000

2020 Program Number of outstanding

options at the start of

the year

Acquired 

options 

during the 

year

Redeemed 

options during 

the year

Weighted average share 

price on the exercise day, 

SEK

Number of 

outstanding 

options at year-

end

Number of 

exercisable option 

at year-end

CEO and 

senior 

executives

Other senior 

executives

2017/2020 150,000 -              -150,000     221                                     -

Other senior

executives

2018/2021:1 50,000 - - -  50,000 50,000

Other senior 

executives

2018/2021:2 42,000 - - -  42,000 42,000

Total 242,000  -150,000 92,000 92,000
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Note 6 - Fees and cost remunerations to 
auditors

000s 2021                       2020

Group

KPMG

Auditing assignment 1,805 1,668

Audit-related consulting 1,258 738

Other services 1,586 442

Other

Auditing assignment 95 - 

Audit-related consulting - - 

Other services 1,062 - 

Parent Company

KPMG

Auditing assignment 1,075 1,000

Audit-related consulting 1,068 560

Other services 1,511 442

Other

Auditing assignment  - - 

Audit-related consulting -  - 

Other services 1,062 - 

Audit assignments refer to statutory audits of the annual and consolidated accounts  as well as bookkeeping and accounting and 

the Board of Directors and CEO’s administration, and audits and other reviews carried out in accordance with an agreement or 

contract.

This includes other duties that the Company’s auditor is responsible for carrying out, as well as advice or other assistance that is 
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Note 7 - Net  financial items

Group

000s 2021 2020

Interest income and similar profit/loss items

Interest income from financial assets at amortised cost                                                                                                                                                 106  

 

Interest expenses and similar profit/loss items

Interest expenses from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost                                                                                                                             -3,122                 -3,179

Interest expenses, other                                                                                                                                                                                                                             -884                      -83

Profit/loss from interests in associated companies                                                                                                                                                                     -1,998                           -

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           -6,004                -3,262

 

 

Parent Company

000s 2021 2020

Interest revenue and similar profit/loss items

Interest revenue, Group companies 1,855 1,520

1,855 1,520

Interest expenses and similar profit/loss items

Interest expenses -171 -62

-171 -62

Net financial items 1,683 1,458

Note 8 - Appropriations
Parent Company

000s 2021 2020

Group contributions paid -631 -7,636

-631 -7,636

Financial reporting

131

Net financial items reported in earnings                                                                                                                                                                                            -5,898                -3,262

-106

-

The report is a translation of the original Swedish report. In the event of a discrepancy between this translation and the Swedish original, the Swedish reports take precedence. 



Note 9 - Taxes

Reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Group

000s 2021 2020

Current tax expense (–)/tax income (+)

Tax expense/income for the year -69,504 -56,987

-69,504 -56,987

Deferred tax expense (–)/tax income (+)

Deferred tax on temporary differences 1,790 218

1,790 218

Total reported tax expense for the Group -67,714 -56,770

Parent Company

000s 2021 2020

Current tax expense (–)/tax income (+)

Tax expense/income for the year -63,776 -49,895

-63,776 -49,895

Deferred tax expense (–)/tax income (+)

Deferred tax on temporary differences 482 -25

482 -25

Total reported tax expense for the Parent Company -63,294 -49,920

Reconciliation of effective tax
Group

000s 2021 2020

Profit before tax 308,765 262,154

Tax in accordance with current tax rates for parent company  20.6% -63,606 21.4% -56,101

Non-deductible expenses 0.1% -446 0.3% -669

Utilisation of previously non-capitalised loss carry forwards 0.0%  - 0.0% - 

Other*  1.2% -3,662 0.0% - 

Reported effective tax 21.9% -67,714 21.7% -56,770

*Other in 2021 is attributable to IFRS adjustments that have arisen in connection with business acquisitions during the year.
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Parent Company

000s 2021 2020

Profit before tax 306,240 230,651

Tax in accordance with current tax rates for parent company 20.6% -63,085 21.4% -49,359

Non-deductible expenses 0.2% -479 0.2% -535

Other -0.1% 270 0.0% -25

Reported effective tax 20.7% -63,294 21.6% -49,920

Change in deferred tax in temporary differences and carry forwards
Group 

000s
Balance as of 

Jan 1  2020

Recognised in profit or 

loss for the year

Balance as of 

Dec 31 2020

Balance as of 

Jan 1 2021

Recognised in profit or 

loss for the year

Business 

combinations

Balance as of  

Dec 31 2021

Unutilised loss/credit 

carry forwards -                                       - - -                                              -                - -

Tangible assets 187 383 570 570 698 - 1,268

Accounts receivable - 24 24 24 71 - 95

Receivables factoring                 264 -264 - -                             - - 

 Purchased

receivables
-                                     179            179                179                       -179 -                  

Pension provisions 104 -104 - - -   

Deferred tax asset 555 218 773 773 590 - 1,363

Intangible assets -                                                - - - 1,200 -37,635 -36,435

Deferred tax liability - 1,200 - 37,635 -36,435

The Group recognizes deferred tax assets for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that they are likely to be used. Within the 

Group there are tax loss carry-forwards of MSEK 113.5, related to the deficit in the acquired company Capcito Finance AB and its 

subsidiaries. The Group’s tax loss carry-forwards amount to MSEK 113.5 (0) at year-end, of which deferred tax was reported at 

MSEK 0 (0).

Deferred tax assets refer to temporary differences between the carrying amount and the tax base value and as of December 31, 

2021, temporary differences amounted to MSEK 1.4 (0.8), attributable to tangible fixed assets and accounts receivable. Deferred 

tax liabilities are attributable to intangible assets in addition to goodwill arising in connection with business acquisitions carried 

out in 2021.

Parent

Company

000s

     Balance as of 

Jan 1 2020  

Recognised in profit or loss     

for the year

          Balance as of  

Dec 31 2020

      Balance as of  

Jan 1 2021

Recognised in profit or loss    

for the year

         Balance as of   

Dec 1 2021

Tangible 

assets
0 37 37 37 412 449

Accounts

receivable
0 24 24 24 71 95

Pension

provisions
87 -87 0 0 0 0

87 -25 62 62 482 544

Changed tax rate
As of January 1, 2021, the tax rate in Sweden is 20.6% for companies with financial years beginning January 1, 2021 or later.
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Note 10 - Earnings per share

Earnings per share for total, remaining and discontinued operations

SEK 2021 2020

Earnings per share (calculated after completion of stock split) 0.40 0.34

SEK 2021 2020

Earnings per share (calculated after completion of the stock split)  0.40 0.34

Completion of a stock split in January, 2022, means that each share was divided into ten (10) shares (a 10-for-1 stock split).

The amounts that were used in numerators and denominators are shown below.

Earnings per share before dilution
Profit for the year attributable to the Parent Company’s ordinary shareholders, before dilution

000s 2021 2020

Profit for the year attributable to the Parent Company’s shareholders 241,051 205,384

Profit attributable to the Parent Company’s ordinary shareholders, before dilution 241,051 205,384

Weighted average number of shares amounted to 607,939,400 (600,292,820). The number of outstanding shares at year-end was 

609,744,700 (601,352,930), calculated after completion of the share split.

Earnings per share after dilution
Profit for the year attributable to the Parent Company’s ordinary shareholders, after dilution

000s 2021 2020

Profit for the year attributable to the Parent Company’s ordinary shareholders 241,051 205,384

Profit attributable to the Parent Company’s ordinary shareholders, after dilution 241,051 205,384

Weighted average number of ordinary shares, after dilution

Shares (thousands) 2021 2020

Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year, before dilution 

(calculated after completion of the stock split).
607,940 600,290

Effect of warrants (calculated after completion of the stock split) 540 2,630

Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the year, after dilution 608,480 602,920

Instruments that may result in future dilution and other changes after the financial 

position date 
During 2021, the company had an outstanding warrant program (2021/2024), where 24,000 warrants were subscribed during

2021. The 2021/2024 warrant program was issued in March, where participants purchased warrants during the trading period 

at a value calculated according to the Black Scholes model. Each warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one new share in 

Fortnox. The share options can be exercised during the period April 1 to June 30, 2024 at a predetermined share price of SEK

552.82

Before dilution

After dilution
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In accordance with the terms of the warrants, recalculation has taken place with regard to the 10:1 stock split resolved by the 

Extraordinary General Meeting on December 27, 2021, whereby each warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for 10 shares in the 

Company at a subscription price of SEK 55.28 per share.

For further information about the Group’s warrant programs, see under Note 5.

Warrants
Group

2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Number of outstanding warrants at the start of the year 407,000 757,000

Issue of warrants 250,000 250,000

Forfeited warrants -476,000 -250,000

Redeemed warrants -157,000 -350,000

Number of outstanding warrants at the end of the year 24,000 407,000

Maximum dilutive effect 0.0% 0.7%

Of which: Exercise price

Program 2014/2019 15.34                 - 

 Program 2017/2020 40  - 

 Program 2018/2021 71.40 (115,000)/ 

96.01 (42,000)
 - 157,000

Program 2018/2022 

(Program entirely attributable to Capcito Finance AB, no dilutive effect)
 - 

Program 2019/2022 Forfeited                               - 

 Program 2020/2023 Forfeited                               - 250,000

Program 2021/2024                                                                                                                                                                                         552.85    24,000                          -

24,000 407,000
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Note 11 - Intangible assets
The Group

000s Development expenditure
Other technology and contract-

based assets
Brands

Customer 

relationships
Goodwill Total

Accumulated acquisition values 

Opening balance

2020- 01-01
186,403 1,034 -  -  -  187,436

Internally developed assets 64,846  -  -  - -  64,846

Other investments                                                         - - -  -  -  

 Closing balance

2020-12-31
251,249 1,034 -  -  -  252,283

Opening balance 

2021-01-01
251,249 1,034 -  -  -  252,283

Internally developed assets                                     86,926                                                                        - -  -  -  86,926

Acquired intangible assets -  60,745 55,716 105,893 605,606 827,960

Closing balance

2021-12-31
338,175 61,778 55,716 105,893 605,606 1,167,168

Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment

Opening balance

2020-01-01
-89,872 -907  -  - -  -90,778

Impairment for the year                                     -3,594                                                                         - -  -  -  -3,594

Depreciation for the year -36,463 -64  -  - -  -36,527

Closing balance

2020-12-31
-129,928 -971  -  - -  -130,899

Opening balance

2021-01-01 -130,899

Impairment for the year -294 0 -294

Depreciation for the year -41,845 -3,662  -  -4,768  - -50,275

Closing balance

2021-12-31
-172,067 -4,633  - -4,768  - -181,468

Internally developed 

intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets
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Carrying amounts Development expenditure
Other technology and contract-based 

assets
Brands

Customer 

relationships
Goodwill  Total

Per 2020-01-01           
96,531 127 -  -  -  96,658

Per 2020-12-31 121,321 63  -  - -  121,383

Per 2021-01-01 121,321 63  -  -  - 121,383

Per 2021-12-31 166,108 57,145 55,716 101,125 605,606 985,700

The impairment 2020 of MSEK 3.6 is mainly attributable to an impairment of internally developed intangible assets for products 

that are no longer in use or have been replaced by other developments.

Depreciations are included in the line Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and intangible fixed assets in the 

statement of income and other comprehensive income. Goodwill and brands have been assessed as having an indefinite useful 

life, and no depreciation has been carried out.

Customer relations were established in connection with the business acquisitions carried out during the year, and the remaining 

depreciation period is 10 years.

Other technical and contract-based assets include contract-based rights such as license agreements and technology acquired 

through business acquisitions. Development expenses, together with other technology and contract-based assets, are included 

under platforms. The remaining depreciation period for platforms is up to 5 years.

For information on depreciation, see the accounting principles in Note1.

Internally developed intangible 

assets
Acquired intangible assets
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The Parent Company

Internally developed intangible assets

000s Development expenditure

Cumulative acquisition value

Opening balance 2020-01-01 164,935

Internally developed assets 48,516

Closing balance 2020-12-31 213,451

Opening balance 2021-01-01 213,451

Internally developed assets 67,094

Closing balance 2021-12-31 280,545

Accumulated amortisation

Opening balance 2020-01-01 -69,532

Amortisation for the year -29,751

Closing balance 2020-12-31 -99,283

Opening balance 2021-01-01 -99,283

Amortisation for the year -34 159

Closing balance 2021-12-31 -133,441

Accumulated impairment

Opening balance 2020-01-01 -9,729

Impairment for the year -3,594

Closing balance 2020-12-31 -13,323

Opening balance 2021-01-01 -13,323

Impairment for the year -294

Closing balance 2021-12-31 -13,617

Carrying amounts

As of 2020-01-01 85,674

As of 2020-12-31 100,845

As of 2021-01-01 100,846

As of 2021-12-31 133,487

Amortisations are included in the line Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and intangible  fixed assets in the 

income statement.
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Goodwill

000s 2021    2020

Accumulated acquisition values opening balance - 

 

                                                                                                                                                          

 

Accumulated impairment opening balance  

 Impairment for the year  

 Accumulated impairment closing balance  

  

Carrying amount at end of the year  

 

 The Group’s goodwill is attributable to synergy effects for business combinations completed in 2021.

Subsidiaries acquired in 2021:

Offerta Group AB, operation from Bp Bolagspartner AB (operations have been started up in the subsidiary Fortnox Lagerbolag

AB), Capcito Finance AB, Capcito Systems AB and Capcito Lending 2 AB.

For further information about the acquisitions see Note 18.

Impairment testing
In conjunction with business combinations, Group-wide excess values in goodwill and brands have arisen. The Fortnox brand has 

been assessed on the basis of an indefinite useful life. This is because the useful life of brands depends on a number of factors 

such as market development and technological development, which means the useful life cannot be established. Fortnox applies 

IAS 38, which means goodwill and assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortized. On the other hand, impairment tests are 

carried out annually or more frequently if there are indications, or it is feared, that the carrying amount of the asset will be lower 

than the recovery value.

Impairment testing is carried out per cash-generating unit and the value in use relates to the basis for determining the recovery 

value.

Financial reporting

139

Acquisitions                                                                                                                                                                                                                                         605,606                      -
Acquisition values closing balance                                                                                                                                                                            605,606                                -

-                                 -

-                                 -

-                                 -

605,606                                -

-

The report is a translation of the original Swedish report. In the event of a discrepancy between this translation and the Swedish original, the Swedish reports take precedence. 



Carrying amount of goodwill and brands per cash-generating unit.

000s 2021  2020

The Group
Annual growth year 6 and beyond, 

%

Discount rate before tax, 

%

Offerta Group AB

Goodwill 231,080 -  2% 13.4%

Brands 42,657 -  2% 13.4%

273,737 - 

Fortnox Lagerbolag AB

Goodwill 39,314 -  2% 16.6%

39,314 - 

Capcito Finance AB

Goodwill 335,212 -  2% 13.5%

Brands 13,059 -  2% 13.5%

348,271 - 

Method for calculating the recovery value

For goodwill and brands, the recovery value has been calculated by calculating the value in use of the respective cash  generating 

unit. The calculations are based on a discounting of future forecast cash flows, based on the five-year business forecast 

determined by management. An indefinate horizon has been assumed in the calculation, and extrapolation of cash flows for the 

years after the forecast period has been based on a growth rate as shown in the table above.

Important assumptions for calculating value in use

The following assumptions are significant and common to all cash generating units when calculating value in use:

Sales: Based on the historical development of the business and expected market growth based on external information sources. 

Operating margin: Based on historical profitability level and the estimated efficiency of the business.

Investment needs: The investment needs of the operations are assessed on the basis of the investments required to achieve 

forecast cash flows initially, i.e. without expansion investments.

These values from both internal and external information sources have reflected previous experience.

Assumptions
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Note 12 - Tangible fixed assets 
The Group 

000s
Equipment, tools and   
installations

Improvement expenditure on other

property Total

Acquisition Value

Opening balance January 1 2020 14,220 - 14,220

Acquisitions 27,040 3,848 30,888

Closing balance December 31 2020 41,260 3,848 45,108

Opening balance January 1 2021 41,260 3,848 45,108

Opening balance attributable to business combinations completed

during the year
5,438  - 5,438

Acquisitions 12,010 316 12,326

Closing balance December 31  2021 58,709 4,164 62,873

Depreciation/Amortisation

Opening balance January 1 2020                                                                                                           -7,232                                                                              - -7,232

Depreciation/Amortisation for the year -4,849 -229 -5,078

Closing balance December 31  2020 -12,081 -229 -12,310

Opening balance January 1 2021 -12,081 -229 -12,310

Opening balance attributable to business combinations completed

during the year
-4,988  - -4,988 

Depreciation/Amortisation for the year -8,767 -481 -9,248

Closing balance December 31  2021 -25,836 -710 -26,546

Carrying amounts

As of 2020-01-01 6,988                                                                               - 6,988

As of 2020-12-31 29,180 3,619 32,799

As of 2021-01-01 29,180 3,619 32,799

As of 2021-12-31 32,873 3,454 36,328

Depreciation/Amortisation is included in the line Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and intangible  fixed 

assets in the income statement.

Financial reporting

141
The report is a translation of the original Swedish report. In the event of a discrepancy between this translation and the Swedish original, the Swedish reports take precedence. 



The Parent Company

000s Equipment, tools and installations Improvement expenditure on other property  Total

Acquisition Value

Opening balance January 1  2020 13,997 - 13,997

Acquisitions 25,641 3,681 29,322

Closing balance December 31 2020 39,639 3,681 43,320

Opening balance January 1  2021 39,639 3,681 43,320

Acquisitions  9,594 316  9,910

Opening balance December 31 2021 49,232 3,997 53,229

Depreciation/Amortisation

Opening balance January 1  2020                                                  -7,126                                                                                                           - -7,126

Depreciation/Amortisation for the year -4,795 -224 -5,019

Closing balance December 31  2020 -11,921 -224 -12,145

Opening balance January 1  2021 -11 ,921 -224 -12,145

Depreciation/Amortisation for the year -7,994 -447 -8,441 

Closing balance December 31 2021 -19,915 -671 -20,586

Carrying amounts

As of 2020-01-01 6,871 - 6,871 

As of 2020-12-31 27,717 3,456 31,174 

As of 2021-01-01 27,717 3,456 31,174 

As of 2021-12-31 29,318  3,325  32,643 

Depreciation/Amortisation is included in the line Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of tangible and intangible fixed 

assets in the income statement.
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Note 13 - Participation in associated 
companies

The Group The Group The Parent Company The Parent Company

000s 2021 2020 2021 2020

Interests in associated companies 

Carrying forward amount at start of the year                                                             - -                                     -   

Shares in associated companies acquired during the year                            18,642                          -                           18,642  

 Share in profit or loss of associated companies’ profits*                                          -1,998   

 Carrying amount at the end of the year                                                                        16,644                        -                           18,642  

 *Participation in the profit or loss after tax of the associated company. No dividend has been received.

The Group’s participation in associated companies, all of which were unlisted as of December 31, 2021, is as follows: 

The Group

Associated company

000s

Organisation 

no:

Registered 

office

Share in capital 

%

Number of 

shares

Share in 

profits/loss

Share in 

equity
Book value

AgoyIt AB 559228-1868 Stockholm 30.0 41,354 -1,998 7,458  16,644

Shares in associated companies were acquired during 2021, and no comparative  figures for 2020 are available.

Parent Company

Associated company

000s

Organisation 

no:

Registered 

office

Share in capital 

%

Number of 

shares

Share in 

profits/loss

Share in 

equity
Book value

AgoyIt AB 559228-1868 Stockholm 30.0 41,354 -1 ,998 7,458  18,642

2021

2021
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Note 14 - Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are reported after consideration of expected and determined credit losses, which amounted to MSEK 10.7 

(1.7) in the Group. In the Parent Company, credit losses amounted to MSEK 5.8 (1.4).

The increase is attributable to the credit losses of acquisitions made during the year, increased net sales, and changed risk 

assessment for receivables due more than 90 days, which means that 87 (55)% are reserved.

Information on risks related to credit losses related to accounts receivable is described in more detail in Note 25.
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Note 15 - Receivables- invoice financing, 
factoring and corporate lending

Receivables regarding invoice financing, factoring, and corporate loans are reported after consideration of expected and 

determined credit losses, which amounted to MSEK 12.2 (1.5) in the Group. In the Parent Company, there are no receivables 

regarding invoice financing, factoring, and corporate loans. The increase was attributable to the business acquisition of Capcito, 

which accounted for MSEK 2.1 during the year. The remaining increase is attributable to Fortnox Finans AB, consisting of a few 

major claims that have been recognized or reserved.

Information on credit risks in receivables regarding invoice financing, factoring, and corporate loans is described in more detail in 

Note 25.
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Not 16 - Prepaid expenses and accrued 
revenue
000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

The Group

Prepaid rental expenses 4,343 2,816

Other prepaid expenses 12,302 6,044

Prepaid expenses 16,645 8,860

Accrued transaction-based revenue 14,210 9,569

Other accrued revenue 916 1,258

Accrued revenue 15,126 10,827

The Parent Company

Prepaid rental expenses 2,965 2,266

Other prepaid expenses 8,249 5,601

Prepaid expenses 11,214 7,867

Accrued transaction-based revenue 14,210 9,569

Other accrued revenue 723 300

Accrued revenue 14,933 9,869

Note 17 - Cash and cash equivalents
000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

The Group

The following components are included in cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and bank balances 373,323 412,614

Total according to consolidated statement of  financial position 373,323 412,614

Total according to consolidated cash flow statement 373,323 412,614

The Parent Company

Cash and bank balances 270,140 339,685

Total according to consolidated balance sheet 270,140 339,685

Total according to consolidated cash flow statement 270,140 339,685
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Note 18 - Business acquisitions

Acquisitions 2021
Note 18.1 Acquisition of Offerta Group AB
On March 11, 2021, the Group acquired 100% of the shares in the unlisted company, Offerta Group AB. Adjusted for net cash, the 

purchase consideration amounted to MSEK 308.1. Of this, MSEK 303.6 was paid through newly issued shares in Fortnox AB (publ) 

on March 11, 2021 and the remainder was paid in cash. The number of new shares issued was 682,177, with a value of SEK 445 per 

share as of March 11, 2021.

As Sweden’s largest market place for services, Offerta’s market place brokers more than 80,000 assignments each year in more 

than 140 sectors.

The acquisition gives the Group a new vertical in line with the strategic choices, with a focus on use and users. In addition to the 

obvious synergy of the Group’s customers as suppliers in Offertas’s platform, there are also opportunities such as  financing for 

suppliers and purchasers, as well as the provision of, for example, accounting services within Offerta.

Acquisition-related costs related to the acquisition, which were capitalised and included as financial  fixed assets in the Parent 

Company, and recognised in accordance with IFRS in the Group under other external costs, amounted to MSEK 3.2, of which MSEK 

1.7 was charged to 2021.

During 2021, the subsidiary contributed MSEK 68.6 to the Group’s net sales and MSEK 2.2 to the Group’s profit after tax. If the 

acquisition of Offerta Group AB had occurred as of January 1, 2021, the company management estimates that the acquisition 

would have further affected net sales by MSEK 16.8 and profit after tax by MSEK 0.4 for the full year 2021.

The fair value of acquired receivables amounts to MSEK 11.1, where the gross contracted receivables comprise MSEK 14.3 and a 

total of MSEK 2.3 of the receivables are not expected to flow in.

The acquisition analysis has been determined and the effects on the Group's assets and liabilities are reported below.

000s 2021

Intangible assets

    Customer relationships 54,308

   Brands 42,657

   Other intangible assets 11,578

Accounts receivable and other receivables 11,084

Cash and cash equivalents 25,658

Accounts payable and other liabilities -22,674

Deferred tax liabilities -19,975

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 102,636

Consolidated goodwill 231,080

Consideration transferred 333,716

Cash in acquired company -25,658

Transferred compensation without cash flow impact -303,569

Total impact on cash flow 4,489

Goodwill is mainly attributable to synergy effects as described above, together with know-how in the existing organisation and 

customer and market organisation.
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Note 18.2 Acquisition of platform for corporate startups from Bp Bolagspartner AB
On April 27, 2021, the Group acquired a platform for startups from BP Bolagspartner AB, Sweden’s largest provider of ready made 

companies. This acquisition means that customers can easily start a business by purchasing a company in an automated

flow, integrated with Fortnox’s other products and services. During the fiscal year of 2020, the acquired operations generated 

estimated net sales of about MSEK 20 and operating profit of about MSEK 10.

Following the acquisition, the net assets were transferred to a newly established company, Fortnox Lagerbolag AB. The 

consideration of SEK 43.6 million was paid in cash on April 27, 2021.

The acquisition of the platform is expected to lead to customer synergies through both new customer acquisitions in the basic 

“Start a company” (“Starta bolag”) business and a strengthened offering throughout the entire corporate journey for startups. 

A simple startup service is in demand by both companies and accounting firms, which can now start new companies either via 

the website or by logging in to the Fortnox platform. For accounting firms and existing customers, this means they can start new 

companies directly in their everyday program.

Acquisition-related costs attributable to the acquisition, which were capitalised and included as financial fixed assets in the 

Parent Company and recognized in accordance with IFRS in the Group under other external costs, amounted to MSEK 1.3.

During 2021, the subsidiary contributed MSEK 20.3 to the Group’s net sales and MSEK 4.3 to the Group’s profit after tax. Some of 

the acquired operations are conducted in the Parent Company, which contributed positively to the Parent Company's earnings.

If the acquisition of the platform from Bp Bolagspartner AB had occurred as of January 1, 2021, the company management 

estimates that the acquisition would have further affected net sales by MSEK 7.2 and profit after tax by MSEK 2.2 for the full year 

2021.

The fair value of acquired receivables amounts to MSEK 1.7, all of which is expected to flow in and none of which refers to 

contractual receivables.

Effects of acquisitions in 2021

The acquisition analysis has been determined and the effects on the Group's assets and liabilities are reported below.

000s 2021

Intangible assets

  Platforms 7,000

Accounts receivable and other receivables 1,662

Cash and cash equivalents 1,400

Accounts payable and other liabilities -3,037

Deferred tax liabilities -1,339

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 5,686

Consolidated goodwill 39,314

Consideration transferred 45,000

Cash in acquired company -1,400

Total impact on cash flow 43,600

Goodwill is mainly attributable to the synergy effects described above, together with know-how in the existing organisation. 

Note 18.3 Acquisition of Capcito Finance AB
On December 1, 2021, the Group acquired 79% of the shares in the unlisted company Capcito Finance AB. Capcito in turn is 100% 

owner of two subsidiaries; Capcito Lending 2 AB and Capcito Systems AB, including the Monto platform.

The purchase price amounted to MSEK 322.4 to acquire 79% of the shares, corresponding to a value of MSEK 413.1 for all shares in 

the subsidiary. The consideration of MSEK 322.4 was paid in cash on December 1, 2021.
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The acquisition means that Fortnox, using the Monto platform and other ERP and banking partners, can create a hub for credit 

rating and onboarding of financial services. In conjunction with the acquisition of Capcito, Fortnox will release a new corporate 

loan that is offered to customers in-app and supports customers undergoing expansion or change. The customer determines the 

amount of the loan in the application and can adjust the duration during the period of the loan. The loan offering does not involve 

any administration since the accounting is done automatically. A better offering is made possible by using real-time credit data. 

This will be part of Fortnox’s growing ambition to offer entrepreneurs stable cash  flows.

Acquisition-related costs related to the acquisition amounted to MSEK 3.2, which were capitalised and included as financial  fixed 

assets in Fortnox Finans, and were recognized in the Group in accordance with IFRS under other external costs.

During 2021, the subsidiary contributed MSEK 2.8 to the Group’s net sales and MSEK -3.8 to the Group’s profit after tax. If the 

acquisition of Capcito had occurred as of January 1, 2021, the company management estimates that the acquisition would have 

further affected net sales by MSEK 27.4 and result after tax by MSEK -39.8 for the full year 2021.

If the fair value of acquired receivables amounts to MSEK 146.8, where the gross contractual receivables comprise MSEK 153.0 and a 

total of MSEK 7.0 of the receivables are not expected to flow in.

The preliminary effects of the acquisition on the Group’s intangible  fixed assets, deferred tax liability, and goodwill are reported 

below. The acquisition analysis may be adjusted over a period of 12 months.

Fortnox has chosen to apply the “Anticipated Acquisition Method”, meaning that 100% of the subsidiary is considered to have 

been acquired at the date of acquisition. A liability attributable to the owners’ pull options measured at amortised cost is 

recognised for the estimated future purchase price.

The acquired company’s net assets at the date of acquisition based on the information available on the acquisition date:

 

000s 2021

Intangible assets

  Platform 42,171

  Brands 13,059

  Customer relationships 51,585

Tangible assets 446

Accounts receivable and other receivables 146,849

Cash and cash equivalents 12,583

Accounts payable and other liabilities -172,520

Deferred tax liabilities -16,321

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 77,852

Consolidated goodwill 335,212

Consideration transferred 413,064

Cash in acquired company -12,676

Liability for remaining shareholders’ put option -90,668

Total impact on cash flow 309,720

Goodwill is mainly attributable to synergies described above, combined with know-how in the existing organisation.  
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000s 2021 2020

Consideration transferred

                                                                                                                                                                     

 

 

  

Effects on cash flow

Note 19 - Equity
Types of shares

2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Ordinary shares

Issued as of January 1 60,135,292 59,785,293

Cash issue 839,178 350,000

Issued as of December 31 – paid 60,974,470 60,135,293

As of December 31, 2021, the registered share capital included 60,974,470 (60,135,292) ordinary shares with a quota value of SEK 

0.02. The stock split carried out in January 2022 resulted in each share being split into ten (10) shares (10:1 stock split). The new 

number of shares after the stock split amounts to 609,744,700.

Holders of ordinary shares are entitled to dividends that are determined in due course and the holding of shares carries the right 

to vote at the general meeting with one vote per share.

Dividends
After the balance sheet date, the Board has proposed the following dividend. The dividend will be subject to approval by the 

Annual General Meeting on March 30, 2022.

000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

0.080 (0.075) SEK per ordinary share, calculated after completed stock split 48,780 45,613

48,780 45,613
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Summary of transferred consideration and effects on cash flow for completed acquisitions

Cash and cash equivalents                                                                                                                                                                                                 397,430                         -

Consideration through newly issued shares                                                                                                                                                               303,569                          -

Debted consideration                                                                                                                                                                                                             90,668                          -

Total consideration transferred                                                                                                                                                                                          791,667                           -

Consideration transferred                                                                                                                                                                                               -397,430                           -

Cash and cash equivalents in acquired companies                                                                                                                                                    39,641                           -

Total cash flow impact                                                                                                                                                                                                          -357,789                           -
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The Parent Company

000s Fund for development costs

Opening carrying amount 2020-01-01 79,766

Funding for own work capitalised 48,516

Depreciation for own development capitalized -29,100

Closing carrying amount 2020-12-31 99,182

Opening carrying amount 2021-01-01 99,182

Funding for own work capitalised 67,094

Depreciation for own development capitalised -33,598

Closing carrying amount 2021-12-31 132,678

Restricted equity
Restricted equity may not be reduced through dividends.

Development expenditure reserve

The amount capitalised in respect of internally generated development expenses will be transferred from unrestricted equity to a 

reserve for development expenses in restricted equity. The reserve will be reduced as the capitalised expenditure depreciates or 

is written down. It is handled in a similar way to the revaluation reserve.

Unrestricted equity
Unrestricted equity is the amount available for distribution to shareholders.

Share premium reserve

When shares are issued at a premium, i.e. when the share price is more than the quota value of the shares, an amount 

corresponding to the amount received over and above the quota value of the shares is transferred to the share premium. 

Amounts added to the share premium as of January 1, 2006 are included in non-restricted equity.

Retained earnings

Retained earnings consist of the retained earnings for the previous year and the net result for the year after deduction of the 

dividend for the year.
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Note 20 - Borrowing
The Group and Parent Company

Borrowings

000s 2021       2020

Non-current

Liabilities to credit institutions                                                                                                                                                                                200,000           -

200,000           -

The Group

Borrowings

000s 2021                      2020

Current

Liabilities to credit institutions                                                                                                                                                                                                         113,878           -

113,878

During the year, both non-current and current liabilities to credit institutions were added. The non-current liability is attributable 

to a signed agreement relating to a revolving credit facility. The contract runs for three years with the possibility of extending 

for a further two years. The contract includes financial conditions that require the Group’s net debt to EBITDA ratio not to exceed 

2.5:1, and the Group’s equity/assets ratio to be no less than 30%. Through the credit facility, Fortnox secured additional liquidity 

of MSEK 500 and as of December 31, 2021 the Group utilized MSEK 200.

Current liabilities to credit institutions were added in conjunction with the acquisition of the subsidiary, Capcito Finance AB, which 

is planned to be settled during the first quarter of 2022. For information on interest rate risk, see under Note 25.

The Group and Parent Company

Credit available

000s 2021        2020

                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

 Granted credit facility   500,000 

300,000 -

Note 21 - Other non-current liabilities
000s      2021    2020

Expensed consideration                                                                                                                                                                               90,668 

90,668 

The consideration paid is attributable to the acquisition of Capcito Finance AB, amounting to MSEK 90.7 (0). This is because

Fortnox has chosen to apply the “Anticipated Acquisition Method”, meaning that 100% of the subsidiary is considered to have 

been acquired at the date of acquisition. In this case, a liability attributable to the owners’ pull options measured at amortised 

cost is recognised for the estimated future purchase price.

The size of the pull options is determined on the basis of annual recurring revenues attributable to the platform Monto and on 

the basis of the achieved EBITDA margin, during the period 2023-01-01 to 2023-06-30.
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Utilized credit facility                                                                                                                                                                                                                        -200,000                            -

-

-

-

-
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Note 22 - Pensions

Defined contribution pension plans
In Sweden, the Group has defined-contribution pension plans for employees that are fully paid for by the companies. Payments to 

these plans are made on an ongoing basis in accordance with the rules for the respective plans.

000s 2021 2020

The Group

Costs for defined contribution plans 20,598 14,318

The Parent Company

Costs for defined contribution plans 15,888 11,639

Note 23 - Accrued expenses and deferred 
revenue
000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

The Group

Accrued personnel costs 25,660 22,515

Accrued commission retailer 8,647 9,295

Other accrued costs 29,053 15,822

Accrued expenses 63,360 47,632

Deferred revenue 173,313 142,334

Deferred revenue 173,313 142,334

The Parent Company

Accrued personnel costs 15,468 18,655

Accrued commission retailers 8,300 8,843

Other accrued costs 15,970 12,045

Accrued expenses 39,737 39,543

Deferred revenue 171,787 142,334

Deferred revenue 171,787 142,334
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Note 24 - Valuation of  financial 
assets, liabilities and categorisation
The Group

2021

000s Note
Financial assets valued at 

amortised cost

Financial liabilities valued at 

amortised cost

Total carrying  

Financial assets 

Accounts receivable 14 74,265 74,265

Receivables factoring 15 55,097 55,097

Invoice financing 15 168,662 168,662

Receivables corporate lending 15 53,616 53,616

Accrued revenue 16 15,126 15,126

Other current receivables 5,029 5,029

Cash and cash equivalents 17 373,323 373,323

745,117 745,117

Financial liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities (non-current and 

current)
20 313,878 313,878

Other non-current liabilities 21 90,668 90,668

Accounts payable 24,045 24,045

Other current liabilities 41,757 41,757

470,348 470,348

Recognised value
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The Group

2020

000s Note Financial assets valued at amortised cost Financial liabilities valued at amortised cost Total carrying amount 

Financial assets

Accounts receivable 14 43,473 43,473

Receivables factoring 15 20,564 20,564

Invoice financing 15 106,160 106,160

Accrued revenue 16 10,827 10,827

Other current receivables 1,660 1,660

Cash and cash equivalents 17 412,614 412,614

595,298 595,298

Financial liabilities

Accounts payable 16,940 16,940

Other current receivables 21,307 21,307

38,248 38,248

According to the Group’s assessment, there has been no change in market interest rates or credit margins since the interest-

bearing liabilities were adopted that would have a significant impact on the Group's  financial liabilities. In addition, the  

financial assets essentially consist of cash and cash equivalents and of current receivables recognised after write-down, and 

consequently this is considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Recognised value

Note 25 - Financial risks and risk 
management
Through its operations, the Group is exposed to various types of financial risks. Financial risks refers to fluctuations in the 

Group’s earnings and cash  flow due to changes in exchange rates, interest rates,  financing and credit risks.

The Group is primarily exposed to:

- Credit risk

- Liquidity risk

- Interest rate risk

The Group’s  financial policy for management of  financial risks has been formulated by the Board of Directors and forms a 

framework of guidelines and rules in the form of risk mandates and limits for  financing activities. Responsibility for the Group’s

 financial transactions and risks is managed centrally by the Group’s  financial function within the parent company. The overall 

objective of the  finance function is to minimise negative effects on the Group’s earnings arising from financial risks.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of not having suffcient payment preparedness to meet planned and/or unforeseen expenses.  

According to the  finance policy, there should always be suffcient cash and  financial investments that can be converted into

liquidity through sales within three bank days to cover the liquidity needs of the next 3 months.

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period amounted to MSEK 373.3 (412.6).
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The Group’s  financial liabilities amounted to MSEK 470.4 (38.3) at year-end, the increase is primarily attributable to interest 

bearing liabilities consisting of bank loans that were incurred in connection with the acquisition of Capcito and through the 

adoption of a credit facility. Maturity structure for the loan debt is shown in the table below.

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on both current and non-current interest bearing liabilities. In view of the Group’s 

level of borrowing, interest rate risk is limited. The interest rate risk arose in connection with the adoption of a revolving credit 

facility amounting to MSEK 500 and, as of December 31, MSEK 200 was utilized. The current interest bearing liabilities arose in 

connection with the business acquisition of Capcito Finance AB and will be settled during the first quarter of 2022.

The Group is also exposed to interest rate risk related to future leasing agreements, which the Group currently judges to be 

immaterial.

If the interest rate had been 3 percentage points higher, with all other variables constant, this means an increased interest 

expense for 2022 of MSEK 6.

Maturity structure financial liabilities – undiscounted cash flows
The Group

2021

000s Total < 1 mo 1-3 mo 3 mo-1 yr 1-5 yr > 5 yr

 

2020

000s Total < 1 mo 1-3 mo 3 mo-1 yr    1-5 yr  > 5 yr

Accounts payable 16,940 16,940 -  -  -  - 

Leasing liabilities 194,787 1,864 3,581 15,688 92,439 81,215

Other current liabilities 21,307 -  21,307  -  - - 

233,034 18,804 24,888 15,688 92,439     81,215

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty in attributable to a  financial instrument is unable to fulfil its obligations 

and thereby causes the Group a  financial loss, and arises mainly from the Group’s accounts receivables, receivables invoice  

financing and receivables factoring.

The carrying amount of  financial assets constitutes the maximum credit exposure.
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Interest-bearing liabilities                                                               313,878                          -                 113,878                                    -                 200,000                          -

Other non-current liabilities                                                             90,668                          -                             -                                    -                     90,668                          -

Leasing liabilities                                                                                 192,470                 2,496                     4,991                        22,453                  100,384               62,146

Accounts payable                                                                                  24,045              24,045                              -                                    -                               -                          -

Other current liabilities                                                                         41,757                          -                    41,757                                    -                              -                           -

                                                                                                                     662,818               26,541                160,626                        22,453                  391,052               62,146
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Reserve for credit losses
The Group's accounting principles for impairment of financial assets are based on expected credit losses. The receivables in 

which the Group has exposures in credit risk as described above are divided into three stages, depending on the degree of 

increase in credit risk relative to the date on which the credit was issued or acquired;

- Stage 1 (performing) includes receivables where there has been no significant increase in credit risk since the first recognition. 

In this stage, an amount corresponding to the loss expected to occur within 12 months will be reserved.

- Stage 2 (underperforming) includes receivables where there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since the first 

recognition. In this stage, an amount corresponding to the loss expected to occur during the entire remaining maturity of the 

asset is reserved. The Group considers that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is overdue by more 

than 30 days.

- Stage 3 (credit impairment) includes defaulted/credit impaired loans. In this stage, an amount corresponding to the loss 

expected to occur during the entire remaining maturity of the asset is reserved. The Group considers that a financial asset is in 

default when it is unlikely that the borrower will pay the whole of their credit obligations to the Group, without the Group having 

recourse such as realising a security (if any such is held) or the financial asset is due by more than 90 days.

Since the Group’s accounts receivables, acquired receivables, and issued corporate loans with underlying accounts receivable as 

security have a short term, which, if applicable, is less than 12 months, the calculation method is not affected by expected credit 

losses from this stage, but only leads to a division of information.

Expected credit losses are calculated using a matrix by applying a fixed percentage rate to which stage the receivable is in, 

which in turn depends on the number of days by which the receivable is outstanding.

The percentage rates have been calculated from historical internal data that could be observed for different degrees of late 

payment for similar receivables and counterparties. The historical information is continuously evaluated and adjusted, if 

necessary, according to the current situation and the Group's expectations of future events. The same method is applied to 

claims in stage 3 that are not of significant value.

For receivables of significant value in stage 3, an individual assessment is made of the cash flows expected to be received 

and, as a result, of the amount of the impairment. Since the absolute majority of receivables have a maturity below 12 months, 

discounting is not applied to the calculation of loss reserves.

The Group applies the same method to its own accounts receivable that do not contain a substantial financing component. The 

simplified model is not divided into stages since it is always calculated using the remaining maturity.

In the case of factoring with recourse, the seller of the receivables has an obligation to repurchase such receivables that are 

more than 30 days late. In these cases, the Group does not recognise the acquired receivables in its balance sheet, since the 

seller has retained all significant risks and rewards in the transferred receivables. Instead, a receivable is reported against 

the seller. It is therefore the receivable against the seller that is the subject of division into stages 1-3 as above, and these 

receivables usually belong to stage 1.

Credit risk management
The Group’s credit risk exposure is primarily affected by the individual characteristics of each customer or counterparty. 

However, management considers the factors that may affect the credit risk in the customer base, including the risk of default 

associated with the industry in which customers operate.

Financial credit risks related to cash and financial instruments are limited by using counterparties with a high credit rating. The 

Group reduces the credit risk related to accounts receivable and other receivables by applying the credit policy in force at any 

time. Counterparties are credit-checked and information on the counterparty's financial position is collected. In addition, the 

receivables are continuously analysed on the basis of age.

Credit risks in accounts receivable and receivables within accrued income
At the balance sheet date, there is no significant exposure to different risk concentrations in different geographic markets or to 

different sizes, number of customers, etc. No individual customer accounts for more than 5% of the Group's accounts receivable.
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The Group does not require bank guarantees or other security for accounts receivable. The Group has no accounts receivable and 

receivables within accrued income for which impairment reserves are not recognised due to security. The credit risk exposure and 

expected credit losses for accounts receivable and receivables within accrued income are summarised below.

The Group

2021

000s Carrying amount, gross Loss reserves Carrying amount

Accounts receivable and receivables within accrued income

Not overdue 79,230 -580 78,650

Overdue 1–30 days 8,136 -657 7,479

Overdue > 31–60 days 2,135 -741 1,394

 Overdue > 61–90 days 543 -252 291

Overdue > 90 days 12,446 -10,870 1,576

102,491 -13,100 89,391

2020

000s Carrying amount, gross Loss reserves Carrying amount

Accounts receivable and receivables within accrued income

Not overdue 40,810 -109 40,700

Overdue 1–30 days 8,995 -116 8,880

Overdue > 31–60 days 1,677 -155 1,522

Overdue > 61–90 days 446 -201 245

Overdue > 90 days 6,584 -3,631 2,953

58,512 -4,213 54,300

The change in provisions for impairment of accounts receivable and receivables within accrued income during the year was as 

follows.

The Group

000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Accounts receivable and receivables within accrued income

Opening balance as of January 1 -4,213 -3,556

Opening balance business acquisitions during the year                                                                                                                                                  -2,309  

Impairment losses for the year -10,738 -1,712

Realised losses 4,160 1,055

Closing balance as of December 31 -13,100 -4,213

Credit risks in receivables – invoice financing, factoring and corporate lending
At the balance sheet date, there is no significant exposure to different risk concentrations in different geographic markets or to 

different sizes, number of customers, etc.

In the case of invoice financing, the Group requires security in the invoice that is financed and may require personal guarantees 

from the counterparty. The credit risk is therefore lower and, as of December 31, 2021, amounts to 2.4% in relation to the loan 

volume, excluding remaining receivables and provisions linked to Fortnox Finans AB. Lending based revenues during 2021 is 

mainly attributable to the acquisition of Capcito, as Fortnox Finans AB concluded the product during 2020.
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The Group may require personal guarantees from counterparties but does not require bank guarantees or other security for 

factoring. Factoring is carried out with or without recourse to the seller of the invoice. In the case of factoring without a right of 

recourse, the credit risk is transferred to the Group.

For corporate loans, the Group may require personal guarantees from the counterparty, but otherwise the Group does not require 

any security in the loans issued.

The following summarizes the credit risk exposure and expected credit losses for receivables – factoring, invoice  financing, and 

corporate lending.

The Group

000s 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Receivables

Stage 1 166,558 105,764 54,122 19,479 54,566 - 

Stage 2 892 954 -  -  363 - 

Stage 3 8,274 2,075 6,798 4,164 5,863 - 

175,724 108,793 60,920 23,643  60,792 - 

Provisions

Stage 1 -2,165 -869 -428 -156  -1,467 - 

Stage 2 -370 -306 -  -  -272 - 

Stage 3 -4,527 -1,458 -5,396 -2,923  -5,437 - 

-7,062 -2,633 -5,824 -3,079  -7,176 - 

Receivables net 168,662 106,160 55,097 20,564  53,616 - 

The Group

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Provision rate %

Stage 1 1.3% 0.8% 0.8% 0.8%  2.7% - 

Stage 2 41.5% 32.1% -  -  74.9% - 

Stage 3 54.7% 70.2% 79.4% 70.2%  92.7% - 

Receivables and provisions relating to factoring, invoice financing, and corporate lending have increased during the year and 

are primarily attributable to the acquisition of Capcito Finance AB. The provisions have also been affected by a change in risk 

assessment and by a few major receivables identified or reserved.

The product invoice financing within Fortnox Finans AB was concluded in 2020.

The change in provisions for impairment losses related to receivables factoring was as follows.

The Group

000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Provisions Factoring 

Opening balance as of January 1 -2,633  -752

Opening balance acquisitions during the year -332           - 

 Impairment losses for the year -7,799 -1,940

Realised losses 3,702 59

Closing balance as of December 31 -7,062 -2,633

Impairment losses for the year include recoveries.

Receivables Factoring Receivables Invoice financing Receivables Corporate lending

Receivables Factoring Receivables Invoice financing Receivables Corporate lending
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The increase in provisions is primarily attributable to the acquisition of Capcito Finance AB, but also increased as a result of the 

growth of factoring within Fortnox Finans AB and a change in risk assessment.

The change in reserves for impairment losses for Invoice financing receivables was as follows.

The Group

000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Provisions Invoice financing

Opening balance as of January 1 -3,079 -4,228

Opening balance acquisitions during the year -918 

 Impairment losses for the year -3,037 398

Realised losses 1,211 751

Closing balance as of December 31 -5,824 -3,079

Impairment losses for the year include recoveries.

The increase in the provision for invoice financing is attributable to the acquisition of Capcito Finance AB and Fortnox Finans AB, 

which concluded the invoice financing product during 2020.

The change in reserves for impairment losses related to receivables corporate lending was as follows.

The Group

000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Provisions Corporate lending

Opening balance as of January 1 -  - 

Opening balance acquisitions during the year -5,750 - 

Impairment losses for the year -1,426 - 

Realised losses  - - 

Closing balance as of December 31 -7,176 - 

Impairment losses for the year include recoveries.

Provisions relating to corporate lending have been added in connection with the acquisition of Capcito Finance AB.

Credit risks in cash and cash equivalents
The Group's cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period amounted to MSEK 373.3 (412.6). The Group’s cash and cash 

equivalents are placed in banks with a credit rating of A+ (Standard & Poor's).

Impairment of cash and cash equivalents has been measured as expected loss on a 12-month basis and reflects the 

short maturities of the exposure. The Group considers that cash and cash equivalents have a low credit risk based on the 

counterparties' external credit ratings.

The Group uses a similar approach for assessing expected credit losses for cash and cash equivalents as that used for debt 

instruments.

At the balance sheet date, there were no loss reserves in cash and cash equivalents, since the credit loss is deemed to be 

insignificant and is therefore not recognised.

Capital management
According to the Board’s policy, the Group’s financial objective is to maintain a good financial position, which contributes to 

maintaining investor, creditor, and market confidence, and provides a basis for continued business development, while the long-

term return generated for shareholders is satisfactory.
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In order to maintain an optimal capital structure, the Group may change any future dividend, repay capital to the shareholders, 

issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce liabilities.

The Group’s objective is to pay a regular dividend that annually amounts to 30-50% of the Group’s income after tax. The Board 

of Directors has proposed to the 2022 Annual General Meeting a dividend of SEK 0.08 per share after the completed stock split, 

which corresponds to 20%.

During the year, the Group signed a revolving credit facility and through the credit facility, Fortnox has secured additional liquidity 

of MSEK 500. As of December 31, 2021 the Group utilized MSEK 200. The contract runs for three years, with the possibility of 

extending for a further two years. The Group and the Parent Company have financial commitments linked to the credit facility, 

where the Group’s net debt to EBITDA may not exceed 2.5:1 and the Group's equity/assets ratio may not be less than 30%.

Capital

000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Total equity 981,708                 469,257

Net debt/equity ratio

000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Leasing liabilities (current and non-current) 176,232 176,660

Interest-bearing liabilities (current and non-current) 313,878   

 Less cash and cash equivalents and current investments -373,323 -412,614

Net debt 116,787 -235,954

Net debt/equity ratio 12% -50%

Note 26 - Leasing agreements
The Group’s tangible assets consist of both owned and leased assets. For further information regarding tangible  fixed assets 

that are owned see Note 12.

000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Tangible assets owned 36,327 32,799

Right-of-use assets 169,055 172,310

205,382 205,109

The Group leases several types of assets including premises, vehicles, and IT equipment. No leases contain covenants or other 

restrictions beyond the security of the leased asset, and no extension options are considered. 

Extension options are available for the Group’s premises in Växjö, Malmö, and Stockholm, and constitute on average an option for 

an extension of 3 years, corresponding to a total amount of approximately MSEK 84.9 in relation to rental costs.

Remaining rental time for premises in:

Växjö: December 31, 2029

Malmö: October 31, 2025

Stockholm: May 31, 2024
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Right-of-use assets
000s Premises Vehicles Other tangible assets         Total

Depreciation during 2021 -24,448 -177 -494 -25,119

Closing balance December 31, 2021 168,755 150 149 169,055

Depreciation during 2020 -19,043 -289 -2,083 -21,415

Closing balance December 31, 2020 171,340 451 519 172,310

During 2021, no right-of-use assets have been added that have had any significant effect on the financial position of the Group or 

the Parent Company.

Leasing liabilities
The Group

000s 2021-12-31           2020-12-31

Current leasing liabilities 29,141 20,529

Non-current leasing liabilities  147,091 156,131

Leasing liabilities included in the statement of  financial position 176,232   176,660

For a maturity analysis of leasing liabilities, see Note 25 Financial risks and risk management in the section on liquidity risk.

Amounts recognised in the profit or loss, IFRS 16
The Group

000s 2021                     2020

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 25,118 21,415

Interest on leasing liabilities 3,122 3,179

Variable lease payments not included in measurement of the lease liability (Real estate tax)  1,260  1,210 

Amounts recognised in the cash flow statement
000s 2021                        2020

Total outflow of cash attributable to lease 25,553 19,529

The above cash flow includes both the amount for leases recognised as leasing liabilities, as well as the amount paid for variable 

leasing payments and short-term leasing.
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Real estate leasing
The Group leases buildings for its office premises. All leasing agreements contain leasing fees based on changes in local price 

indexes. Some leases also require the Group to pay fees relating to property taxes imposed on the lessor. These amounts are

fixed annually.

Other leasing agreements

The Group leases vehicles with leasing periods of two to three years and IT equipment with leasing periods up to three years. 

The Parent Company is the lessee in all IT equipment leases. In the case of vehicles, both Parent Company and subsidiaries are

lessees.

Leases in which the Parent Company is the lessee
The Parent Company

000s 2021                      2020

Non-cancellable lease payments amount to:

Within 1 year 24,779 21,065

2-5 year 91,183 92,342

Later than 5 years 60,479 81,215

Total 176,441 194,622

Expensed leasing fees amount to:

Expensed leasing fees 23,617 18,783

Variable fees            - -  

Total leasing costs 23,617 18,783
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Note 27 - Pledged assets, contingent 
liabilities and contingent assets
The Group

000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Pledged assets

Securities set for own liabilities and provisions

Floating charges 108,340 7,500

Restricted cash                                                                                                                                                                                                                      1,356                           -

109,696 7,500

Contingent liabilities

Guarantees in favour of subsidiaries 30,000 5,000

30,000 5,000

The increase in 2021 compared with 2020 in respect of pledged assets and contingent liabilities is primarily attributable to the 

acquisition of Capcito Finance AB, which had floating charges amounting to MSEK 100 and MSEK 25 in guarantees in favour of 

subsidiaries as of December 31, 2021.

The Parent Company

000s 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Contingent liabilities

Guarantees in favour of subsidiaries 5,000 5,000

5,000 5,000

Note 28 - Appropriation of the Company’s 
profit
Proposed appropriation of the Company’s profit

Dividend, 609,744,700 shares * SEK 0.08 per share (calculated after completed stock split) 48,779,576

To be carried forward 788,276,073

Total 837,055,649

As resolved at the Extraordinary General Meeting, held December 27, 2021, the stock split was completed in January, 2022, 

whereby the total number of shares in Fortnox increased from 60,974,470 to 609,744,700.
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Note 29 - Related parties

Related parties
The Parent Company has an associated relationship with its subsidiaries, see Note 30, and with key management personnel. 

For the Group, transactions with related parties have been carried out in accordance with the table below, which relates to 

customers and suppliers.

Transactions with related parties are priced on market terms.

Summary of related party transactions
The Parent Company

000s Year

Sales of goods 

/services to

related party

Receivable from related 

party as of  

December 31

Liability to related party as 

of December 

31

Related party relationship

Fortnox Finans AB (Subsidiary) 2021 14,668 6,283  126,323  - 

Fortnox Finans AB (Subsidiary)       2020 13,290 5,876 130,632                                                   - 

 Fortnox Försäkringar AB

(Subsidiary)                                                       2021                               374                                                        1,485                                                    467                                              5,974

Fortnox Försäkringar AB (Subsidiary) 2020 665 475 832 6,618

Fortnox Lagerbolag AB (Subsidiary) 2021                        10,479  -                                              18,381  - 

 Fortnox Lagerbolag AB (Subsidiary) 2020  - -  -   - 

 Offerta Group AB (Subsidiary) 2021  -  -  -  15,000

Offerta Group AB (Subsidiary) 2020  -  - -  

 Capcito Finance AB (Subsidiary) 2021  -  -                                           49,762                                                         - 

Capcito Finance AB (Subsidiary) 2020  -  - -  

 ArtOn24 AB (Supplier) 2021 -                                                    20,067 - 

 ArtOn24 AB (Supplier) 2020 -                                                      17,566 - 

 Driven Ekonomi i Stockholm AB

(Supplier and customer)
2021 399 97 - 21

Driven Ekonomi i Stockholm AB

(Supplier and customer)
2020 -                                                               -                                                          - 

The Group

000s Year

Sales of 

goods/services 

to related party

Related party relationship

ArtOn24 AB (Supplier) 2021  -  20,067                                                    - 

 ArtOn24 AB (Supplier) 2020 - 17,566 - 

 Driven Ekonomi i Stockholm AB

(Supplier and customer)
2021 399 564  - 53

Driven Ekonomi i Stockholm AB

(Supplier and customer)
2020 -  -  -  - 

Maqe Bangkok (Supplier)                      2021                  -                                                     1,266                                                         -   

Maqe Bangkok (Supplier)                      2020 -                                                            -                                                         -                                                 -
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Board member, Olof Hallrup, controls ArtOn24 AB and, via First Kraft AB, approx. 21% (21%) of the votes in Fortnox AB.

Recently acquired subsidiaries Capcito Finance AB and Capcito Systems AB have had related party transactions during 2021 with 

the suppliers, Driven Ekonomi i Stockholm AB and Maqe Bangkok, where the CEO of Capcito Finance AB, Michael Hansen has 

direct holding of shares in the companies amounting to 10% and 7.5% respectively.

For details on remuneration to key management personnel, see Note 5.

Note 30 - Group companies
Participations in Group companies

Ownership % Subsidiary’s registered office, country 2021-12-31 2020-12-31

Fortnox Finans AB Sweden 100% 100%

Fortnox Försäkringar AB                                                                                                                                                                          Sweden 100% 100%

 The Parent Company

000s 2021               2020

Cumulative acquisition value

Opening balance 63,445 63,445

Acquisitions                                                                                                                                                                                                                              705,087  

Closing balance December 31 768,532 63,445

Carrying value December 31 768,532 63,445

Specification of the Parent Company’s direct holding of shares in subsidiaries

Subsidiary/Registered office Org.no Number of 

shares

             Shares 

%

2021-12- 31 2020-12 - 31

Fortnox Finans AB, Växjö 556949-9824 2,500,000 100% 380,601 58,175

Fortnox Försäkringar AB, Växjö 559116-2564 50,000 100% 5,221 5,221

Fortnox Service AB, Växjö 556995-3622 50,000 100% 50 50

Fortnox Lagerbolag AB 559309-2421 25,000 100%  

 Offerta Group AB 556743-5887 227,010 100% 336,389 

768,532 63,445

Carrying value
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Fortnox Service AB                                                                                                                                                                      Sweden                       100%                         100%

Fortnox Lagerbolag AB                                                                                                                                                              Sweden                        100%                                -

Offerta Group AB                                                                                                                                                                          Sweden                        100%                                -

Capcito Finance AB                                                                                                                                                                      Sweden                          79%                                -

Capcito Systems AB                                                                                                                                                                    Sweden                           79%                                -

Capcito Lending 2 AB                                                                                                                                                                  Sweden                           79%                                -

46,271                     -

 -

 -
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Note 31 - Specifications for cash flow 
statement
Adjustments for items that are not included in the cash flow

000s 2021 2020

The Group

Depreciation 84,625 63,021

Impairment 294 3,594

Profit or loss attributable to associated companies                                                                                                                                                                  1,998 

Other                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   -44 

86,873 66,615

The Parent Compant

Depreciation 42,605 34,770

Impairment 294 3,594

42,899 38,364
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For the Group during 2021, interest expenses paid and interest income received amounted to MSEK 0.9 (0.1) and MSEK 0.1 (0).

For the Parent Company during 2021, interest expenses and income paid and received amounted to MSEK 0.2 (0.1) and MSEK 1.9 

(1.5).

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

000s Other  Liabilities 

to credit

institutions

       Leasing liabilities
Total debt originating from financial 

activities

The Group

Opening balance 2020 -    56,503 56,503

Cash flow- amortisation  - -16,350 -16,350

Non-cash flow affecting changes

New leasing agreements  - 136,507 136,507

Closing balance 2020 - 176,660 176,660

Opening balance 2021 - - 176,660 176,660

Cash flow - amortisation               - -24,193 -22,431 -46,624

New loans - 200,000 - 200,000

Non-cash flow affecting changes

New leasing agreements - - 22,003 22,003

Debted consideration 90,668 - -  90,668

Closing balance 2021 90,668 175,807 176,232 442,707

The Parent Company

Reconciliation of liabilities arising 

from financing activities

000s

Liabilities to 

credit institutions
Leasing liabilities

Total debt attributable 

to financing 

activities

2020

New loans                                                                                                               -                                       -   

Total                                                                                                                   -                                                              -   

2021

New loans 200,000 15,000 215,000

Total 200,000 15,000 215,000
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Note 32 - Events after the end of the
financial year
As of January 1, 2022, the Offerta business area changed its name to Marknadsplatsen and expanded with Entrepenören’s 

previous product area Connect (Integrera). Marknadsplatsen develops, manages, supports and sells service intermediation 

services and products. Within the business area, products and solutions are developed that simplify the meeting between 

service companies and consumers. Marknadsplatsen is responsible for two of the company’s product areas, Offerta and Connect 

(Integrera). Marknadsplatsen has coworkers and is represented at the Fortnox offices in Växjö and Stockholm.

In accordance with the resolution passed at the Extraordinary General Meeting held December 27, 2021, the stock split was 

completed in January, 2022, which means that the numbers of shares in Fortnox increased from 60,974,470 to 609,744,700 

shares.

Fortnox commenced preparations for a change of trading venue from NGM Nordic SME to Nasdaq/OMX Stockholm and expects 

the listing switch to be finalised in the first half of 2022.

The global market has been affected by Russia’s invasion of Ukraine. It is impossible at present to assess how the situation will 

develop or how the security situation in Europe will be altered. At present, the Group does not see any major long-term effects 

on Fortnox’s financial position and performance. We can be expected to be affected to the same extent as other companies in the 

market. Since we do not have operations, customers or coworkers in the countries concerned (Belarus, Russia, Ukraine), we do 

not see any change in Fortnox’s ability to deliver products and services according to plan. The company’s Management follows 

the development daily and evaluates the situation on an ongoing basis.

Note 33 - Important assessments and 
estimations 
The management and the Audit Committee have discussed the development, choice and disclosure of the Group’s important 

accounting principles and assessments, as well as the application of these principles and assessments.

The preparation of the annual accounts and the application of accounting principles are often based on management’s 

assessments, estimates, and assumptions that are considered reasonable at the time of the assessment. Assessments 

and estimates are based on historical experience and a number of other factors, which under prevailing circumstances are 

considered reasonable. The results of these are used to assess the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities, which are 

not otherwise clearly apparent from other sources. The actual result may differ from these assessments and estimates. 

Assessments and assumptions are reviewed regularly.

Important sources of uncertainty in assessments are described below.

Impairment testing of intangible assets
Every year, the Group examines whether there is a need for impairment of intangible assets. The recovery value for cash-

generating units has been determined based on the value in use of the units, which consists of the current value of expected 

future cash flows. The calculations of future cash flows are based on an assessment of expected growth rate and margin 

development based on the business plan for next year, management’s long-term business expectations, and historical 

developments.

Provision for expected credit losses
The Group reviews its portfolio of loan receivables and acquired receivables on a monthly basis to assess the need for provision 

for anticipated credit losses. In order to determine whether receivables should be considered as uncertain, assessments are 

made as to whether observable data on deterioration of future cash flows exist. In this assessment, the Group works on the 

basis of factors such as credit quality, portfolio size, and other economic factors, and uses historical information as the basis for 

provision. Methods and assumptions are subject to ongoing reviews.
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Note 34 - Information concerning Parent 
Company
Fortnox AB is a Swedish-registered limited liability company based in Växjö. The Parent Company’s shares are traded on NGM 

Nordic SME as of December 31.

The address of the head office is Bollgatan 3B, SE-352 46 Växjö.

The consolidated financial statements for 2021 relate to the Parent Company and its subsidiaries, together named the Group. 
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Statement by the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director hereby 

declare that the annual accounts have been prepared in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in 

Sweden and that the consolidated financial statements have 

been prepared in accordance with the international accounting 

standards referred to in Regulation (EC) No 1606/2002 of the 

European Parliament and of the Council of July 19 2002 on the 

application of international accounting standards.

The Annual Report and consolidated financial statements 

provide a true and fair view of the parent company’s and the 

group’s financial position and results. The Directors’ Report 

for the parent company and the group provides a true and 

fair view of the development of the operations, financial 

position and performance of the parent company and the 

group, and describes the material risks and uncertainties 

facing the parent company and the companies in the group.

Andreas Kemi 

Board member

Anna Frick  

Board member

Lena Glader 

Board member

Magnus Gudéhn 

Board member

Per Bertland 

Board member

Tommy Eklund 

Chief Executive Officer

Our audit report was submitted on March 7, 2022 KPMG AB

Dan Beitner  

Certified Public Accountant
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The Group’s statement of income and other comprehensive income and statement of financial position and the parent company’s income 
statement and balance sheet will be subject to approval at the Annual General Meeting on March 30, 2022

Olof Hallerup 
Chairman of the Board
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Auditor’s report

Report on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts  
Opinions

We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts of Fortnox AB for the year 2021 except for the Corporate 

Governance Report on pages 67-82 and the Sustainability Report on pages 32-63. The annual accounts and consolidated 

accounts of the company are included on pages 83-171 in this document.

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act, and present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position of the Parent Company as of December 31, 2021 and its financial performance and cash

flow for the year then ended in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. The consolidated accounts have been prepared in 

accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group as of 

December 31, 2021 and their financial performance and cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act. Our opinions do not cover the Corporate 

Governance Report on pages 67-82 and the Sustainability Report on pages 32-63. 

The statutory administration report is consistent with the other parts of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of shareholders adopts the statement of profit or loss and the statement of 

financial position for the Parent Company and the statement of profit or loss and statement of financial position for the Group.

Basis for opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing standards 

in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are 

independent of the Parent Company and the Group in accordance with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have 

otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions.

Other information than the annual accounts and consolidated accounts

This document also contains information other than the annual accounts and consolidated accounts that is found on pages 3 -82 

and 176-180. The Board of Directors and the CEO are responsible for this other information.

Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts does not cover this other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion regarding this other information.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, our responsibility is to read the information 

identified above and consider whether the information is materially inconsistent with the annual accounts and consolidated 

accounts. In this procedure we also take into account our knowledge otherwise obtained in the audit and assess whether the 

information otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we, based on the work performed concerning this information, conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 

information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the CEO

The Board of Directors and the CEO are responsible for the preparation of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts and 

that they give a fair presentation in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act and, concerning the consolidated accounts, in 

accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. The Board of Directors and the CEO are also responsible for such internal control as 

they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts and consolidated accounts that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts The Board of Directors and the CEO are responsible for the 

assessment of the company’s and the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters related 

to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting. The going concern basis of accounting is however not applied 

if the Board of Directors and the CEO intend to liquidate the company, to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 

so.

The Audit Committee shall, without prejudice to the Board of Director’s responsibilities and tasks in general, among other things 

oversee the company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and 

generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 

arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual accounts and consolidated accounts

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout 

the audit.

We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 

from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of the company’s internal control relevant to our audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s 

internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the Board of Directors and the CEO.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ and the CEO's, use of the going concern basis of accounting 

in preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts. We also draw a conclusion, based on the audit evidence 

obtained, as to whether any material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 

the company’s and the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the annual accounts and consolidated 

accounts or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion about the annual accounts and consolidated accounts. 

Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause a company and a group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, including the 

disclosures, and whether the annual accounts and consolidated accounts represent the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated accounts. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 

performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our opinions.

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit. We must also inform 

of significant audit findings during our audit, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  
Opinions

In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, we have also audited the administration of the Board of 

Directors and the CEO of Fortnox AB for the year 2021 and the proposed appropriations of the company's profit or loss.

We recommend to the general meeting of shareholders that the profit be appropriated in accordance with the proposal in the 

statutory administration report and that the members of the Board of Directors and the CEO be discharged from liability for the

financial year.

Basis for opinions

We conducted the audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are independent of the Parent Company and the 

Group in accordance with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities 

in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and CEO

The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal for appropriations of the company’s profit or loss. At the proposal of a 

dividend, this includes an assessment of whether the dividend is justifiable considering the requirements which the company's 

and the Group's type of operations, size and risks place on the size of the Parent Company's and the Group’s equity, consolidation 

requirements, liquidity and position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s organisation and the administration of the company’s affiairs. This 

includes among other things continuous assessment of the company’s and the Group's financial situation and ensuring that the 

company's organisation is designed so that the accounting, management of assets and the company’s financial affairs otherwise 

are controlled in a reassuring manner. The CEO shall manage the ongoing administration according to the Board of Directors' 

guidelines and instructions and among other matters take measures that are necessary to fulfill the company's accounting in 

accordance with law and handle the management of assets in a reassuring manner.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, is to obtain 

audit evidence to assess with a reasonable degree of assurance whether any member of the Board of Directors or the CEO in any 

material respect:

has undertaken any action or been guilty of any omission which can give rise to liability to the company, or

in any other way has acted in contravention of the Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association.  

 

Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss, and thereby our opinion 

about this, is to assess with reasonable degree of assurance whether the proposal is in accordance with the Companies Act. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally

accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect actions or omissions that can give rise to liability to the company, or 

that the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss are not in accordance with the Companies Act.
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As part of an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. The examination of the administration and the proposed appropriations 

of the company’s profit or loss is based primarily on the audit of the accounts. Additional audit procedures performed are based 

on our professional judgment with starting point in risk and materiality. This means that we focus the examination on such 

actions, areas and relationships that are material for the operations and where deviations and violations would have particular 

importance for the company’s situation. We examine and test decisions undertaken, support for decisions, actions taken and 

other circumstances that are relevant to our opinion concerning discharge from liability. As a basis for our opinion on the Board 

of Directors’ proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss we examined the Board of Directors’ reasoned statement 

and a selection of supporting evidence in order to be able to assess whether the proposal is in accordance with the Companies 

Act.

The auditor’s examination of the Corporate Governance Report

The Board of Directors is responsible for the Corporate Governance Report on pages 67-82 has been prepared in accordance 

with the Annual Accounts Act.

Our examination of the corporate governance statement is conducted in accordance with FAŔ s auditing standard RevR 16 The 

auditoŕ s examination of the corporate governance statement. This means that our examination of the corporate governance 

statement is different and substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. We believe that the examination has provided us with sufficient 

basis for our opinions. 

A corporate governance statement has been prepared. Disclosures in accordance with chapter 6 section 6 the second paragraph 

points 2-6 of the Annual Accounts Act and chapter 7 section 31 the second paragraph the same law are consistent with the other 

parts of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts and are in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act.

The auditor’s opinion regarding the statutory sustainability report

The Board of Directors is responsible for the sustainability report on pages 3-4, and that it is prepared in accordance with the 

Annual Accounts Act.

Our examination has been conducted in accordance with FAR:s auditing standard RevR 12 The auditor’s opinion regarding 

the statutory sustainability report. This means that our examination of the statutory sustainability report is different and 

substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and generally 

accepted auditing standards in Sweden. We believe that the examination has provided us with sufficient basis for our opinion.

A statutory sustainability report has been prepared.

Stockholm March 7, 2022

KPMG AB

Dan Beitner

Certified Public Accountant
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Definitions
Definitions and reason for use of alternative performance measurefi
Terms and definitions Reason for use Derivation 

Return on equity
Profit for the period divided by average equity. Average equity is calculated as the total of the opening and closing
balance divided by two.

Profitability measure which shows 
how efficiently the Group uses its 
equity.

(A) Profit for the period, 
MSEK
(B) Average equity, 
MSEK
(C) Return on equity, %

(A) / (B) = (C)

241 / 725 = 33% 
(2021)
205 / 375 = 55% 
(2020)

ARPC
Average Revenue Per Customer and month. Net sales (excluding non-recurring revenue) divided by the number of 
customers at the end of the month. To avoid seasonal variations, Fortnox has elected to report ARPC over a rolling 
12-month period. The value of ARPC on a 12-month rolling basis is calculated using the average ARPC over the past 
12 months.

ARPC is a measure used to assess 
the trend for customer purchases 
of additional services.

ARR
Annual Recurring Revenue. MRR multiplied by 12. Monthly Recurring Revenue (MRR) is defined as the opening value 
of the next month’s revenue from subscription services within financial administration.

ARR is a measure used to assess 
the Group’s recurring revenue.

(A) Monthly recurring 
revenue, MSEK
(B) ARR, MSEK

(A) * 12 = (B)
57.8 * 12 = 693.4 
MSEK (2021)

46.0 * 12 = 552.6 
MSEK (2020)

EBIT-/Operating margin
Operating profit divided by net sales.

Used to assess the Group’s 
profitability.

(A) Operating profit, 
MSEK
(B) Net sales, MSEK 
(C) EBIT-/Operating 
margin %

(A) / (B) = (C)

314.7 / 932.0 = 
33.8% (2021)
265.4 / 693.7 = 
38.3% (2020)

Equity per share after dilution
Equity divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for the effects of all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares during the period.

Used to assess the Group’s
financial position.

(A) Equity, TSEK
(B) Average number 
of shares outstanding 
after dilution, (000s)  
(C) Equity per share 
after dilution, SEK

(A) / (B) = (C)
981,707 /
608,480 = 1.61 
SEK (2021)
469,257 /
602,920 = 0.78 
SEK (2020)

Net sales adjusted for acquisitions made during the year 
Net sales adjusted for the effect of acquisitions completed during the year on net sales.

Term used to evaluate the 
Company’s organic growth and to 
achieve better comparability with 
previous periods.

(A) Net sales, MSEK  
(B) Net sales 
attributable to acquired 
companies during the 
year, MSEK  
(C) Net sales adjusted 
for acquisitions, MSEK

(A) - (B) = (C)
932.0 – 91.7 = 
840.3 Mkr
(2021)
693.7 – 0 =
693.7 
Mkr (2020)   
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Terms and definitions Reason for use Derivation 

Operating cash flow per share after dilution
Cash flow from the operating activities divided by the weighted average number of
outstanding common shares adjusted for the dilution effect of all potential common shares
during the period.

Measure used to show the Group’s generated cash 
flow from operating activities divided by the number 
of shares after dilution.

(A) Cash flow from the 
operating activities, TSEK 
(B) outstanding common 
shares adjusted for 
dilution, (thousands)
(C) Operating cash flow 
per share, after dilution

(A) / (B) = (C)

316,371 / 608,480 = 
0.52 SEK (2021)

273,524 / 602,920 
= 0.45 SEK (2020)

Operational segment result
Operational segments result (EBIT), where the period’s capitalised costs for internally 
generated intangible assets (generated by both own personnel and consultants) are 
expensed, and depreciation together with impairment losses are reversed.

This is a measure of profitability, and used to assess 
and monitor the operational profitability of a segment.

(A) Operating profit, MSEK 
(B) Reversal of capitalised 
costs expensed, MSEK
(C) Own work capitalised, 
MSEK
(D) Depreciation and 
impairment, MSEK

(E) Operational segment 

result, MSEK

(A) - (B) - (C) + (D) 
= (E)

Working capital
Current assets less current liabilities.

A measure used to assess the capital tied-up in the 
company.

(A) Current assets, MSEK 
(B) Current liabilities, MSEK
(C) Working capital, MSEK

(A) – (B) = (C)

761.8 - 515.2 = 
246.5 MSEK (2021)
604.2 – 306.0 =
298.1 MSEK (2020)

Operating profit (EBIT)
Operating income less operating expenses.

Used to assess the company’s operational 
profitability.

Operating profit adjusted for acquisitions
Operating profit adjusted for the effect of acquisitions completed during the year.

Used to assess the company’s profitability without the 
effect of acquisitions completed during the year, and to 
improve comparability with previous periods.

(A) Operating profit, MSEK  
(B) Operating profit 
attributable to acquired 
companies during the year, 
MSEK
(C) Operating profit 
adjusted for acquisitions, 
MSEK

(A) – (B) = (C)

314.7 – (-3.3) = 318.0 
MSEK (2021)
265.4 – 0 = 265.4 
MSEK (2020)
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Terms and definitions Reason for use Derivation

Operating margin adjusted for acquisitions
Operating profit adjusted for acquisitions divided by net sales
adjusted for acquisitions.

Used to assess the company’s profitability without the effect of 
acquisitions completed during the year, and to improve comparability 
with previous periods.

(A) Operating profit adjusted for 
acquisitions, MSEK
(B) Net sales adjusted for 
acquisitions, MSEK
(C) Operating margin adjusted for 
acquisitions, %uh

(A) / (B) = (C)

318.0 / 840.3 = 37.8% (2021)

265.4 / 693.7 = 38.3% (2020)

Organic growth
Net sales adjusted for acquisitions during the period divided by 
net sales adjusted for acquisitions for the year-earlier period.

Used to assess the company’s profitability without the effect of 
acquisitions completed during the year, and to improve comparability 
with previous periods.

(A) Net sales adjusted for 
acquisitions during the most recent 
period, MSEK
(B) Year-on-year net sales, MSEK 
(C) Organic growth, %

(A) / (B) -1 = (C)

(840.3 / 693.7) – 1 = 21.1% 
(2021)

(693.7 / 532.1) – 1 = 30.4% 
(2020)

Equity/assets ratio
Total equity divided by total assets

A measure used to assess the company’s long and short-term solvency 
and capital structure.

(A) Equity, MSEK
(B) Total assets, MSEK (C) 
Equity/assets ratio, %

(A) / (B) = (C)

981.7 / 1 971.2 = 49.8% 
(2021)
469.3 / 931.4 = 50.4% (2020)

Profit margin
Profit for the period divided by net sales.

A measure of profitability used to assess the company’s profit-
generating capacity.

(A) Profit for the period, MSEK 
(B) Net sales, MSEK
(C) profit margin, %

(A) / (B) = (C)

241.1 / 932.0 = 25.9% (2021)
205.4 / 693.7 = 29.6% (2020)

Reversal of capitalised development costs expensed 
Recognition of the period’s capitalised costs for internally 
generated intangible assets (generated by both own personnel 
and consultants).

Used to calculate operational segment result.
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Shareholder information

Annual report, financial reports and news
At fortnox.se copies of the Swedish annual reports can be read and downloaded (pdf). Printed versions can also be ordered 

there. Fortnox can be followed by subscribing to press releases and financial reports.

Financial calendar 2022
Annual General Meeting March 30, 2022

Interim report, January-March, April 28, 2022

Interim report, January-June,  August 19, 2022

Interim report, January-September, October 26, 2022

Annual General Meeting 2022
The Fortnox Annual General Meeting was convened on March 30, 2022, 14.00 at Fortnox AB. 

The notice in its entirety with the items on the agenda can be found on the Fortnox website fortnox.se.

In view of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Board of Directors has decided that shareholders shall have the right to exercise their 

voting rights by postal voting, pursuant to Chapter 7, section 4 a (2005:551) of the Swedish Companies Act and the company’s 

Articles of Association. Consequently, shareholders may choose to exercise their voting rights at the annual general meeting by 

attending in person, through a proxy or by postal voting.

Participation by postal vote

Shareholders who wish to participate in the Annual General Meeting via postal voting should:

be entered as a shareholder in the register kept by Euroclear Sweden AB on March 22, 2022, and

give notice of participation by casting their postal vote in accordance with the instructions below so that the postal vote is 

received by Euroclear Sweden AB no later than Thursday, March 24, 2022.

A special form shall be used for postal voting. The form is available on the Fortnox website fortnox.se. The completed and signed 

postal voting form must be received by Euroclear Sweden AB no later than Thursday, March 24, 2022. The completed and signed 

postal voting form should be sent to Fortnox AB (publ), ”Årsstämma”, c/o Euroclear Sweden AB, Box 191, 101 23 Stockholm.

Completed and signed postal voting forms may also be submitted electronically and should be sent to GeneralMeetingService@

euroclear.com (enter ”Fortnox AB – Poströstning” in the subject line). Shareholders who are natural persons may also cast their 

postal votes electronically through veri cation with BankID via the Euroclear Sweden AB

website (https://anmalan.vpc.se/EuroclearProxy/)

Shareholders who use the possibility of postal voting and whose postal vote has been received as stated above, do not need to 

register separately for the Annual General Meeting since such postal votes will also be considered as notifications.

Participation in person

Shareholders who wish to physically attend the Annual General Meeting should:

be entered as a shareholder in the register kept by Euroclear Sweden AB on March 22, 2022, and

register for the meeting no later than Thursday, March 24, 2022.
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fortnox.se.

Participation by proxy

Shareholders who shall be represented by proxy must issue a signed and dated power of attorney in writing. If the proxy is 

issued by a legal entity, a certified copy of the current registration certificate of  the legal entity (or corresponding document 

for a foreign legal entity) must be enclosed with the power of attorney. If participation will be based on power of attorney, the 

related documentation must be submitted at the same time as the notification. The power of attorney form for shareholders 

who wish to participate in the meeting by proxy will  made available on the company’s website 

Notification of participation for the meeting should be made via https://anmalan.vpc.se/EuroclearProxy/, by post to Fortnox AB

fortnox.se and can be ordered via

(publ), Att: Roger Hartelius, Box 427, SE-351 06 Växjö, Sweden, or via e-mail to ir@fortnox.se. The notice should include, if the 

shareholder intends to be represented by a proxy or other representatives, a power of attorney and other corresponding 

authorisation documentation for the legal entity which should be attached to the notification.

Proxy forms are available from the company at its office premises, Bollgatan 3 B, Växjö, Sweden, and can be found on the 

company’s website, 

the above-mentioned telephone number.

Nominee-registered shares

In order to be entitled to participate in the Annual General Meeting, shareholders whose shares are registered in the name of a 

nominee must, in addition to giving notice of participation in the Annual General Meeting by submitting their postal vote, register 

their shares in their own name so that the shareholder is registered in the presentation of the share register as of March 22,  

2022. Such registration may be temporary (so-called voting rights registration), and request for such voting rights registration 

shall be made to the nominee in accordance with the nominee’s routines at such a time in advance as decided by the nominee. 

Voting rights registrations that have been made by the nominee no later than March 24, 2022 will be taken into account in the 

presentation of the share register.
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FORTNOX AB (PUBL), Box 427, 351 06 VÄXJÖ 

Phone: +46-0470-78 50 00 

Organisation number: 556469-6291  

www.fortnox.se
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